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CHAPTER FIFTY-TWO
Measures of Dey"eme

ALL wiNTER Congress waited for the result of Rose’s negotiation.
The huge majority, without leadership, split by divergent interests, a
mere mob guided from the White House, showed little energy except for
debate and no genius except for obedience.

The first political effect of the embargo was shown in the increased -
virulence of debate. The Act of December 22, passed on the spur of the
moment, was powerless to prevent evasions in the seaports and left un-
touched the trade with Canada and Florida. A Supplementary Act was
necessary; but to warrant a law for stopping all commerce by sea and
land, the Government could no longer profess a temporary purpose of
protecting ships, merchandise, and seamen, but must admit the more or
less permanent nature of the embargo and the policy of using it as a
means of peaceable coercion. The first Supplementary Act passed Con-
gress as early as January 8, but applied only to coasting and fishing ves-
sels, which were put under heavy bonds and threatened with excessive
penalties in case of entering a foreign port or trading in foreign mer-
chandise. Finding that this measure was not effective, and that neither
England nor France showed a sign of relaxing the so-called system of
retaliation, Government was obliged to complete its restrictions. Febru-
ary 11, the House instructed its Committee of Commerce to inquire
what further legislation was necessary ‘to prevent the exportation of
goods, wares, and merchandise of foreign or domestic growth or manu-
facture to any foreign port or place.’” The committee instantly reported
a bill; and as Rose’s negotiation broke down, February 19 the House went
into committee to debate a second Supplementary Embargo Act, which
was to stop by land and sea all commerce with the world.

No full and fair discussion of the subject was attempted; and the bill
passed both Houses and was approved by the President March 12, with-
out calling from the Government a hint in regard to the scope of its
policy or the length of time during which the system of seclusion was to
last. Jefferson could for the moment afford to disregard criticism. His
experiment of peaceable coercion was sure of a trial. His control over
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Congress seemed absolute. Only twenty-two members voted against the
Supplementary Embargo Act and in the Senate no opposition was re-
corded.

With such influence Jefferson might promise himself success in any
undertaking; and if he had at heart one object more momentous than the
embargo, it was the punishment of Chief Justice Marshall for his
treatment of Burr. As early as November 5, 1807, Senator Tiffin of
Ohio began his career in the Senate by moving, as an amendment to the
Constitution, that all judges of the United States should hold office for a
term of years, and should be removed by the President on address by two-
thirds of both Houses. Governor Tiffin’s motion was not an isolated or
personal act. The State Legislatures were invoked. Vermont adopted
the amendment. The House of Delegates in Virginia, both branches of
the Pennsylvania Legislature, the popular branch in Tennessee, and
various other State Governments, in whole or in part, adopted the princi-
ple and urged it upon Congress. In the House, George W. Campbell
moved a similar amendment January 30, and from time to time other
Senators and Members made attempts to bring the subject forward.

Although the attack on the Supreme Court was more persistent and
was carried further than ever before, it met with passive resistance which
foreshadowed failure, and probably for this reason was allowed to ex-
haust its strength in the committee-rooms of Congress. The Chief
Justice escaped without a wound. Under the shadow of the embargo he
could watch in security the slow exhaustion of his antagonist. Jefferson
had lost the last chance of reforming the Supreme Court. In another
six months Congress would follow the will of some new Executive chief;
and if in the full tide of Jefferson’s power Marshall had repeatedly
thwarted or defied him with impunity, the chance was small that another
President would meet a happier fate.

On another point the divergence of ideas became marked, and Jefferson
found himself obliged to strain his influence. In the Republican Party
any vote for a standing army had been hitherto considered a crime.
The Federalists in 1801 had left a force of five thousand men; Jefferson
reduced it to three thousand. The Republican Party believed in a militia,
but neglected it. Throughout the Southern States the militia was un-
digciplined and unarmed; but in Massachusetts, as President Jefferson
was beginning to notice, the Federalists took much care of their State
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soldiery. The United States fort at Newport was garrisoned only by
goats, and the strategic line of Lake Champlain and the Hudson River,
which divided New England from the rest of the Union, lay open to an
enemy. In view of war with England, such negligence became wanton.
Jefferson saw that an army must be raised; but many of his truest fol-
lowers held that militia alone could be trusted and that the risk of con-
quest from abroad was better than the risk of military despotism at home.

For a people naturally brave, Americans often showed themselves
surprisingly unwilling to depend upon their own strength. To defy
danger, to rush into competition with every foreign rival, to take risks
without number, and to depend wholly on themselves were admitted
characteristics of Americans as individuals; but the same man who, when
left to his own resources, delighted in proving his skill and courage, when
brought within the shadow of Government never failed to clamor for
protection. As a political body the American people shrank from tests
of its own capacity. ‘American systems’ of politics, whether domestic or
foreign, were systems for evading competition. The American system
in which the old Republican Party believed was remarkable for avowing
want of self-confidence as the foundation of domestic as well as of foreign
policy. The Republican Party stood alone in refusing, on principle, to
protect national rights from foreign outrage; but it defied imitation when
the sacrifice of national rights was justified by the argument that if
American liberties were not abandoned to foreign nations, they would
be destroyed by the people themselves. War, which every other nation
in history had looked upon as the first duty of a State, was in America a
subject for dread, not so much because of possible defeat as of probable
success.

President Jefferson sent to Congress a Message asking for an immediate
addition of six thousand men to the regular army. No such blow had
ever been given to the established practices of Republican administra-
tion. Ten years before, every leader of the party had denounced the
raising of twelve regiments at a time of actual hostilities with France,
although the law limited their service to the term of the expected war.
The eight regiments demanded by Jefferson were to be raised for five
years in a time of peace. The Southern Republicans saw themselves
required to walk, publicly and avowedly, in the footsteps of their monar-
chical predecessors; while John Randolph stood by and jeered at them.
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« Yet Randolph approved the embargo as little as he liked the army and
navyV

T am not one of those who approve the embargo [he said]. It gives up to
Great Britain all the seamen and all the commerce — their feet are not
* how upon your decks, for your vessels are alt riding safely moored along
your slips and wharves; and this measure absolutely gives Agriculture a
blow which she cannot recover till the embargo is removed. What has
become of your fisheries? Some gentleman has introduced a proposition
for buying their fish to relieve the fishermen. Indeed, I would much sooner
assent to buying their fish than to raising these troops, except indeed we
are raising the troops to eat the fish.

Randolph broke into shrill laughter at his own joke, delighted with the
idea of six thousand armed men paid to eat the fish that were rotting on
the wharves at Gloucester and Marblehead.

. Keenly as Randolph enjoyed the pleasure of ridiculing his colleagues
and friends, he could expect to gain no votes. George W. Campbell and
the other Administration speakers admitted that the embargo might
yield to war and that an army had become necessary. Even Eppes had
the courage to defy ridicule, and in full recollection of having vowed to
God February 17 that as long as he lived he would vote down a regular
army, he rose April 7 to support the bill for raising eight regiments.

On the same day the bill passed by a vote of ninety-five to sixteen, and
the Republican Party found itself poorer by the loss of one more tradi-
tional principle. Events were hurrying the Government toward dangers
which the party had believed to be preventable under the system invented
by Virginia and Pennsylvania. In 1804, Jefferson wrote to Madison:
‘It is impossible that France and England should combine to any pur-
pose.” The impossible had happened, and every practice founded on the
theory of mutual jealousy between European Powers became once more
a subject of dispute. On the day of Rose’s departure, Jefferson, aban-
doning the secrecy in which until that moment he had wrapped his
diplomacy, sent to Congress a mass of diplomatic correspondence with
England and France, running back to the year 1804. A few days later,
March 30, he sent a secret Message accompanied by documents which
gave to Congress, with little exception, everything of importance that had
passed between the Governments. Only one subject was kept back: —
the tenebrous negotiation for Florida remained secret.
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From these documents Congress could see that the time for talking
of theories of peace and friendship or of ordinary commercial interests
had passed. Violence and rapine marked every page of the latest cor-
respondence. February 23, Erskine had at last notified the Government
officially of the existence and purpose of the Orders in Council. His note
repeated the words of Canning’s instructions. After asserting that
America had submitted to the French Decrees, and had thereby war-
ranted England in forbidding if she pleased all American commerce wijth
France, Erskine pointed out that the Orders in Council, by not pro-
hibiting but limiting this commerce, gave proof of His Majesty’s amicable
disposition. The Americans might still transport French and Spanish
colonial produce to England and re-export it to the Continent of Europe
under certain regulations.

From this note — a model of smooth-spoken outrage — Congress could
understand that until the King of England should make other regula-
tions American commerce was to be treated as subject to the will and
interest of Great Britain. At the same moment Congress was obliged to
read a letter from Champagny to Armstrong, dated January 15, 1808, in
defense of the Berlin and Milan Decrees. Written in words dictated by
Napoleon, this letter asserted rude truths which irritated Americans the
more because they could not be denied:

The United States, more than any other Power, have to complain of
the aggressions of England. It has not been enough for her to offend
against the independence of their flag — nay, against that of their ter-
ritory and of their inhabitants — by attacking them even in their ports,
by forcibly carrying away their crews; her decrees of the 11th November
have made a fresh attack on their commerce and on their navigation as
they have done on those of all other Powers.

In the situation in which England has placed the Continent, especially
since her decrees of the 11th November, His Majesty has no doubt of a
declaration of war against her by the United States. Whageyer transient
sacrifices war may occasion, they will not believe it consistent either with
their interest or dignity to acknowledge the monstrous prir;éiple and the
anarchy which that Government wishes to establish on the seas.” If it be
useful and honorable for all nations to cause the true maritime law of na-
tions to be re-established, and to avenge the insults committed by England
against every flag, it is indispensable for the United States, who from the
extent of their commerce have oftener to complain of those violations.
War exists then in fact between England and the United States; and His
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Majesty considers it as declared from the day on which England published
her decrees.

Two such letters could hardly have been written to the chief of an in-
dependent people and submitted to a free legislature in Europe without
producing a convulsion. Patient as Congress was, the temper excited
by Champagny’s letter obliged the President, April 2, to withdraw the
injunction of secrecy after the House had twice rejected a motion to do so
without his permission; but the motive of the Federalists in publishing
Champagny’s letter was not so much to resent it as to divert popular
anger from England to France. No outburst of national self-respect
followed the appearance of the two letters. During the next week the
House debated and passed the bill for raising the army to ten thousand
men, but on all sides the friends and opponents of the measure equally
deprecated war.

The Senate passed a bill authorizing the President during the recess to
suspend the embargo in whole or in part if in his judgment the conduct
of the belligerent Powers should render suspension safe. After a hot de-
bate, chiefly on the constitutionality of the measure, it passed the House,
and April 22 became law. April 25 the session ended.

As the result of six months’ labor, Congress could show besides the
usual routine legislation a number of Acts which made an epoch in the
history of the Republican Party. First came the Embargo, its two
Supplements, and the Act empowering the President to suspend it at will.
Next came the series of appropriation Acts which authorized the Presi-
dent to spend in all four million dollars in excess of the ordinary ex-
penditures — for gunboats, eight hundred and fifty thousand dollars; for
land fortifications, one million; for five new regiments of infantry, one
of riflemen, one of light artillery, and one of light dragoons, two million
dollars; and two hundred thousand dollars for arming the militia. Such
progress toward energy was more rapid than could have been expected
from a party like that which Jefferson had educated and which he still
controlled.



CHAPTER FIFTY-THREE
T/he Rise of a British Party

Tms SIX MONTHS’ SESSION has worn me down to a state of almost
total incapacity for business,” wrote President Jefferson to his Attorney-
General. ‘Congress will certainly rise tomorrow night, and I shall leave
this for Monticello on the fifth of May, to be here again on the eighth of
June.” More earncstly than ever he longed for repose and good-will.
‘For myself,’ he said, ‘I have nothing further to ask of the world than to
preserve in retirement so much of their esteem as I may have fairly
earned and to be permitted to pass in tranquillity, in the bosom of my
family and friends, the days which yet remain to me.” He could not rea-
sonably ask from the world more than he had already received from it;
but a whole year remained, during which he must still meet whatever
demand the world should make upon him. He had brought the country
to a situation wherc war was impossible for want of weapons and peace
was only a name for passive war. He was bound to carry the Govern-
ment through the dangers he had braved; and for the first time in seven
years American democracy, struck with sudden fear of failure, looked to
him in doubt and trembled for its hopes.

Fortunately for Jefferson’s ease, no serious opposition was made in the
Republican Party to his choice of a successor. Giles and Nicholas, who
managed Madison’s canvass in Virginia, causéd a caucus to be held,
January 21, at Richmond, where one hundred and twenty-three members
of the State Legislature joined in nominating electors for Madison.
Randolph’s friends held another caucus, at which fifty-seven members
of the same Legislature joined in nominating electors for Monroe. To
support the Virginia movement for Madison, a simultaneous caucus was
held at Washington, where, January 20, Senator Bradley of Vermont is-
sued a printed circular inviting the Republican members of both Houses
to consult, January 23, respecting the next Presidential election. Brad-
ley’s authority was disputed by Monroe’s partisans, and only Madison’s
friends, or indifferent persons, obeyed the call. Eighty-nine Senators
and Members attended; and on balloting, eighty-three votes were given
for Madison as President, seventy-nine for George Clinton as Vice-
President; but the names of the persons present were never published

479
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and the caucus itself seemed afraid of its own action. About sixty Re-
publican Members or Senators held aloof. John Randolph and sixteen
of his friends published a protest against the caucus and its candidate:

We ask for energy, and we are told of his moderation. We ask for
talents, and the reply is his unassuming merit. We ask what were his
services in the cause of public liberty, and we are directed to the pages of
the Federalist, written in conjunction with Alexander Hamilton and John
Jay, in which the most extravagant of their doctrines are maintained and
propagated. We ask for consistency as a Republican, standing forth to
stem the torrent of oppression which once threatened to overwhelm the
liberties of the country. We ask for that high and honorable sense of duty
which would at all times turn with loathing and abhorrence from any com-
promise with fraud and speculation. We ask in vain.

George Clinton, who had yielded unwillingly to Jefferson, held Madison
in contempt. While Monroe set up a Virginia candidacy which the
Republicans of Randolph’s school supported, George Clinton set up a
candidacy of his own, in New York, supported by Cheetham’s Waich-
Tower, and by a portion of the country press. Before long, the public
was treated to a curious spectacle. The regular party candidate for the
Vice-Presidency became the open rival of the regular candidate for the
Presidency. Clinton’s newspapers attacked Madison without mercy,
while Madison’s friends were electing Clinton as Madison’s Vice-Presi-
dent.

In this state of things'successful opposition to Madison depended upon
the union of his enemies in support of a common candidate. Not only
must either Monroe or Clinton retire, but one must be able to transfer
his votes to the other; and the whole Federalist Party must be induced
to accept the choice thus made. The Federalists were not unwilling; but
while they waited for the politicians of Virginia and New York to ar-
range the plan of campaign, they busied themselves with recovering
control of New England, where they had been partially driven from power.
The embargo offered them almost a certainty of success.

From the first moment of the embargo, even during the secret debate
of December 19, 1807, its opponents raised the cry of French influence;
and so paesitively and persistently was Jefferson charged with subservience
to Napoleon that, while a single Federalist lived, this doctrine continued
to be an article of his creed. In truth, Jefferson had never stood on worse
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terms with France than when he imposed the embargo. He acted in good
faith when he enclosed Armstrong’s letter and Regnier’s decision in his
Embargo Message.

The interests of the Federalists required them to assert the subservience
of Jefferson to France. They did so in the most positive language, with-
out pfoof, and without attempting to obtain proof. Had this been all,
they would have done no worse than their opponents had done before
them; but they also used the pretext of Jefferson’s devotion to France
in order to cover and justify their own devotion to England.

After the failure of Rose, in the month of February, to obtain further
concessions from Madison, the British envoy cultivated more closely the
friendship of Senator Pickering, and even followed his advice. As early
as March 4 he wrote to his Government on the subject:

It is apprehended, should this Government be desirous that hostilities
should take place with England, it will not venture to commence them,
but will endeavor to provoke her to strike the first blow. In such a %ase
it would no doubt adopt highly irritating measures. On this head I beg
leave, but with great diffidence, to submit the views which I have formed
here, and which 1 find coincide completely with those of the best and
most enlightened men of this country, and who consider her interests as
completely identified with those of Great Britain. I conceive it to be of
extreme importance in the present state of the public mind in this nation,
and especially as operated upon by the embargo, such as I have endeavored
to represent it in preceding dispatches, to avoid if possible actual warfare
— should it be practicable consistently with the national honor, to do no
more than retort upon America any measures of insolence and injury
falling short of it which she may adopt. Such a line of conduct would,
I am persuaded, render completely null the endeavors exerted to impress
upon the public mind here the persuasion of the inveterate rancor with
which Great Britain seeks the destruction of America, and would turn
their whole animosity — goaded on, as they would be, by the insults and
injuries offered by France, and the self-inflicted annihilation of their own
commerce — against their own Government, and produce an entire change

in the politics of the country.

*The best and most enlightened men of the country’ — who  considered
her interests as completely identified with those of Great Britain,” and
who thus concerted with Canning a policy intended to bring themselves
into power as agents of Spencer Perceval and Lord Castlereagh — were
Senator Pickering and his friends. To effect this coalition with the British
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Ministry, Pickering exerted himself to the utmost. He held out a confi-
dent hope that the embargo would end in an overthrow of the Administra-
tion, and that a change in the head of the Government would alter its
policy ‘in a manner propitious to the continuance of peace.” A few days
afterward, he placed in Rose’s hands two letters from George Cabot.
Finally, on the eve of Rose’s departure, March 22, he gave the British
envoy a letter to Samuel Williams of London. ‘Let him, if you please,
be the medium of whatever epistolary intercourse may take place between
you and me.’

To these advances Rose replied in his usual tone of courtcous superi-
ority:

It is not to you that I need protest that rancorous impressions of jealousy
or ill-will have never existed there; but it is to be feared that at some time
or another the extremest point of human forbearance may be reached.
Yet at the present moment there is, I think, a peculiarity of circum-
sstances most strange, indeed, which enables the offended party to léave
his antagonist to his own suicidal devices, unless, in his contortions under
them, he may strike some blow which the other might not be able to dis-
semble.

No Senator of the United States could submit, without some over-
powering motive, to such patronage. That Pickering should have in-
vited it was the more startling because he knew better than any other
man in America the criminality of his act. Ten years before, at a time
when Pickering was himself Secretary of State, the Pennsylvania Quaker,
Doctor Logan, attempted, with honest motives, to act as an amateur
negotiator between the United States Government and that of France.
In order to prevent such mischievous follies for the future, Congress,
under the inspiration of Pickering, passed a law, known as ‘Logan’s Act,’
which still stood on the statute book:

Every citizen of the United States, whether actually resident or abiding
within the same, or in any foreign country, who, without the permission
or authority of the Government, directly or indirectly commences or
carries on any verbal or written correspondence or intercourse with any
foreign Government, or any officer or agent thereof, with an intent to
influence the measures or conduct of any foreign Government, or of any
officer or agent thereof, in relation to any disputes or controversies with
the United States, or to defeat the measures of the Government of the
United States; and every person ... who counsels, advises, or assists in
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any such correspondence, with such intent, shall be punished by a fine
of not more than five thousand dollars, and by imprisonment during not
less than six months, nor more than three years.

When Pickering defied fine and imprisonment under his own law, in
order to make a concert of political action with George Canning to keep
the British Government steady in aggression, he believed that his end
justified his means; and he avowed his end to be the bringing of his
friends into power. For this purpose he offered himself to Canning as the
instrument for organizing what was in fact a British party in New Eng-
land, asking in return only the persistence of Great Britain in a line of
policy already adopted, which was sure to work against the Republican
rule. Pickering knew that his conduct was illegal; but he had in his
hands an excuse which justified him, as he chose to think, in disregarding
the law. He persuaded himself that Jefferson was secretly bound by an
engagement with Napoleon to effect the ruin of England.

Then came Pickering’s master-stroke. The April election — which
would decide the political control of Massachusetts for the coming year
and the choice of a Senator in the place of J. Q. Adams — was close at
hand. February 16, the day when Rose’s negotiation broke down, Picker-
ing sent to Governor Sullivan of Massachusctts a letter intended for
official communication to the State Legislature. ‘I may claim some share
of attention and credit,’ he began — ‘that share which is due to a man
who defies the world to point, in the whole course of a long and public
life, at one instance of deception, at a single departure from Truth.” He
entered into speculations upon the causes which had led Congress to
impose the embargo. Omitting mention of the Orders in Council, he
showed that the official reasons presented in the President’s Embargo
Message were not sufficient to justify the measure, and that some secret
motive must lie hidden from public view:

Has the French Emperor declared that he will have no neutrals? Has
he required that our ports, like those of his vassal States in Europe, be
shut against British commerce? Is the embargo a substitute, a milder form
of compliance, with that harsh demand, which, if exhibited in its naked
and insulting aspect, the American spirit might yet resent? Are we still
to be kept profoundly ignorant of the declarations and avowed designs
of the French Emperor, although these may strike at our liberty and
independence? And in the meantime are we, by a thousand irritations,
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by cherishing prejudices, and by exciting fresh resentments, to be drawn
gradually into a war with Great Britain?

Never was Jefferson’s sleight-of-hand more dexterously turned against
him than in this unscrupulous appeal to his own official language. In
all Pickering’s voluminous writings this letter stood out alone, stamped
by a touch of genius.

By false policy [he continued], or by inordinate fears, our country may
be betrayed and subjugated to France as surely as by corruption. I trust,
sir, that no one who knows me will charge it to vanity when I say that I
have some knowledge of public men and of public affairs; and on that
knowledge, and with solemnity, I declare to you that I have no confidence
in the wisdom or correctness of our public measures; that our country is
in imminent danger; that it is essential to the public safety that the blind
confidence in our rulers should cease; that the State Legislatures should
know the facts and the reasons on which important general laws are
founded; and especially that those States whose farms are on the ocean
and whose harvests are gathered in every sea should immediately and
seriously consider how to preserve them.

To those Federalist leaders who had been acquainted with the plans
of 1804, the meaning of this allusion to the commercial States could not
be doubtful. Least of all could Pickering’s colleague in the Senate, who
had so strenuously resisted the disunion scheme, fail to understand the
drift of Pickering’s leadership. John Quincy Adams, at whose growing
influence this letter struck, had been from his earliest recollection, through
his father’s experience or his own, closely connected with political in-
terests. During forty years he had been the sport of public turbulence,
and for forty years he was yet to undergo every vicissitude of political
failure and success; but in the range of his checkered life he was subjected
to no other trial so severe as that which Pickering forced him to meet.
In the path of duty he might doubtless face social and political ostracism,
even in a town such as Boston then was, and defy it. Men as good as
he had done as much, in many times and places; but to do this in support
of a President whom he disliked and distrusted, for the sake of a policy
in which he had no faith, was enough to shatter a character of iron.
Fortunately for him, his temper was not one to seek relief in halfway
measures. He had made a mistake in voting for an embargo without
limit of time; but since no measure of resistance to Europe more vigorous
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than the embargo could gain support from either party, he accepted and
defended it. He attended the Republican caucus January 23, and voted
for George Clinton as President; and when Pickering flung down his
challenge in the letter of February 16, Adams instantly took it up.

Governor Sullivan naturally declined to convey Senator Pickering’s
letter to the Legislature; but a copy had been sent to George Cabot, who
caused it, March 9, to be published. The effect was violent. Passion
took the place of reason and swept the Federalists into Pickering’s path.
Governor Sullivan published a vigorous reply, but lost his temper in do-
ing so and became abusive where he should have been cool. When
Pickering’s letter was received at Washington, Adams wrote an answer,
which reached Boston barely in time to be read before the election.
He went over the history of the embargo; pointed out its relation to the
Orders in Council; recapitulated the long list of IEnglish outrages; turned
fiercely upon the British infatuation of Pickering’s friends, and called
upon them to make their choice between embargo and war:

If any statesman can point out another alternative I am ready to hear
him, and for any practicable expedient to lend him every possible assist-
ance. But let not that expedient be submission to trade under British
licenses and British taxation. We are told that even under these restric-
tions we may yet trade to the British dominions, to Africa and China, and
with the colonies of France, Spain, and Holland. T ask not how much of
this trade would be left when our intercourse with the whole Continent
of Europe being cut off would leave us no means of purchase and no market
for sale. I ask not what trade we could enjoy with the colonies of na-
tions with which we should be at war. I ask not how long Britain would
leave open to us avenues of trade which even in these very Orders of
Council she boasts of leaving open as a special indulgence. If we yield
the principle, we abandon all pretense to national sovereignty.

Thus the issue between a British and American party was sharply
drawn. Governor Sullivan charged Pickering with an attempt to excite
sedition and rebellion and to bring about a dissolution of Government.
Adams made no mention of his colleague’s name. In Massachusetts the
modern canvass was unknown; newspapers and pamphlets took the place
of speeches; the pulpit and tavern bar were the only hustings; and the
public opinions of men in high official or social standing weighed heavily.
The letters of Pickering, Sullivan, and Adams penetrated every part of the
State and on the issues raised by them the voters made their choice.
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The result showed that Pickering’s calculation on the embargo was
sound. He failed to overthrow Governor Sullivan, who won his re-
election by a majority of some twelve hundred in a total vote of about
eighty-one thousand; but the Federalists gained in the new Legislature a
decided majority, which immediately elected James Lloyd to succeed
J. Q. Adams in the Senate and adopted resolutions condemning the em-
bargo. Adams instantly resigned his seat. The Legislature chose Lloyd
to complete the unfinished term.

Thus, the great State of Massachusetts fell back into Federalism. All
and more than all, that Jefferson’s painful labors had gained, his embargo
in a few weeks wasted. Had the evil stopped there no harm need have
been feared; but the reaction went far beyond that point. The Federal-
ists of 1801 were the national party of America; the Federalists of 1808
were a British faction in secret league with George Canning. The alliance
between the New England Federalists and the British Tories was made.
Nothing remained but to concentrate against Jefferson the forces at their
command.



CHAPTER FIFTY-FOUR
The Enforcement of Eméargo

THE EMBARGO had lasted less than four months, when April 19 the
President at Washington was obliged to issue a proclamation announcing
that on Lake Champlain and in the adjacent country persons were com-
bined for the purpose of forming insurrections against the laws and that
the military power of the Government must aid in quelling such insur-
rections.

Reports of this open defiance and insurrection on the Canada frontier
reached Washington at the same time with other reports which revealed
endless annoyances clsewhere. If the embargo was to coerce England or
France, it must stop supplies to the West Indian colonies and prevent the
escape of cotton or corn for the artisans of Europe. The embargo aimed
at driving England to desperation, but not at famishing America; yet the
President found himself at a loss to do the one without doing the other.
Nearly all commerce between the States was by coasting-vessels. If the
coasting-trade should be left undisturbed, every schooner that sailed
from an American port was sure to allege that by stress of weather or by
the accidents of navigation it had been obliged to stop at some port of
Nova Scotia or the West Indies and there to leave its cargo. Only the
absolute prohibition of the coasting-trade could prevent these evasions;
but to prohibit the coasting-trade was to sever the Union. The political
tie might remain, but no other connection could survive. Without the
coasting-trade New England would be deprived of bread, and her in-
dustries would perish; Charleston and New Orleans would stagnate in
unapproachable solitude. '

Jefferson proclaimed the existence of an insurrection on the Canadian
frontier shortly before the adjournment of Congress. Immediately after
the adjournment, he took in hand the more serious difficulties of the
coasting-trade. The experiment of peaceable coercion was at last to have
full trial, and Jefferson turned to the task with energy that seemed to his
friends excessive, but expressed the vital interest he felt in the success
of a theory on which his credit as a statesman depended. The crisis was
peculiarly his own; and he assumed the responsibility for every detail of
its management.

437
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May 6 the President wrote to Gallatin a letter containing general
directions to detain in port every coasting-vessel which could be regarded
as suspicious. His orders were sweeping. The power of the embargo
as a coercive weapon was to be learned.

On the same day with the letter of May 6 to the Secretary of the Treas-
ury, the President wrote a circular to the Governors of New Hampshire,
Massachusetts, South Carolina, Georgia, and Orleans — portions of the
Union which consumed more wheat than they produced — requesting
them to issue certificates for such quantities of flour as were likely to be
needed beyond their local supply. The certificates, directed to the col-
lector of some port usually exporting flour, were to be issued to ‘any
merchant in whom you have confidence.” All other shipments of produce
were objects of suspicion.

Governor Sullivan of Massachusetts, under the President’s circular,
issued certificates before July 15 to the amount of fifty thousand barrels
of flour and one hundred thousand bushels of corn, besides rice and rye.
Gallatin complained to the President, who instantly wrote to the Gov-
ernor of Massachusetts an order to stop importing provisions:

As these supplies, although called for within the space of two months,
will undoubtedly furnish the consumption of your State for a much
longer time, I have thought advisable to ask the favor of your Excellency,
after the receipt of this letter, to discontinue issuing any other certificates,
that we may not unnecessarily administer facilities to the evasion of the
embargo laws.

That Massachusetts, already on the brink of rebellion, should tolerate
such dictation could hardly be expected; and it was fortunate for Jeffer-
son that the Federalists had failed to elect a Governor of their own stripe.
Even Sullivan, Democrat as he was, could not obey the President’s
request, and excused his disobedience in a letter which was intended to
convince Jefferson that the people of Massachusetts were the best judges
of the amount of food they needed.

Sullivan admitted that the habits of the Massachusetts people, con-
tracted under the royal government and still continued, led to the evasion
of commercial laws; but he told the President what would be the result
of an arbitrary interference with their supplies of food:

You may depend upon it that three weeks after these certificates shall
be refused, an artificial and actual scarcity will involve this State in mobs,
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riots, and convulsions, pretendedly on account of the embargo. Your
enemies will have an additional triumph and your friends suffer new
mortifications.

Jefferson resented Sullivan’s conduct. A few days afterward he wrote
to General Dearborn, the Secretary of War, who was then in Maine,
warning him to be ready to support the measure which Sullivan had de-
clined to adopt.

Blood was soon shed, but Jefferson did not shrink. The new army was
stationed along the Canada frontier. The gunboats and frigates patrolled
the coast. On every side dangers and difficulties accumulated. ‘I did
not expect a crop of so sudden and rank growth of fraud and open op-
position by force could have grown up in the United States.” At New-
buryport an armed mob on the wharf prevented the custom-house officers
from detaining a vessel about to sail. The collectors and other officers
were ill-disposed or were harassed by suits at law for illegal detentions.
Rebellion and disunion stared Jefferson in the face, but only caused him
to challenge an outbreak and to invite violence.

The Federalists knew when to rebel. They meant first to overthrow
Jefferson himself, and were in a fair way to gratify their wish; for the
people of New England — Republican and Federalist alike — were
rapidly rallying to common hatred of the President. As winter ap-
proached, the struggle between Jefferson and Massachusetts became on
both sides vindictive. He put whole communities under his ban. He
stopped the voyage of every vessel ‘in which any person is concerned,
either in interest or in navigating her, who has ever been concerned in
interest or in the navigation of a vessel which has at any time before en-
tered a foreign port contrary to the views of the embargo laws, and under
any pretended distress or duress whatever.’

Of all the old Republican arguments for a policy of peace, the com-
monest was that a standing army would be dangerous, not to foreign
enemies, but to popular liberties; yet the first use of the new army and
gunboats was against fellow-citizens. New England was chiefly controlled
by the navy; but in New York the army was needed and was employed.
Open insurrection existed there. Besides forcible resistance offered to
the law, no one was ignorant that the collectors shut their eyes to smug-
gling, and that juries, in defiance of court and President, refused to indict
rioters. Governor Tompkins announced that Oswego was in active in-
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surrection, and called on the President to issue.a proclamation to that
effect. Jefferson replied by offering to take into the United States service
the militia required to suppress the riots and begged Governor Tompkins
to lead his troops in person. ‘I think it so important in example to crush
these audacious proceedings, and to make the offenders feel the conse-
quences of individuals daring to oppose a law by force, that no effort
should be spared to compass this object.’

The President seemed alone to feel this passionate earnestness on be-
half of the embargo. His Cabinet looked on with alarm and disgust.
Madison took no share in the task of enforcement. Robert Smith sent
frigates and gunboats hither and thither, but made no concealment of
his feelings. ‘Most fervently,” he wrote to Gallatin, ‘ought we to pray to
be relieved from the various embarrassments of this said embargo.
Upon it there will in some of the States, in the course of the next two
months, assuredly be engendered monsters. Would that we could be
placed on proper ground for calling in this mischief-making busy-body.’
Smith talked freely, while Gallatin, whose opinion was probably the
same, said little, and labored to carry out the law, but seemed at times
disposed to press on the President’s attention the deformities of his
favorite monster.

I am perfectly satisfied [wrote Gallatin to the President July 29] that
if the embargo must be persisted in any longer, two principles must neces-
sarily be adopted in order to make it sufficient: First, that not a single
vessel shall be permitted to move without the special permission of the
Executive; second, that the collectors be invested with the general power
of seizing property anywhere, and taking the rudders, or otherwise ef-
fectually preventing the departure of any vessel in harbor, though os-
tensibly intended to remain there —and that without being liable to
personal suits, I am sensible that such arbitrary powers are equally
dangerous and odious; but a restrictive measure of the nature of the
embargo, applied to a nation under such circumstances as the United
States, cannot be enforced without the assistance of means as strong as

" the measure itself.

I mean generally to express an opinion [continued the Secretary],
founded on the experience of this summer, that Congress must either in-
vest the Executive with the most arbitrary powers and sufficient force to
carry the embargo into effect, or give it up altogether.

That Jefferson should permit a member of his Cabinet to suggest the
assumption of ‘the most arbitrary powers’; that he should tolerate the
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idea of using means ‘equally dangerous and odious’ — séemed incredible;
but his reply showed no sign of offense. He instantly responded:
I am satisfied with you that if Orders and Decrees are not repealed, and
a continuance of the embargo is preferred to war (which sentiment is
universal here), Congress must legalize all means which may be necessary
to obtain its end.

If repeated and menacing warnings from the people, the State au-
thorities, and officers of the National Government failed to produce an
impression on the President’s mind, he was little likely to regard what
came from the Judiciary; yet to a Virginia Republican of 1798 no question
could have deeper interest than that of the constitutionality of the
embargo. The subject had already been discussed in Congress, and had
called out a difference of opinion. There, Randolph argued against the
constitutionality in a speech never reported, which turned on the dis-
tinction between regulating commerce and destroying it; between
restriction limited in time and scope and an interdict absolute and
permanent. The opponents of the embargo system, both Federalists
and Republicans, took the same ground. The Constitution, they said,
empowered Congress ‘to regulate commerce with foreign nations, and
among the several States, and with the Indian tribes’; but no one ever
supposed it to grant Congress the power to prokibit commerce with
foreign nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian tribes.
Had such words been employed, the Constitution could not have gained
the vote of a single State.

History has nothing to do with law except to record the development
of legal principles. The question whether the embargo was or was not
constitutional depended for an answer on the decision of Congress,
President, and Judiciary, and the assent of the States. Whatever unani-
mous decision these political bodies might make, no matter how ex-
travagant, was law until it should be reversed. No theory could control
the meaning of the Constitution; but the relation between facts and
theories was a political matter, and between the embargo and the old
Virginia theory of the Constitution no relation could be imagined. What-
ever else was doubtful, no one could doubt that, under the doctrine of
States-rights and the rules of strict construction, the embargo was un-
constitutional. Only by the widest theories of liberal construction could
its constitutionality be sustained.
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The arguments in its favor were arguments which had been once re-
garded as fatal to public liberty. The first was made by Richard M.
Johnson of Kentucky: ‘If we have power to lay an embargo for one day,
have we not the power to renew it at the end of that day? If for sixty
days, have we not the power to renew it again? Would it not amount to
the same thing? If we pass a law to expire within a limited term, we
may renew it at the end of that term; and there is no difference between a
power to do this, and a power to pass laws without specified limit.’
This principle, if sound, might be applied to the right of habeas corpus
or of free speech, to the protection of American manufactures or to the
issue of paper money as a legal tender; and whenever such application
should be made, the Union must submit to take its chance of the conse-
quences sure to follow the removal of specified limits to power. Another
argument was used by David R. Williams, a representative South
Carolinian. ‘The embargo is not an annihilation but a suspension of
commerce,” he urged, ‘to regain the advantages of which it has been
robbed.” If Congress had the right to regulate commerce for such a pur-
pose in 1808, South Carolina seemed to have no excuse for questioning,
twenty years later, the constitutionality of a protective system.

This reasoning was supported by an immense majority in both Houses
of Congress; was accepted as sound by the Executive, and roused no
protest from the Legislature of any Southern State. So far as concerned
all these high political authorities, the principle was thus settled that
the Constitution, under the power to regulate commerce, conferred upon
Congress the power to suspend foreign commerce forever; to suspend or
otherwise regulate domestic and interstate commerce; to subject all in-
dustry to governmental control, if such interference in the opinion of
Congress was necessary or proper for carrying out its purpose; and
finally, to vest in the President discretionary power to execute or to sus-
pend the system, in whole or in part.

The Judiciary had still to be consulted. In the September Term,
1808, an embargo case was argued at Salem before John Davis, judge of
the District Court for Massachusetts; and Samuel Dexter, the ablest
lawyer in New England, urged the constitutional objections to the em-
bargo with all the force that ability and conviction could give. No
sounder Federalist than Judge Davis sat on the bench; but although the
newspapers of his party were declaiming against the constitutionality of
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the law, and although Chief Justice Parsons, of the Massachusetts
Supreme Court, the most eminent legal authority in the State, lent his
private influence on the same side, Judge Davis calmly laid down the
old Federalist rule of broad construction. His opinion, elaborately argued
and illustrated, was printed in every newspaper.

In the Federalist spirit the Judge invoked the ‘necessary and proper’
clause, which had been the cloak for every assumption of doubtful powers;
and then passed to the doctrine of ‘inherent sovereignty,’ the radical line
of division between the party of President Washington and that of
President Jefferson:

Further, the power to regulate commerce is not to be confined to the
adoption of measures exclusively beneficial to commerce itself or tending
to its advancement; but in our national system, as in all modern sov-
ereignties, it is also to be considered as an instrument for other purposes
of general policy and interest. The mode of its management is a con-
sideration of great delicacy and importance; but the national right or
power to adapt regulations of commerce to other purposes than the mere
advancement of commerce appears to me unquestionable.

After drawing these conclusions from the power to regulate commerce,
the Judge went a step further, and summoned to his aid the spirits which
haunted the dreams of every true Republican — the power of war, and
necessity of State:

Congress has power to declare war. It of course has power to prepare
for war; and the time, the manner, and the measure, in the application
of constitutional means, seem to be left to its wisdom and discretion.
Foreign intercourse becomes in such times a subject of peculiar interest,
and its regulation forms an obvious and essential branch of federal ad-
ministration. . .. It seems to have been admitted in the argument that
State necessity might justify a limited embargo, or suspension of all
foreign commerce; but if Congress have the power, for purposes of safety,
of preparation, or counteraction, to suspend commercial intercourse with
foreign nations, where do we find them limited as to the duration more
than as to the manner and extent of the measure?

Against this remarkable decision Dexter did not venture to appeal.
Strong as his own convictions were, he knew the character of Chief
Justice Marshall’s law too well to hope for success at Washington. -

Yet the embargo, in spite of Executive, legislative, judicial, and State
authorities, rankled in the side of the Constitution. Even Joseph Story,
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though in after life a convert to Marshall’s doctrines, could never wholly
reconcile himself to the legislation of 1808.

I have ever [he wrote] considered the embargo a measure which went
to the utmost limit of constructive power under the Constitution. It
stands upon the extreme verge of the Constitution, being in its very form
and terms an unlimited prohibition or suspension of foreign commerce.

That President Jefferson should exercise ‘dangerous and odious’
powers, carrying the extremest principles of his Federalist predecessors
to their extremest results; that he should in doing so invite bloodshed,
strain his military resources, quarrel with the State authorities of his
own party and with judges whom he had himself made; that he should
depend for constitutional law on Federalist judges whose doctrines he
had hitherto believed fatal to liberty — these werce the first fruits of the
embargo. After such an experience, if he or his party again raised the
cry of States-rights, or of strict construction, the public might, with some
foundation of reason, set such complaints aside as factious and frivolous,
and even, in any other mouth than that of John Randolph, as treasonable.



CHAPTER FIFTY-FIVE
The Cost of Embargo

THE EMBARGO was an experiment in politics well worth making. In
the scheme of President Jefferson’s statesmanship, non-intercourse was
the substitute for war — the weapon of defense and coercion which saved
the cost and danger of supporting army or navy and spared America the
brutalities of the Old World. Failure of the embargo meant in his mind
not only a recurrence to the practice of war, but to every political and
social evil that war had always brought in its train. In such a case the
crimes and corruptions of Europe, which had been the object of his politi-
cal fears, must, as he believed, sooner or later teem in the fat soil of
America. To avert a disaster so vast was a proper motive for statesman-
ship and justified disregard for smaller interests.

Everywhere, on all occasions, he proclaimed that embargo was the
alternative to war. The question next to be decided was brought by this
means into the prominence it deserved. Of the two systems of statesman-
ship, which was the most costly — which the most efficient?

The dread of war, radical in the Republican theory, sprang not so much
from the supposed waste of life or resources as from the retroactive ef-
fects which war must cxert upon the form of government; but the ex-
perience of a few months showed that the embargo as a system was
rapidly leading to the same effects. Indeed, the embargo and the Louisi-
ana Purchase taken together were more destructive to the theory and
practice of a Virginia Republic than any foreign war was likely to be.
Personal liberties and rights of property were more directly curtailed in
the United States by embargo than in Great Britain by centuries of al-
most continuous foreign war. No one denied that a permanent embargo
strained the Constitution to the uttermost tension; and even the Secre-
tary of the Treasury and the President admitted that it required the
cxercise of most arbitrary, odious, and dangerous powers. From this
point of view the system was quickly seen to have few advantages. If
American liberties must perish, they might as well be destroyed by war
as be stifled by non-intercourse.

While the constitutional cost of the two systems was not altogether
unlike, the economical cost was a point not easily settled. No one could
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say what might be the financial expense of embargo as compared with war.
Yet Jefferson himself in the end admitted that the embargo had no claim
to respect as an economical measure.

The economical was less serious than the moral problem. The strong-
est objection to war was not its waste of money or even of life; for money
and life in political economy were worth no more than they could be
made to produce. A worse evil was the lasting harm caused by war to
the morals of mankind, which no system of economy could calculate.
The reign of brute force and brutal methods corrupted and debauched
society, making it blind to its own vices and ambitious only for mischief.
Yet even on that ground the embargo had few advantages. The peaceable
coercion which Jefferson tried to substitute for war was less brutal, but
hardly less mischievous, than the evil it displaced. The embargo opened
the sluice-gates of social corruption. Every citizen was tempted to evade
or defy the laws. At every point along the coast and frontier the civil,
military, and naval services were brought in contact with corruption;
while every man in private life was placed under strong motives to
corrupt. Every article produced or consumed in the country became an
object of speculation; every form of industry became a form of gambling.
The rich could alone profit in the end; while the poor must sacrifice at
any loss the little they could produce.

If war made men brutal, at least it made them strong; it called out the
qualities best fitted to survive in the struggle for existence. To risk life
for one’s country was no mean act even when done for selfish motives;
and to die that others might more happily live was the highest act of self-
sacrifice to be reached by man. War, with all its horrors, could purify
as well as debase; it dealt with high motives and vast interests; taught
courage, discipline, and stern sense of duty. Jefferson must have asked
himself in vain what lessons of heroism or duty were taught by his system
of peaceable coercion, which turned every citizen into an enemy of the
laws — preaching the fear of war and of self-sacrifice, making many
smugglers and traitors, but not a single hero.

In New England, where the struggle of existence was keenest, the
embargo struck like a thunderbolt, and society for a moment thought
itself at an end. Foreign commerce and shipping were the life of the
people — the ocean, as Pickering said, was their farm. The outcry of
suffering interests hecame every day more violent, as the public learned
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that this paralysis was not a matter of weeks, but of months or years.
New Englanders as a class were a law-abiding people; but from the earliest
moments of their history they had largely qualified their obedience to the
law by the violence with which they abused and the ingenuity with which
they evaded it. Against the embargo and Jefferson they concentrated
the clamor and passion of their keen and earnest nature.

Yet, in truth, New England was better able to defy the embargo than
she was willing to suppose. She lost nothing except profits which the
belligerents had in any case confiscated; her timber would not harm for
keeping and her fish were safe in the ocean. The embargo gave her al-
most a monopoly of the American market for domestic manufactures; no
part of the country was so well situated or so well equipped for smug-
gling. Above all, she could easily economize. The New Englander knew
better than any other American how to cut down his expenses to the
uttermost point of parsimony; and even when he became bankrupt, he
had but to begin anew. ITis encrgy, shrewdness, and education were a
capital which the embargo could not destroy, but rather helped to im-
prove.

The growers of wheat and livestock in the Middle States were more
hardly treated. Their wheat, reduced in value from two dollars to
seventy-five cents a bushel, became practically unsalable. Debarred a
market for their produce at a moment when every article of common use
tended to rise in cost, they were reduced to the necessity of living on the
produce of their farms; but the task was not then so difficult as in later
times, and the cities still furnished local markets not to be despised.
The manufacturers of Pennsylvania could not but feel the stimulus of
the new demand; so violent a system of protection was never applied to
them before or since. Probably for that reason the embargo was not so
unpopular in Pennsylvania as elsewhere, and Jefferson had nothing to
fear from political revolution in this calm and plodding community.

The true burden of the embargo fell on the Southern States, but most
severely upon the great State of Virginia. Slowly decaying, but still
half-patriarchal, Virginia society could neither economize nor liquidate.
Tobacco was worthless; but four hundred thousand Negro slaves must be
clothed and fed, great establishments must be kept up, the social scale
of living could not be reduced, and even bankruptcy could not clear a
large landed estate without creating new encumbrances in a country where
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land and Negroes were the only forms of property on which money could
be raised. Stay-laws were tried, but served only to prolong the agony.
With astonishing rapidity Virginia succumbed to ruin, while continuing
to support the system that was draining her strength. No episode in
American history was more touching than the generous devotion with
which Virginia clung to the embargo and drained the poison which her
own President held obstinately to her lips. The old society of Virginia
could never be restored. Amid the harsh warnings of John Randolph, it
saw its agonies approach; and its last representative, heir to all its honors
and dignities, President Jefferson himself woke from his long dream of
power only to find his own fortunes buried in the ruin he had made.

Except in a state of society verging on primitive civilization, the
stoppage of all foreign intercourse could not have been attempted by
peaceable means. The attempt to deprive the laborer of sugar, salt, tea,
coffee, molasses, and rum; to treble the price of every yard of coarse
cottons and woolens; to reduce by one-half the wages of labor and to
double its burdens — this was a trial more severe than war; and even
when attempted by the whole Continent of Europe, with all the resources
of manufactures and wealth which the civilization of a thousand years
had supplied, the experiment required the despotic power of Napoleon
and the united armies of France, Austria, and Russia to carry it into
effect. Even then it failed. Jefferson, Madison, and the Southern
Republicans had no idea of the economical difficulties their system
created, and were surprised to find American society so complex even in
their own Southern States that the failure of two successive crops to
find a sale threatened beggary to every rich planter from the Delaware
to the Sabine.

The relapse of Massachusetts to Federalism and the overthrow of
Senator Adams in the spring of 1808 were the first signs of the political
price which President Jefferson must pay for his passion of peace. In New
York the prospect was little better. Governor Morgan Lewis, elected in
1804 over Aaron Burr by a combination of Clintons and Livingstons, was
turned out of office in 1807 by the Clintons. Governor Daniel D. Tomp-
kins, his successor, was supposed to be a representative of De Witt Clinton
and Ambrose Spencer. To De Witt Clinton the State of New York
seemed in 1807 a mere appendage — a political property which he could
control at will; and of all American politicians next to Aaron Burr none
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had shown such indifference to party as he. No one could predict his
course, except that it would be shaped according to what seemed to be
the interests of his ambition. He began by declaring himself against the
embargo, and soon afterward declared himself for it. In truth, he was
for or against it as the majority might decide; and in New York a majority
could hardly fail to decide against the embargo. At the spring election of
1808, which took place about May 1, the Federalists made large gains
in the Legislature. The summer greatly increased their strength, until
Madison’s friends trembled for the result, and their language became
despondent beyond rcason. Gallatin, who knew best the difficulties
created by the embargo, began to despair. June 29 he wrote: ‘From
present appearances the Federalists will turn us out by 4th of March
next.’

Two causes saved Madison. In the first place, the opposition failed to
concentrate its strength. Neither George Clinton nor James Monroe
could control the whole body of opponents to the embargo. After waiting
till the middle of August for some arrangement to be made, leading
Federalists held a conference at New York, where they found themselves
obliged, by the conduct of De Witt Clinton, to give up the hope of a
coalition. Clinton decided not to risk his fortunes for the sake of his
uncle, the Vice-President; and this decision obliged the Federalists to
put a candidate of their own in the field. They named C. C. Pinckney of
South Carolina for President and Rufus King of New York for Vice-
President, as in 1804.

From the moment his opponents divided themselves among three
candidates, Madison had nothing to fear; but even without this good
fortune he possessed an advantage that weighed decisively in his favor.
The State Legislatures had been chosen chiefly in the spring or summer,
when the embargo was still comparatively popular; and in most cases,
but particularly in New York, the Legislature still chose Presidential
electors. The people expressed no direct opinion on national politics, ex-
cept in regard to Congressmen. State after State deserted to the Fed-
eralists without affecting the general election.

In the elections to Congress the same effects were shown. The Fed-
eralists doubled their number of Congressmen, but the huge Republican
majority could well bear reduction. The true character of the Eleventh
Congress could not be foretold by the party vote. Many Northern
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Republicans chosen to Congress were as hostile to the embargo as though
they had been Federalists.

The Republican Party by a supreme effort kept itsclf in office; but no
one could fail to see that if nine months of embargo had so shattered
Jefferson’s power, another such year would shake the Union itself. The
cost of this ‘engine for national purposes’ exceeded all calculation.
Financially, it emptied the Treasury, bankrupted the mercantile and
agricultural class, and ground the poor beyond endurance. Constitution-
ally, it overrode every specified limit on arbitrary power and made Con-
gress despotic, while it left no bounds to the authority which might be
vgsted by Congress in the President. Morally, it sapped the nation’s
vital force, lowering its courage, paralyzing its energy, corrupting its
principles, and arraying all the active elements of society in factious
opposition to Government or in secret paths of treason. Politically, it
cost Jefferson the fruits of eight years’ painful labor for popularity, and
brought the Union to the edge of a precipice.

Finally, frightful as the cost of this engine was, as a means of coercion
the embargo evidently failed. The President complained of evasion and
declared that if the measure were faithfully executed it would produce
the desired effect; but the people knew better. In truth, the law was
faithfully executed. The price-lists of Liverpool and London, the pub-
lished returns from Jamaica and Havana, proved that American produce
was no longer to be bought abroad.

On the Continent of Europe commerce had ceased before the embargo
was laid and its coercive effects were far exceeded by Napoleon’s own
restrictions; yet not a sign came from Europe to show that Napoleon
meant to give way. From England came an answer to the embargo, but
not such as promised its success. On all sides evidence accumulated that
the embargo, as an engine of coercion, necded a long period of time to
produce a decided effect. The law of physics could easily be applied to
politics; force could be converted only into its equivalent force. If the
embargo — an exertion of force less violent than war — was to do the
work of war, it must extend over a longer time the development of an
equivalent energy. Wars lasted for many years, and the embargo must
be calculated to last much longer than any war; but meanwhile the morals,
courage, and political liberties of the American people must be perverted
or destroyed; agriculture and shipping must perish; the Union itself could
not be preserved.
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Under the shock of these discoveries Jefferson’s vast popularity van-
ished, and the labored fabric of his reputation fell in sudden and-general
ruin. America began slowly to struggle, under the consciousness of pain,
toward a conviction that she must bear the common burdens of humanity
and fight with the weapons of other races in the same bloody arena; that
she could not much longer delude herself with hopes of evading laws of
Nature and instincts of life; and that her new statesmanship which made
peace a passion could lead to no better result than had been reached by
the barbarous system which made war a duty.



CHAPTER FIFTY-SIX
The Dos de Maio

WHILE THE PEOPLE of the United States waited to see the effect of
the embargo on Europe, Europe watched with breathless interest the
death-throes of Spain.

The Emperor Napoleon, in December, 1807, hurried in triumphal
progress from one ancient city to another through his Italian Kingdom,
while his armies steadily crossed the Pyrenecs and spread over every road
between Bayonne and Lisbon. From Madrid, Godoy saw that the end
was near. Until that moment he had counted with certainty on the
devotion of the Spanish people to their old King. In the last months of
1807, he learned that even Spanish loyalty could not survive the miseries
of such a reign. Conspiracy appeared in the Escorial itself. Ferdinand,
Prince of the Asturias, only son of Don Carlos IV, was discovered in a
plot for dethroning his father by aid of Napoleon. Ferdinand was but
twenty-three years old; yet even in the flower of youth he showed no
social quality. Dull, obstinate, sullen, just shrewd enough to be sus-
picious, and with just enough passion to make him vindictive, Ferdinand
was destined to become the last and worst of the Spanish Bourbon kings;
yet in the year 1807, he had a strong bond of sympathy with the people,
for he hated and feared his father and mother and the Prince of Peace.
Public patience, exhausted by endless disaster, and outraged by the
King’s incompetence, the Queen’s supposed amours, and Godoy’s parade
of royal rank and power, vanished at the news that Ferdinand shared in
the popular disgust; and the Prince of Pcace suddenly woke to find the
old King already dethroned in his subjects’ love, while the Prince of the
Asturias, who was fitted only for confinement in an asylum, had become
the popular ideal of virtue and reform.

Godoy stifled Ferdinand’s intrigue and took from Napoleon that pre-
text for interferenceé; but he gained at most only a brief respite for King
Charles. December 23, Napoleon sent from Milan to his Minister of War
orders to concentrate armies for occupying the whole peninsula and to
establish the magazines necessary for their support. He was almost
ready to act; and his return to Paris, January 3, 1808, announced to those
who were in the secret that the new drama would soon begin.
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Among the most interested of his audience was General Armstrong,
who had longed, since 1805, for a chance to meet the Emperor with his
own weapons, and who knew that Napoleon’s schemes required control
of North and South America, which would warrant Jefferson in imposing
rather than in receiving terms for Florida. Whatever these terms might
be, Napoleon must grant them or must yield the Americas to England’s
naval supremacy. The plan as Armstrong saw it was both safe and sure.
Napoleon made no secret of his wants. Whatever finesse he may have
used in the earlier stage of his policy was flung aside after his return to
Paris, January 3. In reply to Armstrong’s remonstrances against the
Milan Decree, the Emperor ordered Champagny to use the language of
command:

Answer Mr. Armstrong, that T am ashamed to discuss points of which
the injustice is so evident; but that in the position in which England has
put the Continent, I do not doubt of the United States declaring war
against her, especially on account of her decree of November 11; that,
however great may be the evil resulting to America from war, every man
of sense will prefer it to a recognition of the monstrous principles and of
the anarchy which that Government wants to establish on the seas; that
in my mind I regard war as declared between England and America from
the day when England published her decrees; that, for the rest, I have
ordered that the Amecrican vessels should remain sequestered, to be dis-
posed of as shall be necessary according to circumstances.

No coarser methods were known to diplomacy than those which Napo-
I>on commonly took whenever the moment for action came. Not only
did he thus hold millions of American property scquestered as a pledge
for the obedience of America, but he also offered a bribe to the United
States Government. January 28 he gave orders for the occupation of
Barcelona and the Spanish frontier as far as the Ebro and for pushing a
division from Burgos to Aranda on the direct road to Madrid. These
orders admitted of no disguise; they announced the annexation of Spain
to France. A few days afterward, February 2, the Emperor began to
dispose of Spanish territory as alrcady his own.

Champagny sent for Armstrong and gave him a verbal message, which
the American minister understood as follows:

General, I have to communicate to you a message from the Emperor.
I am instructed to say that the measure of taking the Floridas, to the ex-
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clusion of the British, meets entirely the approbation of His Majesty. 1
understand that you wish to purchase the Floridas. If such be your wish, I
am further instructed to say that His Majesty will interest himself with
Spain in such way as to obtain for you the Floridas, and, what is still more
important, a convenient western boundary for Louisiana, on condition
that the United States will enter into an alliance with France.

In forwarding these documents to Washington, Armstrong expressed
in plain language his opinion of Napoleon and Champagny.

With one hand they offer us the blessings of equal alliance against Great
Britain; with the other they menace us with war if we do not accept this
kindness; and with both they pick our pockets with all imaginable dili-
gence, dexterity, and impudence.

These letters from Armstrong, enclosing Champagny’s version of
Napoleon’s blunt words, were dispatched to Washington during the
month of February; and, as the story has alrcady shown, President
Jefferson roused a storm against France by communicating to Congress
the Emperor’s order that the United States Government should regard
itself as at war with England.

All this while the Emperor held Spain in suspense, but February 21
he gave orders for securing the royal family. Murat was to occupy
Madrid; Admiral Rosily, who commanded a French squadron at Cadiz,
was to bar the way ‘if the Spanish Court, owing to events or a folly that
can hardly be expected, should wish to renew the scene of Lishon.”  Godoy
saw the impending blow, and ordered the Court to Cadiz, intending to
carry the King even to Mexico if no other resource remained. He would
perhaps have saved the King and Admiral Rosily himsclf would have been
the prisoner, had not the people risen in riot on hearing of the intended
flight. March 17 a sudden mob sacked Godoy’s house at Aranjuez,
hunting him down like a wild beast and barely failing to take his life;
while by sheer terror Don Carlos IV was made to abdicate the throne in
favor of his son Ferdinand. March 19 the ancient Spanish Empire
crumbled away.

Owing to the skill with which Napoleon had sucked every drop of blood
from the veins and paralyzed every nerve in the limbs of the Spanish
monarchy, the throne fell without apparent touch from him, and his
army entered Madrid as though called to protect Carlos IV from violence.
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When the news reached Paris, the Emperor, April 2, hurried to Bordeaux
and Bayonne, where he remained until August, regulating his new em-
pire. To Bayonne were brought all the familiar figures of the old Spanish
régime — Carlos IV, Queen Luisa, Ferdinand, the Prince of Peace, Don
Pedro Cevallos — the last remnants of picturesque Spain; and Napoleon
passed them in review with the curiosity which he might have shown in
regarding a collection of rococo furniture. His victims always interested
him, except when, as in the case of Toussaint L’Ouverture, they were not
of noble birth.

The Bourbon rubbish was swept from Madrid; Don Carlos had already
abdicated; Ferdinand, entrapped and terrified, was set aside; the old
palaces were garnished for newcomers; and after Lucien and Louis Bona-
parte had refused the proffered throne, Napoleon sent to Naples for
Joseph, who was crowned, June 15, King of Spain at Bayonne.

Meanwhile, the Spanish people woke to consciousness that their
ancient empire had become a province of France, and their exasperation
broke into acts of wild revenge. May 2, Madrid rose in an insurrection
which Murat suppressed by force. Several hundred lives on either side
were lost; and although the affair itself was one of no great importance, it
had results which made the day an epoch in modern history.

The Second of May — or as the Spaniards called it, the Dos de Maio
— swept the vast Spanish Empire into the vortex of dissolution. The
extent and violence of the convulsion which was to ravage the Spanish
Empire could be measured only by the vastness of Spanish dominion.
So strangely had political forces been entangled by Napoleon’s hand that
the explosion at Madrid roused the most incongruous interests into active
sympathy and strange companionship. The Spaniards themselves, the
least progressive people in Europe, became by necessity democratic; not
only the people, but even the Governments of Austria and Germany, felt
the movement, and yielded to it; the Tories of England joined with the
Whigs and democrats in cheering a revolution which could not but shake
the foundations of Tory principles; confusion became chaos, and while
all Europe, cxcept France, joined hands in active or passive support of
Spanish freedom, America, the stronghold of free government, drew back
and threw her weight on the opposite side. The workings of human de-
velopment were never more strikingly shown than in the helplessness
with which the strongest political and social forces in the world followed
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or resisted at haphazard the necessities of a movement which they could
not control or comprehend. Spain, France, Germany, England, werc
swept into a vast and bloody torrent which dragged Amecrica, from
Montreal to Valparaiso, slowly into its movement; while the familiar
figures of famous men — Napolcon, Alexander, Canning, Godoy, Jeffer-
son, Madison, Talleyrand; emperors, generals, presidents, conspirators,
patriots, tyrants, and martyrs by the thousand — were borne away by
the stream, struggling, gesticulating, praying, murdering, robbing; cach
blind to everything but a selfish interest, and all helping more or less
unconsciously to reach the new level which socicty was obliged to seek.
Half a century of disorder failed to settle the problems raised by the Dos
de Maio; but from the first even a child could see that in the ruin of a
world like the empire of Spain, the only nation certain to find a splendid
and inexhaustible booty was the Republic of the United States. To
President Jefferson the Spanish revolution opened an endless vista of
democratic ambition.

Yet at first the Dos de Maio seemed only to rivet Napolcon’s power
and to strengthen the reaction begun on the Eightcenth Brumaire. The
Emperor expected local resistance and was ready to suppress it. He had
dealt effectually with such popular outbreaks in France, Italy, and Ger-
many; he had been overcome in St. Domingo not by the people, but, as he
believed, by the climate. If the Germans and Italians could be made
obedient to his orders, the Spaniards could certainly offer no serious re-
sistance. During the two or three months that followed the dethrone-
ment of the Bourbons, Napoleon stood at the summit of his hopes. If
the letters he then wrote were not extant to prove the plans he had in
mind, common-sense would refuse to believe that schemes so unsub-
stantial could have found lodgment in his brain. The English navy and
English commerce were to be driven from the Mediterrancan Sea, the
Indian Ocean, and American waters, until the ruin of England should be
accomplished and the empire of the world should be sccured. Order
rapidly followed order for reconstructing the navies of France, Spain, and
Portugal. Great expeditions were to occupy Ceuta, Egypt, Syria, Buenos
Ayres, the Isle de France, and the East Indies.

For this purpose the Emperor required not only the submission of
Spain, but also the support of Spanish America and of the United States.
He acted as though he were already master of all these countries, which
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were not yet within his reach. Continuing to treat the United States
as a dependent Government, he issued April 17 a new order directing the
seizure of all American vessels which should enter the ports of France,
Italy, and the Hanse towns. This measure, which became famous as the
Bayonne Decree, surpassed the Decrees of Berlin and Milan in violence,
and was gravely justified by Napoleon on the ground that, since the em-
bargo, no vessel of the United States could navigate the seas without
violating the law of its own Government and furnishing a presumption
that it did so with false papers on British account or in British connection.
“This is very ingenious,” wrote Armstrong in reporting the fact. Yet it
was hardly more arbitrary or unreasonable than the British ‘Rule of
1756, which declared that a neutral should practice no trade with a
belligerent which it had not practiced with the same nation during peace.

While these portentous events were passing rapidly before the eyes of
Europe, no undue haste marked Madison’s movements. Champagny’s
letter of January 15, 1808, arrived and was sent to Congress toward the
end of March; but although the United States quickly knew by heart
Napoleon’s phrase, ‘War exists in fact between England and the United
States, and Hi> Majesty considers it as declared from the day on which
England published her decrees’; although Rose departed March 22, and
the embargo was shaped into a system of coercion long before Rose’s
actual departure — yet Congress waited until April 22 before authorizing
the President to suspend the embargo if he could succeed in persuading
or compelling England or France to withdraw the belligerent decrees;
and not until May 2 — the famous Dos de Maio — did Madison send to
Armstrong instructions which were to guide that minister through the
dangers of Napoleonic diplomacy.

In due time Armstrong received his instructions of May 2, and wrote
June 10 to Champagny a note declining the proposed alliance and ex-
pressing the satisfaction which his Government felt at hearing the
Emperor’s approval of ‘a cautionary occupation of the Floridas.” Napo-
leon, who was still at Bayonne in the flush of his power, no sooner read
this reply than he wrote to Champagny:

Answer the Amecrican minister that you do not know what he means
about the occupation of the Floridas; and that the Americans, being at
peace with the Spaniards, cannot occupy the Floridas without the per-
mission or the request of the King of Spain.
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Armstrong, a few days afterward, was astonished by receiving from
Champagny a note denying positively that any suggestion had ever been
made to warrant an American occupation of the Floridas without an ex-
press request from the King of Spain: ‘The Emperor has neither the
right nor the wish to authorize an infraction of international law, con-
trary to the interests of an independent Power, his ally and his friend.’
When Napoleon chose to deny a fact, argument was thrown away; yet
Armstrong could not do otherwise than recall Champagny’s own words,
which he did in a formal note, and there left the matter at rest, writing to
his Government that the change in tone had ‘no doubt grown out of the
new relations which the Floridas bear to this Government since the ab-
dication of Charles IV.’

Fortunately for Jefferson, the answer made by Spain, May 2, to
Napoleon’s orders was not couched in the terms which the United States
Government used on the same day. Joseph Bonaparte, entering his new
kingdom, found himself a king without subjects. Arriving July 20 at
Madrid, Joseph heard nothing but news of rebellion and disaster. On
that day some twenty thousand French troops under General Dupont,
advancing on Seville and Cadiz, were surrounded in the Sierra Morena,
and laid down their arms to a patriot Spanish force. A few days after-
ward the French fleet at Cadiz surrendered. A patriot Junta assumed
the Government of Spain. Quick escape from Madrid became Joseph’s
most pressing necessity if he were to save his life. During one July week
he reigned over his gloomy capital, and fled, July 29, with all the French
forces still uncaptured, to the provinces beyond the Ebro.

This disaster was quickly followed by another. Junot and his army,
far beyond support at Lisbon, suddenly learned that a British force under
Arthur Wellesley had landed, August 1, about one hundred miles to the
north of Lisbon and was marching on that city. Junot had no choice but
to fight, and August 21 he lost the battle of Vimieiro. August 30, at
Cintra, he consented to evacuate Portugal, on condition that he and his
twenty-two thousand men should be conveyed by sea to France.

Never before in Napoleon’s career had he received two simultaneous
shocks so violent. The whole of Spain and Portugal, from Lisbon to
Saragossa, by a spasmodic effort freed itself from Bonaparte or Bourbon;
but this was nothing — a single campaign would recover the peninsula.
The real blow was in the loss of Cadiz and Lisbon, of the ficets and work-
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shops that were to restore French power on the ocean. Most fatal stroke
of all, the Spanish colonies were thenceforward beyond reach, and the
dream of universal tmpire was already dissolved into occan mist. Napo-
leon had found the limits of his range, and saw the power of England
rise, more defiant than ever, over the ruin and desolation of Spain.



CHAPTER FIFTY-SEVEN
Failure of Emédrgo

EARLY IN AUGUST, at the time when public feeling against the embargo
was beginning to turn into personal hatred of Jefferson, news of the
Spanish outbreak reached America, and put a new weapon into Federalist
hands. The embargo, in its effects upon Spain and her colonics, was a
powerful weapon to aid Napoleon in his assault on Spanish liberty and in
his effort to gain mastery of the ocean. In an instant England appeared
as the champion of human liberty and America as an accomplice of des-
potism. Jefferson, in his pursuit of Florida, lost what was a thousand
times more valuable to him than territory — the moral leadership which
belonged to the head of democracy. The New England Federalists
seized their advantage and proclaimed themselves the friends of Spain
and freedom. Their press rang with denunciations of Napoleon and of
Jefferson his tool. For the first time in many years the Essex Junto
stood forward as champions of popular liberty.

So deeply mired was Jefferson in the ruts of his Spanish policy and
prejudices that he could not at once understand the revolution which had
taken place. On hearing the earlier reports of Spanish resistance, his
first thought was selfish. ‘I am glad to see that Spain is likcly to give
Bonaparte employment. Tant micux pour nous!’

The victories at Bailen and Vimieiro, the flight of Joseph from Madrid,
the outburst of English enthusiasm for Spain, and the loud echo from
New England, in the anxieties of a general clection, brought the President
to wider views. October 22 the Cabinet debated the subject, arriving at
a new result, which Jefferson recorded in his memoranda:

Unanimously agreed in the sentiments which should be unauthoritatively
expressed by our agents to influential persons in Cuba and Mexico; to
wit: ‘If you remain under the dominion of the kingdom and family of
Spain, we are contented; but we should be extremely unwilling to see you
pass under the dominion or ascendency of France or England. In the
latter case, should you choose to declare independence, we cannot now
commit ourselves by saying we would make common cause with you, but
must reserve ourselves to act according to the then existing circumstances;
but in our proceedings we shall be influenced by friendship to you, by a

'
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firm feeling that our interests arc intimately connected, and by the strong-
est repugnance to see you under subordination to either France or England,
either politically or commercially.’

No allusion to Florida was made in this outline of a new policy, and
none was needed, for Florida would obviously fall to the United States.
The Spanish patriots — who were as little disposed as Don Carlos IV
and the Prince of Peace to sce their empire dismembered, and who knew
as well as Godoy and Cevallos the motives that controlled the United
States Government — listened with only moderate confidence to the
protests which Jefferson, through various agents, made at Havana,
Mexico, and New Orleans.

The patriotic junta at Cadiz, which represented the Empire of Spain,
could hardly believe in the warm friendship which admitted its object of
excluding them from influence over their own colonies. In private,
Jefferson avowed that American interests rather required the failure of
the Spanish insurrection. ‘Bonaparte, having Spain at his feet, will look
immediately to the Spanish colonies, and think our neutrality cheaply
purchased by a repeal of the illegal parts of his decrees, with perhaps
the Floridas thrown into the bargain.” In truth, Jefferson and the
Southern interest cared nothing for Spanish patriotism; and their in-
difference was reflected in their press. The independence of the Spanish
colonies was the chief object of American policy; and the patriots of
Spain had no warmer friends than the Administration of the United
States so far as they helped and hurried this great catastrophe; but be-
yond this purpose Jefferson did not look. '

In the Eastern States the Democratic and Southern indifference to-
ward the terrible struggle raging in Spain helped to stimulate the anger
against Jcfferson, which had already swept many firm Republicans into
sympathy with Federalism. In their minds indifference to Spain meant
submission to Napoleon and hatred of England; it proved the true mo-
tives which had induced the President to suppress Monroe's treaty and
to impose the Non-Importation Act and the embargo; it called for
vehement, universal, decisive protest. The New England conscience,
which had never submitted to the authority of Jefferson, rose with an
outburst of fervor toward the Spaniards, and clung more energetically
than ever to the cause of England — which seemed at last, beyond the
possibility of doubt, to have the sanction of freedom. Every day made
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Jefferson’s position less defensible and shook the confidence of his friends.

With the sanguine temper which had made him victorious in so many
trials, the President hoped for another success. He still thought that
England must yield under the grinding deprivations of the embargo, and
he was firm in the intention to exact his own terms of repeal. Pinkney’s
earlier dispatches offered a vague hope that Canning might withdraw the
orders; and at this glimpse of sunshine Jefferson’s spirits became buoyant.

To England, accordingly, the President looked for some sign of suc-
cessful coercion — some proof that the embargo had been felt, or at least
some encouragement to hold that its continuance might save him from
the impending alternative of submission or war; and he had not long to
wait. The Hope, bringing Canning’s letters of September 23, made so
quick a voyage that Pinkney’s dispatches came to hand October 28, as
the President was preparing his Annual Message to Congress for its
special meeting November 7.

Had Canning chosen the moment when his defiance should have most
effect, he would certainly have selected the instant when the elections
showed that Jefferson’s authority had reached its limit. Friends and
enemies alike united in telling the President that his theory of states-
manship had failed and must be thrown aside. The rapid decline of his
authority was measured by the private language of representative men,
speaking opinions not meant for popular effect. In the whole Union no
men could be found more distinctly representative than Wilson Cary
Nicholas, James Monroe, John Marshall, and Rufus King. Of these,
Nicholas was distinguished as being the President’s warm and sym-
pathetic friend, whose opinions had more weight and whose relations
with him were more confidential than those of any other person not in
the Cabinet; but even Nicholas thought himself required to prepare the
President’s mind for abandoning his favorite policy.

This admission of helplessness coming from the oldest Virginian Re-
publicans betrayed the discouragement of all Jefferson’s truest friends,
and accorded with the language of Monroe, who, whatever might be his
personal jealousies, was still Republican in spirit.

If Wilson Cary Nicholas and James Monroe stood in such attitudes
toward the Administration, admitting or proclaiming that its policy had
failed and that it could command no further confidence, what could be
expected from the Federalists, who for eight years had foretold the
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failure? New England rang with cries for disunion. The Federalist
leaders thought best to disavow treasonable intentions; but they fell with
their old bitterness on the personal character of President Jefferson and
trampled it deep in the mire. Many of the ablest and most liberal
Federalist leaders had lagged behind or left the party, but the zealots of
Pickering’s class were stronger than ever. Pickering bent his energies to
the task of proving that Jefferson was a tool of Napoleon and that the
embargo was laid in consequence of Napoleon’s command. The success
of this political delusion, both in England and America, was astounding.
Even a mind so vigorous and a judgment so calm as that of Chief Justice
Marshall bent under this popular imposture.

Nothing can be more completely demonstrated [he wrote to Pickering]
than the inefficacy of the embargo; yet that demonstration seems to be of
no avail. I fear most seriously that the same spirit which so tenaciously
maintains this measure will impel us to a war with the only Power which
protects any part of the civilized world from the despotism of that tyrant
with whom we shall then be arranged. You have shown that the principle
commonly called the Rule of 1756 is of much earlier date, and I fear have
also shown to what influences the embargo is to be traced.

Chief Justice Marshall had read Canning’s insulting note of September
23 more than a month before this letter to Pickering was written; yet the
idea of resenting it seemed not to enter his mind. Napoleon alone was
the terror of Federalism; and this unreasoning fear exercised upon
Marshall’s calm judgment hardly less power than upon the imagination
of Fisher Ames or the austerity of Timothy Pickering. Second only to
Marshall, Rufus King was the foremost of Federalists; and the same hor-
ror of France which blinded Marshall, Ames, and Pickering to the conduct
of England led King to hold the President responsible for Napoleon’s
violence.

King was not only the ablest of the Northern Federalists, he was also
the one who knew England best; and yet even he condescended to the
excuse or palliation of England’s conduct, as though Jefferson could have
resisted the Berlin Decree without also resisting the previous robberies,
impressments, and blockades of Great Britain. So deeply diseased was
American opinion that patriotism vanished, and the best men in the
Union took active part with Lord Castlereagh and George Canning in
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lowering and degrading their own Government. Not even Rufus King
could see the selfishness of that Tory reaction which, without regard to
Napoleon’s decrees, swept Great Britain into collision with the United
States and from which no act of Jefferson could have saved American
interests. Though King were admitted to be right in thinking that the
system of peaceable coercion, the ‘visionary experiments’ of President
Jefferson’s statesmanship, the fretfulness of Madison’s diplomacy, had
invited or challenged insult, yet, after these experiments had evidently
failed and the failure was conceded, a modest share of patriotism might
consent that some policy for the future should be indicated and that some
remnant of national dignity should be saved. No such sentimental
weakness showed itself in the ranks of Federalism. Jefferson’s friends
and enemies alike foresaw that the embargo must be repealed; but neither
friend nor enemy could or would suggest a remedy for national disgrace.

The country had come to a standstill; and some heroic resolution must
be taken. The question pressing for an answer concerned Jefferson more
directly than it concerned anyone else. What did he mean to do? For
eight years in regard to foreign relations his will had been law. Except
when the Senate, in 1806, with disastrous results, obliged him to send
William Pinkney to negotiate a treaty with England, Congress had never
crossed the President’s foreign policy by willful interference; and when
this policy ended in admitted failure, his dignity and duty required him
to stand by the government, and to take the responsibility that belonged
to him. Yet he had no other plan than to postpone further action until
after March 4, 1809, when he should retire from control. With singular
frankness he avowed this wish. After the meeting of Congress, November
7, when doubt and confusion required control, Jefferson drew himself
aside, repeating without a pause the formula that embargo was the
alternative to war. ‘As yet the first seems most to prevail,’ he wrote; and
no one doubted to which side he leaned, though as if it were a matter of
course that he should quit the Government before his successor was even
elected, he added: ‘On this occasion I think it is fair to leave to those who
are to act on them the decisions they prefer, being myself but a spectator.
I should not feel justified in directing measures which those who are to
execute them would disapprove.’

Although Madison could not become even President-elect before the
first Wednesday in December, when the electors were to give their votes;
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and although the official declaration of this vote could not take place
before the second Wednesday in February — Jefferson insisted that his
functions were merely formal from the moment when the name of his
probable successor was known.

Had Jefferson strictly carried out his doctrine and abstained from in-
terference of any kind in the decision of a future policy, the confusion
in Congress might have been less than it was and the chance of agree-
ment might have been greater; but while apparently refusing to interfere,
in effect he exerted his influence to prevent change; and to prevent a
change of measures was to maintain the embargo. In insisting that the
whole matter should be left to the next Congress and President, Jefferson
resisted the popular pressure for repeal, embarrassing his successor, dis-
tracting the Legislature, and destroying the remnants of his own pop-
ularity. Especially the Eastern Democrats, who had reason to believe
that in New England the Union depended on repeal, were exasperated
to find Jefferson, though declaring neutrality, yet privately exerting his
influence to postpone action until the meeting of another Congress.

All accounts agreed that, while refusing to act officially, the President
resisted every attempt to change, during his time, the policy he had
cestablished. Canning’s defiance and Napoleon’s discipline reduced him
to silence and helplessness; but even when prostrate and alone, he clung
to the remnant of his system. Disaster upon disaster, mortification upon
mortification, crowded fast upon the man whose triumphs had been so
brilliant, but whose last hope was to escape a public censure more humili-
ating than any yet inflicted on a President of the United States. The
interest attached to the history of his Administration — an interest at
all times singularly personal — centered at last upon the single pdint of
his personality, all eyes fixing themselves upon the desperate malice
with which his ancient enemies strove to drive him from his cover and
the painful efforts with which he still sought to escape their fangs.

November 8, President Jefferson sent to Congress his last Annual
Message, and with it the correspondence of Pinkney and Armstrong.
Intent as the public was upon foreign affairs alone, the Message had no
further interest than as it dealt with the question of embargo; but Jeffer-
son showed that he had lost none of his old dexterity, for he succeeded
in giving to his words the appearance of conveying no opinion:
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Under a continuance of the belligerent measures which, in defiance of
laws which consecrate the rights of neutrals, overspread the ocean with
danger, it will rest with the wisdom of Congress to decide on the course
best adapted to such a state of things; and bringing with them as they
do from every part of the Union the sentiments of our constituents, my
confidence is strengthened that in forming this decision they will, with an
unerring regard to the rights and interests of the nation, weigh and compare
the painful alternatives out of which a choice is to be made.

The favorite assumption that Congress, not the Executive, directed
the national policy served again to veil Jefferson’s wishes, but in this
instance with some reason; for no one was ignorant that a strong party
in Congress meant if possible to take the decision out of the President’s
hands. Only by the phrase ‘painful alternatives’ did he hint an opinion,
for everyone knew that by this phrase he aimed at narrowing the choice
of Congress between embargo and war. One other paragraph suggested
that his own choice would favor continued commercial restrictions:

The situation into which we have thus been forced has impelled us to
apply a portion of our industry and capital to internal manufactures and
improvements. The extent of this conversion is daily increasing, and little
doubt remains that the establishments formed and forming will — under
the auspices of cheaper material and subsistence, the freedom of labor
from taxation with us, and of protecting duties and prohibitions — be-
come permanent.

Not only the Message but also the language, still more emphatic, of
private letters showed that Jefferson had become a convert to manu-
factures and protected industries. ‘My idea is that we should encourage
home manufactures,” he said, ‘to the extent of our own consumption of
everything of which we raise the raw material.” This avowal did much to
increase the ill-will of New England, where Jefferson’s hostility to foreign
commerce as a New England interest was believed to be inveterate and
deadly; but the anger of Massachusetts and Connecticut at the wound
thus threatened to their commerce and shipping could not exceed the
perplexity of Southern Republicans, who remembered that Jefferson in
1801 promised them ‘a wise and frugal government, which shall restrain
men from injuring one another; which shall leave them otherwise free to
regulate their own pursuits of industry and improvement, and shall not
take from the mouth of labor the bread it has earned.” Not only manu-
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factures but also internal improvements were to become a chief object of
governmental regulation to an extent which no Federalist had ever sug-
gested. The absolute prohibition of foreign manufactures was to go hand
in hand with a magnificent scheme of public works. In the actual state of
public affairs — without revenue and on the verge of war with France
and England — Jefferson exposed himself to ridicule by alluding to a
surplus; years were to pass before the employment of surplus revenue was
to become a practical question in American politics, and long before it
rose Jefferson had reverted to his old theories of ‘a wise and frugal gov-
ernment’; but in 1808, as President, he welcomed any diversion which
enabled him to avoid the need of facing the specter of war.

The contrast between the President’s sanguine visions and the reality
was made the more striking by Gallatin’s Annual Report, sent to Con-
gress a few days later. The President spoke for the Administration that
was passing away, while Gallatin represented the Administration to come.
That the Secretary lcaned toward war was notorious, and that he was
Madison’s chief adviser, perhaps to be the head of his Cabinet, was known
or suspected by the men who stood nearest to the Secretary of State, and
who studied Gallatin’s Report as though it were Madison’s first Annual
Message. The more carefully it was studied, the more distinctly it took
the character of a war budget.

Receipts from customs had stopped, but the accrued revenue of 1807
had brought nearly eighteen million dollars into the Treasury; and
sixteen millions would remain to supply the wants of Government at
the close of the year 1808. Of this sum the ordinary annual appropriations
would consume thirteen millions. Starting from this point, Gallatin dis-
cussed the financial effect of the alternatives which lay before Congress.
The first was that of total or partial submission to the belligerents; ‘and
as, in pursuing that humble path, means of defense will become unneces-
sary — as there will be no occasion for either an army or a navy —it is
believed that there would be no difficulty in reducing the public ex-
penditures to a rate corresponding with the fragments of impost which
might still be collected.” The second choice of measures was to continue
the embargo without war; and in this case the Government might be
supported for two years with no greater effort than that of borrowing
five million dollars. Finally, Congress might declare war against one
or both of the belligerents, and in that event Gallatin asked only leave to
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contract loans. . Persons familiar with the history of the Republican
Party and with the career of its leaders when in opposition could not but
wonder that Gallatin should ask leave to create a new funded debt for
purposes of war.

Gallatin carried courage as far as the President camed caution., While
Jefferson talked of surpluses and deprecated ‘painful alternatives,” his
Secretary of the Treasury invited Congress to declare war against the
two greatest Powers in the world and promised to support it without im-
posing a single internal tax.

Indecision ruled everywhere at Washington down to the close of the
year. Jefferson would say nothing at all; Madison would say nothing
decisive; and Gallatin struggled in vain to give a show of character to the
Government.

The chaos prevailing in the White House was order compared with the
condition of Congress; and there again Gallatin was forced to guide.
After listening, November 8, to the President’s serene Message, the
House three days later referred the paragraphs concerning foreign Powers
to a committee with G. W. Campbell at its head. Gallatin wrote a report,
which was probably approved by Madison, and which Campbell pre-
sented November 22 to the House. Campbell’s report closed by recom-
mending three resolutions as common ground on which all parties could
take their stand, whether for war or embargo. The first declared that
the United States could not, without a sacrifice of their rights, honor, and
independence, submit to the edicts of Great Britain and France. The
second declared the expediency of excluding from the United States the
ships and the products of all Powers which maintained these edicts in
force. The third recommended immediate preparations for defense.

The Federalists were eager for attack; and when, November 28, Camp-
bell called up the first of his resolutions for debate, Josiah Quincy fell upon
it with violence not easily forgotten and doubtless meant to strengthen
the general belief that New England would control her passions no longer.
‘The course advocated in that report is in my opinion loathsome,” he
said; ‘the spirit it breathes disgraceful; the temper it is likely to inspire
neither calculated to regain the rights we have lost nor to preserve those
which remain to us.’

On the opposite side, the Republicans seemed for the most part fairly
cowed by the vigor with which the Federalists defied the embargo and war
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at once. Nothing in American history offered a more interesting illustra-
tion of the first stage of the national character than the open avowals
by Congress in 1808 of motives closely akin to fear. America as a nation
could run no serious military peril, even though she declared war on
England and France at once. The worst military disaster that could
happen would be a bombardment or temporary occupation of some sea-
board city; the most terrible punishment within the range of possibility
was the burning of a few small wooden towns which could be rebuilt in
three months and whose destruction implied no necessary loss of life.
Neither England nor France had armies to spare for permanent conquest
in America; but so thoroughly had the theory of peaceable coercion taken
possession of the national character that men of courage appealed to
motives such as in a private dispute they would have thought degrading.

With all John Randolph’s waywardness and extravagance, he alone
shone among this mass of mediocrities, and like the water-snakes in
Coleridge’s silent ocean his every track was a flash of golden fire. At
moments he struck passionately at his own favorite companions — at
Macon and Williams — as he struck at Jefferson. The steady decline of
public spirit stung his pride. ‘It was in that fatal session of 1805-1806
that the policy of yielding to anything that might come in the shape of
insult and aggression was commenced. The result was then foretold.
It has happened.” Speaker after speaker reveled in narrating the long
list of insults and outrages which America had endured in patience.
‘The House will pardon me,” said Randolph, ‘if I forbear a minute re-
capitulation of the wrongs which we have received, not only from the two
great belligerents of Ifurope, but from the little belligerents also. I can-
not, like Shylock, take a pleasure in saying, “On such a day you called me
dog; on such a day you spit upon my gabardine.””’

Yet Randolph himself fell naturally into the habits at which he sneered;
and his wit alone raised him above the common level of Congressmen.
However happily he might ridicule the timidity and awkwardness of
others, he never advanced a positive opinion of his own without repudiat-
ing it the moment he was taken at his word. ‘I would scufile for com-
merce,’ he said; and the phrase was itself unworthy of a proud people like
the Virginians; but when Campbell tried to force from him a pledge to
stand by the Government in asscrting the national rights, Randolph
declined to gratify him.
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Of all the speakers, George Washington Campbell — the reputed
author of the report — alone took a tone which might almost be called
courageous; but even Campbell thought more of tactics than of dignity.
The most interesting part of Campbell’s speech was his awkward ad-
mission that peaceable coercion had failed. Such an admission was
equivalent to avowing that the Republican Party had failed, but Camp-
bell stumbled as he best could through this mortifying confession.

We could not foresee [he said] that the Governments of those Powers
would not regard the distress and sufferings of their own people; that
France would suffer her West Indian colonies to be almost desolated with
famine, and to be compelled to apply to their inveterate enemy to save
them from actual starvation rather than revoke her decrees; nor could we
know that the Government of Great Britain would be regardless of the
complaints and representations of her manufacturers and a respectable
portion of her merchants; that it would lend a deaf ear to the hungry cries
of the starving mechanics and silence their just and loud complaints with
the thunder of their murdering guns and quench their hunger with a shower
of balls instead of bread. We cannot be culpable for not anticipating such
events.

Yet for twenty years the Federalists had wearied the country with
prophecies of these disappointments which Campbell and his Republican
friends said they could not be expected to foresce. Jefferson had per-
sisted in acting on the theory that he could enforce national rights by
peaceable means; had staked his reputation, after long and varied ex-
perience, on the soundness of this doctrine which his political opponents
denied; and suddenly, on its failure, his followers pleaded that they could
not be held culpable for failing to anticipate what their political opponents
had steadily foretold. The confession of such an oversight was more fatal
than all the sneers of Randolph and the taunts of Quincy.

There Congress for the moment stopped. Nothing was decided; and
the year closed, leaving Congress, as Gallatin told his friend Nicholson,
in ‘great confusion and perplexity.’



CHAPTER FIFTY-EIGHT

Diplomacy and Conspiracy

BEHIN’D THE SCENES diplomacy was at work, actively seeking to dis-
entangle or to embroil the plot of the culminating drama. Erskine, the
British minister, sympathizing with his father, Lord Erskine, in good-will
to America, hurried from one to another of the officials at Washington,
trying to penetrate their thoughts — an easy task — and to find a bond
of union between them and George Canning — a problem as difficult as
any that ever diplomacy solved.

December 3, the British minister wrote to his Government the first of
a series of dispatches calculated to bring Canning to his senses. ‘The
Government and party in power,’” said he, ‘unequivocally express their
resolution not to remove the embargo, except by substituting war meas-
ures against both belligerents unless either or both should relax their re-
strictions upon necutral commerce.” To reinforce this assertion Erskine
reported an interview with Secretary Madison, who after reviewing the
facts had ended by explicitly threatening a declaration of war.

War was the incessant burden of Erskine’s reports; and he spared no
pains to convince his Government that Madison had both the power and
the will to fight. The next House, he reported, would contain ninety-five
Republicans to forty-seven Federalists: ‘ This great majority (which may
vary a few votes) would, of course, be strong enough to carry any meas-
ures they wished; and all their declarations and their whole conduct in-
dicate a determination to adopt the line of conduct which I have before
pointed out.” Only three days carlier, Gallatin had privately written to
Nicholson that great confusion and perplexity reigned in Congress, that
Madison was slow in taking his ground, and that if war were not speedily
determined, submission would soon ensue; but Erskine reported little
of this pacific temper, while he sent cry after cry of alarm to London.
Toward the end of December, Congress took up a measure for raising fifty
thousand troops. Erskine asked the Secretary of State for what purpose
so large a force was needed; and Madison replied that the force was no
greater than the state of relations with foreign Powers required.

Following one letter by another, in these varied tones of menace,
Erskine ended by sending, January 3, 1809, a Message from the President-

sar
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elect which wanted nothing except a vote of Congress to make it a formal
announcement of war: ‘T have the honor to inform you that I had an in-
terview with Mr. Madison yesterday, in which he declared that he had
no hesitation in assuring me that in the event of the belligerent nations
continuing their restrictions upon neutral commerce, it was intended by
this Government to recommend to Congress to pass a law to allow
merchant ships to arm and also to issue letters of marque and reprisal.’

Erskine added that the Federalists also thought Great Britain wrong
in refusing the American offers, and that they, too, declared war to be
necessary if these offers should still be rejected. He wrote to Sir James
Craig to be on guard against sudden attack from the United States.
These measures taken, the British minister at Washington waited the
echo of his alarm-cries and Madison left the matter in his hands. No in-
structions were sent to Pinkney, no impulse was given to the press; and
the public obstinately refused to believe in war. Perhaps Erskine re-
ceived some assurance that no decisive step would be taken before he
should have obtained from London a reply to his dispatches of December;
but whether or not he had any tacit understanding with Madison, his
ambition to reunite the two countries and to effect the diplomatic triumph
of a treaty certainly led him to exaggerate the warlike ardor of America
and to cross by a virtuous intrigue what he thought the ruinous career
of his own Government.

Whatever might be their differences in other respects, Jefferson, Madi-
son, and Gallatin agreed on one common point. They held that until some
decision should be reached in regard to peace or war, the embargo must
be maintained and enforced. Neither the dignity nor the interests of the
country permitted a sudden break with the policy which had been
steadily followed during the eight years of their power. Abandonment
of embargo without war was an act of submission to England and France
which would certainly destroy whatever national self-respect might have
survived the mortifications of the last three years; but if the embargo
was to be maintained, it must be enforced, and without new legislation
strict enforcement was impossible.

This new legislation was demanded by Gallatin, in a letter of November
24, 1808, addressed to Senator Giles of the Senate committee. December
8, Giles introduced a bill conferring on Gallatin the ‘arbitrary’ and ‘dan-
gerous’ powers he asked. The new measure answered Gallatin’s de-
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scription. Henceforward coasting-vessels were to give impossible bonds,
to the amount of six times the value of vessel and cargo, before any cargo
could even be put on board; collectors might refuse permission to load,
even when such bonds were offered, ‘ whenever in their opinion there is an
intention to violate the embargo’; in suits on the bond, the defense was
to be denied the right to plead capture, distress, or accident, except under
conditions so stringent as to be practically useless; no shipowner could
sell a vessel without giving bond, to the amount of three hundred dollars
for each ton, that such ship should not contravene any of the Embargo
Acts; and by Section 9, the whole country was placed under the arbitrary
will of Government officials: ‘The collectors of all the districts of the
United States shall . . . take into their custody specie or other articles of
domestic growth, produce, or manufacture ... when in vessels, carts,
wagons, sleighs, or any other carriage, or in any manner apparently on
their way toward the territory of a foreign nation or the vicinity thereof,
or toward a place whence such articles are intended to be exported’; and
after seizure, the property could be recovered by the owner only on giving
bonds for its transfer to some place ‘whence, in the opinion of the col-
lector, there shall not be any danger of such articles being exported.’
The collectors not only received authority to seize at discretion all mer-
chandise anywhere in transit, but were also declared to be not liable at law
for their seizures, and were to be supported at need by the army, navy,
and militia. .

In vain did Giles and the other stanch followers of Jefferson affirm
that this bill contained no new principles of legislation; that it was but an
extension of ordinary customs laws; and that its provisions were ‘neces-
sary and proper’ for carrying into effect the great constitutional object —
the embargo. Giles held so many opinions in the course of his public life
that no Federalist cared to ask what might be his mc;mentary theory of
the Constitution; but whether as a matter of law he was right or wrong,
he could hardly dispute what Gallatin in private admitted, that the
powers conferred by his Enforcement Act were ‘most arbitrary,’ ‘equally
dangerous and odious.” The Senate knew well the nature of the work
required to be done, but twenty Senators voted for the passage of the
bill, December 21, while only seven voted in the negative.

In pressing this measure at a moment so critical, Gallatin may have
been bold, but was certainly not discreet. If he meant to break down the
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embargo, he chose the best means; if he meant to enforce it, he chose the
worst. The Eastern Congressmen made no secret that they hoped to
resist the law by force.

They were as good as their word, and when the bill came before the

House arguments and threats were closely intermingled; but the ma-
jority listened to neither, and January 5, in a night session, forced the
bill to its passage by a vote of seventy-one to thirty-two. January 9,
the Enforcement Act received the signature of President Jefferson.
. Senator Pickering of Massachusetts alone profited by this audacious
act of power; and his overwhelming triumph became every day more
imminent as the conservative forces of New England arrayed themselves
under his lead. Since the departure of Rose, in March, he had basked in
the sunshine of success and flattery. Single-handed, he had driven John
Quincy Adams from public life and had won the State of Massachusetts,
for the first time, to the pure principles of the Essex Junto. That he felt,
in his austere way, the full delight of repaying to the son the debt which
for eight years he had owed to the father was not to be doubted; but a
keener pleasure came to him from beyond the ocean. If the American of
that day, and especially the New England Federalist, conccived of any
applause as deciding the success of his carcer, he thought first of London
and the society of England; although the imagination could scarcely in-
vent a means by which an American could win the favor of a British
public. This impossibility Pickering accomplished.  His name and that
of John Randolph were as familiar in London as in Philadelphia; and Rose
maintained with him a correspondence calculated to make him think his
success even greater than it was.

In Professor Adams’s downfall, at which I cannot but be amused [wrote
Rose from London], I see but the forerunner of catastrophes of greater
mark. This practical answer of your common constituents to his reply to
you was the best possible. By his retreat he admits his conviction that you
were the fitter representative of the State Legislature. In the conversion
of Massachusetts, I see the augury of all that is of good promise with you.
Let me thank you cordially for your answer to Governor Sullivan. It
was an unintentional kindness on his part thus to compel you to bring to
the public eye the narrative of a life so interesting, so virtuous, and hon-
orable. Receive the assurance of how anxiously I hope that, though grati-
tude is not the virtue of republics, the remaining years of that life may re-
ceive from yours the tribute of honor and confidence it has so many claims
to. In so wishing, I wish the prosperity of your country.



1808) Diplomacy and Conspiracy 525

Flattery like this was rare in Pickering’s toilsome career; and man,
almost in the full degree of his antipathy to demagogy, yearns for the pop-
ular regard he will not seek. Pickering’s ambition to be President was
as evident to George Rose as it had been to John Adams. ‘Under the
simple appearance of a bald head and straight hair,” wrote the ex-Presi-
dent, ‘and under professions of profound republicanism, he conceals an
ardent ambition, envious of every superior, and impatient of obscurity.’
That Timothy Pickering could become President over a Union which
embraced Pennsylvania and Virginia was an idea so extravagant as to be
unsuited even to coarsely flavored flattery; but that he should be the chief
of a New England Confederation was not an extravagant thought, and
toward a New England Confederation events were tending fast. The idea
of combining the Eastern States against the embargo — which if carried
out put an end to the Union under the actual Constitution — belonged
peculiarly to Pickering; and since he first suggested it in his famous em-
bargo letter, it had won its way until New England was ripe for the
scheme.

One by one, the Federalist lcaders gave their adhesion to the plan. Of
all these gentlemen, the most cautious — or, as his associates thought,
the most timid — was Harrison Gray Otis, President of the Massachusetts
Senate. Never in the full confidence of the Essex Junto, he was always a

_favorite orator in Boston town meeting and a leader in Boston society;
but he followed impulses stronger than his own will, and when he adopted
an opinion, his party might feel secure of popular sympathy. December
15, 1808, Otis wrote from Boston to Josiah Quincy at Washington a letter
which enrolled him under Pickering’s command.

In thus adopting the project of Timothy Pickering for a New England
Convention, Otis was not less careful than Pickering himself to suggest
that the new Union should be consistent with the old one. American
constitutional lawyers never wholly succeeded in devising any form of
secession which might not coexist with some conceivable form of Union,
such as was recognized by the Declaration of July 4, 1776; but no form of
secession ever yet devised could coexist with the Union as it was settled by
the Constitution of 1789; and the project of a New England Convention,
if carried out, dissolved that Union as effectually as though it had no
other object. ‘No State shall, without the consent of Congress, . . . enter
into an agreement or compact with another State.” Such was the em-
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phatic interdict of the Constitution, and its violation must either destroy
the Union or give it new shape. Doubtless the Union had existed before
the Constitution, and might survive it; but a convention of the New Eng-
land States could not exist under the Union of 1789.

Another Boston Federalist, second to none in standing, who unlike
Otis was implicitly trusted by the Essex Junto, wrote a letter to Senator
Pickering, dated five days later:

Our Legislature will convene on January 24 [began Christopher Gore],
and what will be proper for us to do under the circumstances of our times is
doubtful. . . . By conversing with our friends from the other New England
States you might be able to know in what measures and to what extent
they would be willing to co-operate with Massachusetts. The opposition,
to be effectual of any change in our rulers, should comprehend all New
England. These men, 1 fear, are too inflated with their own popularity
to attend to any call short of this.

The action of Massachusetts was to be concerted with Connecticut;
and the leading Senator from Connecticut was Pickering’s very intimate
friend, James Hillhouse, whose amendments to the Constitution, pro-
posed to the Senate in an elaborate speech April 12, 1808, were supposed
by his enemies to be meant as the framework for a new Confederacy, since
they were obviously inconsistent with the actual Union. Hillhouse and
Pickering stood in the most confidential relations.  From their common
chamber in the ‘Six Buildings’ they carried on their joint campaign
against the embargo; and with this advantage, Pickering in due time
wrote his reply to Christopher Gore for the guidance of the Massachusetts
General Court:

New England must be united in whatever great measure shall be
adopted. During the approaching session of our Legislature there may
be such further advances in mischief as may distinctly point out the
course proper to be adopted. A convention of delegates from those
States, including Vermont, seems obviously proper and necessary. Massa-
chusetts and Connecticut can appoint their delegates with regular au-
thority. In the other States they must be appointed by county conven-
tions. A strong and solemn address, stating as conciscly as will consist
with perspicuity the evil conduct of our Administration as manifested in
their measures, ought to be prepared to be laid before our Legislature
when they meet, to be sent forth by their authority, to the people.
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Such action was not to be easily reconciled with the spirit of the Con-
stitution, but Pickering attempted to show its accord; and in doing so he
completed the revolution which for eight years had been in progress
between the two political parties. He placed himself on the precise
ground taken by Jefferson in the Kentucky Resolutions of 1798:

Pray look into the Constitution, and particularly to the tenth article of
‘the Amendments. How are the powers reserved to the States respectively,
or to the people, to be maintained, but by the respective States judging for
themselves, and putting their negative on the usurpations of the general
Government?

That the States of Massachusetts and Connecticut meant to take the
first step toward a change in the Federal compact was an open secret at
Washington before the close of the year. As early as December 29, Gal-
latin wrote to his friend Nicholson a letter of alarm, which showed that
the plan was already known by the Administration:

I actually want time to give you more details, but I will only state that
it is intended by the Essex Junto to prevail on the Massachusetts Legisla-
ture, who meet in two or three weeks, to call a convention of the five New
England States, to which they will try to add New York; and that some-
thing must be done to anticipate and defeat that nefarious plan.

Among the Federalists were still a few moderate men who hoped that
Jefferson might not be wholly sold to France, and who were inclined to ask
for some new policy of peace or war before throwing aside the old one.
Pickering’s contempt for such allies echoed the old feuds of New England,
and revived the root-and-branch politics of the Puritans:

Some cautions men here of the Federal Party discovered an inclination
to wait patiently till the first of June the promised repeal of the embargo.
God forbid that such timid counsels should reach the Massachusetts
Legislature, or a single member of it! A million of such men would not
save the nation. Defeat the accursed measure now, and you not only
restore commerce, agriculture, and all sorts of business to activity, but
you save the country from a British war.

Pickering’s instructions were exactly followed; his temper infused it-
self through every New England town. Once more, a popular delusion
approaching frenzy — a temporary insanity like the witchcraft and
Quaker mania — took possession of the mind of Massachusetts and
broke into acute expression. Not for a full century had the old Puritan
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prejudice shown itself in a form so unreasoning and unreasonable; but
although nearly one-half the people held aloof and wondered at the mad-
ness of their own society, the whole history of Massachusetts, a succession
of half-forgotten disputes and rebellions, seemed to concentrate itself for
the last time in a burst of expiring passions, mingled with hatred of
Virginia and loathing for Jefferson, until the rest of America, perplexed
at paroxysms so eccentric, wondered whether the spirit of Massachusetts
liberty could ever have been sane.

The decision reached by the Federalists at Washington, on or about
December 21, when the Enforcement Bill passed the Senate, was quickly
known in Massachusetts and without further delay the crisis was begun.
Hitherto the tone of remonstrance had been respectful; under cover of
the Enforcement Act it rapidly became revolutionary. December 27,
1808, a town meeting at Bath, in the district of Maine, set the movement
on foot by adopting resolutions which called on the General Court, at its
meeting January 25, to take ‘immediate steps for relieving the people,
either by themselves alone, or in concert with other commercial States’;
while at the same time the town voted ‘that a committee of safety and
correspondence be appointed, to correspond with committees of other
towns, . . . and to watch over the safety of the people of this town and to
give immediate alarm so that a regular meeting may be called whenever
any infringement of their rights shall be committed by any person or
persons under color and pretense of authority derived from any officer of
the United States.” This extravagant measure, evidently intended to re-
call the memory of 1776, was quickly imitated by the town of Gloucester,
which, January 12, formally approved the resolutions passed at Bath,
voted an address to the General Court, and appointed a committee of
public safety. In the county of Hampshire, a public meeting of citizens,
January 12, announced ‘that causes are continually occurring which tend
to produce a most calamitous event — a dissolution of the Union’; and
January 20, a meeting at Newburyport, in Senator Pickering’s County
of Essex, voted, ‘That we will not aid or assist in the execution of the
several embargo laws, especially the last, and that we consider all those
who do as violators of the Constitution of the United States and of this
Commonwealth; and that they be considered as unworthy of the con-
fidence and esteem of their fellow-citizens.’

On the eve of the day fixed for the General Court to assemble, in the
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midst of town meetings far and near, Boston called a meeting at Faneuil
Hall. The town had grown to a population of more than thirty thousand,
but old citizens could remember the Stamp Act and the Boston Port Bill;
they had seen Samuel Adams and John Hancock defy, in Faneuil Hall,
the power of Parliament; and the same town meeting which had stood
firm against King George, even to the point of armed rebellion, still ex-
isted unchanged, ready to resist the tyranny of a Virginia President.
January 23, four thousand citizens swarmed to the hall famous for its
Revolutionary associations; and in the minds of all, either as a hope or a
terror, revolution was the absorbing thought.

Socially, nothing could be more respectable than the assembly. The
names of the committee appointed to draft a petition to the General
Court included the best people of Boston. The list began with Thomas
Handasyd Perkins, and included Samuel Dexter, John Warren, William
Sullivan, Jonathan Mason, and Theodore Lyman — members of a city
aristocracy which still existed in vigor as robust as in the -days when
aristocracy was sustained by English example and patronage. Chief
Justice Parsons, who freely expressed his opinion that the embargo was
unconstitutional, had no part in the proceedings; but on his privately
given advice the meeting was to take its stand.

The Essex Junto, willing to escape its own unpopularity, surrendered
the apparent lead to a man who shared in few of the extreme opinions
of Pickering, Parsons, and George Cabot — a man who stood second to
no Federalist in ability, but who had never sympathized with Alexander
Hamilton’s feuds or with factious hostility either to Federalist or to Re-
publican Presidents. Samuel Dexter, Secretary of War in 1800, Secretary
of the Treasury in 1801, a lawyer of the highest standing, had been em-
ployed to argue against the constitutionality of the Embargo Act before
Judge Davis in September, and although he lost his cause, he stoutly
maintained the soundness of his argument. In truth, the question was
still open; and since the trial at Salem, the Enforcement Act had greatly
strengthened constitutional objections already strong. Dexter believed
that his duty required him to join in protesting against such legislation,
and accordingly he took an active part in drafting and defending the
resolutions and memorial reported by his committee, which appealed to
the General Court ‘for their interposition to save the people of this
Commonwealth from the destructive consequences which they apprehend
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to their liberties and property from the continuance of the present system.’

No measure reported by Samuel Dexter was likely to satisfy the hot
temper of a town meeting. The regular resolutions were duly adopted,
with little vigorous opposition, and the meeting adjourned till the next
day; but when the citizens reassembled, January 24, they passed another
resolve, offered by Daniel Sargent, which startled the law-abiding public
of Massachusetts by formally declaring that ‘we will not voluntarily aid
or assist in the execution’ of the Enforcement Act; and that ‘all those
who shall so assist in enforcing upon others the arbitrary and unconstitu-
tional provisions of this Act ought to be considered as enemies to the
Constitution of the United States and of this State and hostile to the
liberties of this people.’

Alarming as was the tone of Boston, Samuel Dexter and his associates
avoided taking open part with the British Government against their own.
Elsewhere no such reticence was shown. Not only in private, in all
places, at every table, did the bitterness of New England temper and the
intensity of local prejudice allow themselves the freest expression, but
the numerous town meetings also showed a spirit rather British than
American. Among many examples a few are worth recalling, to show
the absence of national feeling, and the difficulties and dangers which
stood in the nation’s way.

January 24, the town of Beverly, in Essex County, voted that

They have witnessed with regret too strong a propensity to palliate and
overlook the unjust aggressions of one foreign nation and to exaggerate and
misrepresent the conduct of another; that the measures pursued are
calculated and designed to force us into a war with Great Britain — a war
which would be extremely detrimental to our agriculture, fatal to our com-
merce, and which would probably deprive us forever of the Bank fishery
— and to unite us in alliance with France, whose embrace is death.

The little town of Alfred, in Maine, sent to the General Court a petition
which charged the National Government with endeavoring ‘to provoke
a ruinous and destructive war with England, to gratify the ambition and
caprice, and augment the power, of the tyrant of France.’

These extracts showed the temper in which the Massachusetts Legisla-
ture met. The numerous petitions on the subject of the embargo were
referred to committees. Without loss of time the Senate committee,
February 1, made a report recommending an Act to secure the people of
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the State from ‘unreasonable, arbitrary, and unconstitutional searches
in their dwelling-houses’; to which was added a series of four resolutions,
closing with a formal adoption of the step so long desired by Senator
Pickering.

Resolved, That the Legislature of this Commonwealth will zealously co-
operate with any of the other States in all legal and constitutional meas-
ures for procuring such amendments to the Constitution of the United
States as shall be judged necessary to obtain protection and defense for
commerce, and to give to the commercial States their fair and just con-
sideration in the Government of the Union; and for affording permanent

security, as well as present relief, from the oppressive measures under
which they now suffer.

These resolutions proclaimed that a union of the Eastern States against
the National Government was the earnest wish of Massachusetts; and
the advance thus made was instantly met by Connecticut, where Jona-
than Trumbull, a Federalist of pure stock, who had for ten years filled the
chair of Governor, called a special meeting of the Legislature in pursuance
of the arrangement concerted at Washington.

In calling together the Legislature of Connecticut, Governor Trumbull’s
object of resisting the embargo was avowed. So bluntly did the Federal-
ists proclaim their purpose that, when the Connecticut Legislature met,
February 23, the Governor in his opening speech explained his action as
though it were a matter of course that he should call upon the State to
nullify an Act of Congress.

Whenever our National Legislature [he said] is led to overleap the pre-
scribed bounds of their constitutional powers, on the State Legislatures
in great emergencies devolves the arduous task — it is their right, it be-
comes their duty — to interpose their protecting shield between the rights
and liberties of the people and the assumed power of the general Govern-
ment.

If Madison was not by that time weary of his own words —if the
Resolutions of 1798 and the fatal ‘interpose’ of Virginia had not become
hateful to his ears — he might have found some amusement in the irony
with which Trumbull flung the familiar phrases of Virginia back into her
face; but serious as such conduct was, the mere defiance carried less
alarm than was warranted by the signs of secret concert with England
which the Federalists willingly betrayed. Trumbull and Hillhouse,
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Pickering and Otis, were not necessarily masters of the situation, even
when at the head of all New England; but when they pointed significantly
at the fleets and armies of Great Britain behind them, they carried terror
to the heart of the Union. So little did they hide their attitude toward
the British Government that their organ, the New England Palladium,
published, January 6, Canning’s personal letter of September 23, 1808,
to Pinkney, which Madison had suppressed. How it had been obtained
no one knew. The British Foreign Office seemed to stand in direct com-
munication with Boston, while the Boston Federalists exulted in a
chance to swell what they thought the triumph of George Canning over
their own Federalist friend, William Pinkney.

Tactics like these, unscrupulous though they might be, were effective.
Jefferson and Madison had the best reason to know the force of such
factiousness, for only ten years before, on less provocation, they had
themselves led in Virginia and Kentucky a movement with a similar
purpose; but although their history as leaders of an Opposition implied
agreement in principle with the doings of Massachusetts and Connecticut,
their dignity and interest as Presidents of the United States required them
to carry out the laws they had advised and approved. Whatever might
be the personal wishes of a few men like Pickering. the great mass of
Federalists wished at heart no more harm to the country than to over-
throw and humiliate Jefferson and to cripple Madison from the start;
while the Administration, on its side, in struggling to escape a personal
humiliation, was obliged to adopt any course that offered the best hope
of success, even though it should sacrifice the national character. As
the last weeks of President Jefferson’s Administration approached, this
personal conflict — the bitterness of sixteen years — concentrated its
virulence upon a single point, but that point vital to Jefferson’s fame and
popularity — the embargo.

Rarely in American history has been seen a struggle more furious or
less ennobling than that which took place at Washington in the months of
January and February, 1809. With a bold face, but with small confi-
dence, Madison and Gallatin pressed their measures. After passing the
Enforcement Act on the morning of January 6, Congress turned at once
to a matter even more serious. January 7, a resolution was offered in
the House providing for an early meeting of the next Congress, and in the
short debate that followed, a distinct line began for the first time to
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divide the advocates of war from the partisans of peace. The extra ses-
sion was avowedly to be called for the purpose of declaring war. Simul-
taneously a bill was introduced to raise, arm, and equip fifty thousand
volunteers to serve for the term of two ycars. The fourth Monday in
May was the date proposed for the extra session, and Congress at last
found itself face to face with the naked issue of war.

The effect of the crisis upon Congress was immediate. Doubt, de-
fiance, dismay, and disgust took possession of the Legislature, which
swayed backward and forward from day to day, as courage or fear pre-
vailed. The old Republicans, who could not yield their faith in the
embargo, begged almost piteously for delay.

Macon declared that the embargo was still the people’s choice: ‘As to
the people being tired of the embargo, whenever they want war in pref-
crence to it they will send their petitions here to that effect. . . . Let each
man put the question to his ncighbor whether he will have war or em-
bargo, and there is no doubt but he will answer in favor of the
latter.’

Such reasoning gave a tone of weakness and irresolution to the debate,
while it acted on the Federalists with the force of defiance and drew from
Josiah Quincy a speech which long remained famous and which no Re-
publican ever forgot or forgave.

That this strong, self-asserting Boston gentleman, gifted, ambitious, the
embodiment of Massachusetts traditions and British prejudices, should
feel deep contempt for the moral courage and the understanding of men
whose motives were beyond the range of his sympathies and experience,
was natural; for Josiah Quincy belonged to a class of Americans who cared
so intenscly for their own convictions that they could not care for a nation
which did not represent them; and in his eyes Jefferson was a trans-
parent fraud, his followers were dupes or ruflians, and the nation was
hastening to a fatal crisis. Yet with all this to excuse him, his language
still passed the bounds of license. He began by reaffirming that decep-
tion had been practiced on the House when the President induced it to
adopt the embargo without alluding to its coercive purpose.

So far as concerned President Jefferson, this charge was true; but every-
one knew that Jefferson habitually threw responsibility on Congress, and
after the scandal made by John Randolph in the Spanish affair of 1805,
the House alone was to blame if it incurred consequences which were
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evident on the face of its measures. Quincy next asserted a worse and
more mischievous charge:

Not only that embargo was resorted to as a means of coercion, but from
the first it was never intended by the Administration to do anything else
effectual for the support of our maritime rights. Sir, I am sick — sick to
loathing — of this eternal clamor of ‘war, war, war!’ which has been kept
up almost incessantly on this floor now for more than two years. Sir, if
I can help it, the old women of this country shall not be frightened in this
way any longer. I have been a long time a close observer of what has
been done and said by the majority of this House, and for one I am satis-
fied that no insult, however, gross, offered to us by either France or Great
Britain, could force this majority into the declaration of war. To use a
strong but common expression, it could not be kicked int6 such a declara-
tion by either nation.

Insults are pointless unless they have a foundation of truth or prob-
ability, The Parliament of Great Britain would have laughed at such a
taunt; Napoleon would not have understood what it meant; but Congress
drew a deep breath of dismay, for every member knew that, openly and
secretly, in public and in private, the single decisive argument against
war had been and still was — fear. After four years of outrage such as
would have made the blood of an Englishman or a Frenchman turn to
fire in his veins, not an American could be found, between Canada and
Texas, who avowed the wish to fight. Quincy’s speech produced a
momentary outbreak of passion; hot retorts werec made; the Chamber
rang with epithets of abuse; but still no one professed to want war. The
House twisted and turned like a martyr on his bed of steel, but its torture
was of painful doubt, not of passion.

So far as mere words affected the public mind, Josiah Quincy’s taunt,
not less than the sarcasms of Canning and the arrogance of Napoleon,
stung Americans beyond endurance. His argument, if somewhat brutal,
was strong; and within four-and-twenty hours the House met it in the
only way that could preserve the dignity of Congress and the Administra-
tion, by passing the bill for an extra session with eighty votes against
twenty-six. This result was reached January 20, and seemed to prove
that the Government had overcome its difficulties and mastered the
situation; but nothing was farther from the truth. Quincy knew what was
passing behind the scenes. The Administration, so far from gaining
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strength, barely showed steadiness. At the moment when New England
flung herself, with every sign of desperate rage, across the path of Gov-
ernment, faction within the Republican Party struck Madison a severe
blow before he had time for defense.

‘The Smith faction, or ruling party,” of which Wilson Cary Nicholas
was file-leader in the House, and which never failed to make its influence
felt in moments of trouble, had gained in the Senate an ally whose self-
ishness was equal to that of General Smith and whose nature was far
more malignant. Of all the enemies with whom Madison had to deal,
only one in his own party was venomous. Old George Clinton, though
openly hostile, possessed strong qualities, and in any event was too old
for serious effort. Samuel Smith played the game of politics somewhat
too much like a game of whist, in which he allowed his trumps to fall in-
differently on his partners or on his opponents, whenever he saw the
chance to insure a trick to his own hand; but Smith was still a man from
whom in the last resort courage and energy might be expected, and in
whom, selfishness apart, confidence could be placed. No such redeeming
quality could be truthfully attributed to William Branch Giles, the
Senator from Virginia, the third member of the senatorial cabal who was
about to place himself in the path of the Administration and to apply his
abilities and persistence to the deliberate task of blocking the wheels of
government.,

Giles had served his party long and well and thought himself entitled
to higher recognition than he had as yet received. In later times a safe
seat in the Senate became almost the highest prize of politics — men some-
times preferred it to a candidacy for the Presidential office itself; but in
1809 the Cabinet stood above the Senate, and Giles looked upon himself
as entitled to the Department of State and in due time to the Presidency.
Madison, with a different view of the public good and of his own comfort,
betrayed the intention of appointing Gallatin his Secretary of State; and
Gallatin’s fitness for the post was so evident as to make his appointment
the best that could be suggested; but at the first rumor of the intention,
Giles united with Smith in threatening to procure the rejection of Gallatin
© by the Senate. To deny the President the selection of his own Secretary
of State was an act of factiousness which remained without a parallel;
but Giles and Smith had both the will and the power to carry their point.
Even Wilson Cary Nicholas remonstrated in vain.



536 The Second Administration of Thomas Jefferson [1809

From the first [was the story told by Nicholas] Mr. Giles declared his
determination to vote against Gallatin. I repeatedly urged and entreated
him not to do it; for several days it was an object of discussion between us;
there was no way which our long and intimate friendship would justify,
consistent with my respect for him, in which I did not assail him. To all
my arguments he replied that his duty to his country was to him para-
mount to every other consideration, and that he could not justify to him-
self permitting Gallatin to be Secretary of State if his vote would prevent
it.

Thus Gallatin’s foreign birth — the only objection alleged against

him — became the pretext for Giles to declare war against the coming
Administration of President Madison. With the aid of Vice-President
Clinton, Senator Samuel Smith, and the Federalists, Giles could control
the Senate; and every factious interest which wished to force on Madison
an object of its own was sure to ally itself with these intriguers until its
object should be conceded. The Senate was already a hotbed of intrigue,
where William B. Giles, Timothy Pickering, George Clinton, and Samuel
Smith held control; and unless Madison by some great effort of force or
skill could crush Giles, in time not only the new Administration, but also
the Union itself, might find a deadly danger in the venom of his selfish-
ness. :
At the close of January, affairs at Washington were trembling on a
poise. The laws required for Madison’s purpose were all passed save one;
but the party was rent in pieces by faction. Discipline was at an end;
the States of Massachusetts and Connecticut were openly adopting
treasonable measures; and the great trial of strength — the decision of
Congress on immediate repcal of the embargo —had not yet been
reached. '



CHAPTER FIFTY-NINE
Repeal of Embargo and [efferson’s Retirement

EARLY IN JANUARY the intended policy of Madison became known.
As the story has already told, Madison and Gallatin decided to retain the
embargo until June, but to call the new Congress together May 22 and
then to declare war, unless Erskine could make concessions. President
Jefferson was chiefly interested in maintaining the embargo until after
March 4, and the despotism he had so long maintained over Congress
seemed still to exasperate his enemies.” By common consent, attack upon
the embargo was regarded as attack upon the President.

Jefferson asked only to be spared the indignity of signing with his own
hand the unconditional repeal of the embargo; while the single point on
which Story, Bacon, Pickering, and Canning were agreed was that the
repeal should be the act of the man who made the law. On one side
Jefferson, Madison, Gallatin, and their friends entreated Congress to
stand firm; to maintain the ground already solemnly taken; to leave
the embargo until June and then to declare war if they pleased. On the
other hand, Pickering, Bacon, Story, the Clintons, and the Pennsyl-
vanians demanded immediate repeal — partly to pacify New England,
but quite as much for the reason, which Pickering urged, that immediate
repeal would prevent war. That it would in fact prevent war was obvious.
Repeal was submission.

As soon as the naval and military bills and the extra session for May
22 were at last fairly determined and every detail decided, Wilson Cary
Nicholas took the lead of the House, and January 30 called up a resolu-
tion intended to settle the policy of embargo and war. The words of this
resolve were too serious not to have received very careful attention:

Resolved, As the opinion of this House, that the United States ought not
to delay beyond the —— day of —— to resume, maintain, and defend the
navigation of the high seas; and that provision ought to be made by law
for repealing on the day of —— the several embargo laws and for
authorizing at the same time letters of marque and reprisal against Great
Britain and France, provided on that day their Orders or Edicts violating
the lawful commerce and neutral rights of the United States shall be in

force; or against either of those nations having in force such Orders or
Edicts.

57
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Nicholas agreed to divide the resolution so that a test vote might first
be taken on the repeal of the embargo; and he then moved to fill the blank
with the words, ‘the first day of June.’ The House was thus asked to
pledge itself that on June 1 the embargo should cease. On this question
the debate began.

David R. Williams was a typical Carolinian. With something of the
overbearing temper which marked his class, he had also the independence
and the honesty which went far to redeem their failings. He had stood
for years, with his friend Macon, proof against the influence of patronage
and power; he supported the embargo and was not ashamed to avow his
dread of war; but since his favorite measure was to be thrown aside, he
stood by his character and made an appeal to the House, giving at once
to the debate an air of dignity which it never wholly lost:

Will you drive us to a repeal of the embargo and make no resistance?
Are you ready to lie down quietly under the impositions laid upon you?
You have driven us from the embargo. The excitements in the East
render it necessary that we should enforce the embargo with the bayonet
or repeal it. I will repeal it — and I could weep over it more than over a
lost child. If you do not resist, you are no longer a nation; you dare not
call yourself so; you are the merest vassals conceivable. ... I appeal to
the minority, who hold the destinies of the nation in their grasp — for
they can enforce embargo without the bayonet — I beg them, if they
will not declare war, that they will do the best they can for their country.

No one then wondered to sce South Carolina almost on her knees before
Massachusetts, beseeching her, on her own terms, for her own honor, to
do the best she could for the common country; but Massachusetts had
no voice to respond.

Between the Federalists and the Republicans of Massachusetts Con-
gress was left under no illusions. On the evening of February 2, after four
days of debate, the committee, by seventy-three votes against forty,
rejected Wilson Cary Nicholas’s motion to fix June 1 as the date for
removing the embargo; and the next day, by an affirmative vote of
seventy, with no negatives, March 4 was fixed as the term.

Immediately after this decisive division, John Randolph took the floor.
Discord had become his single object in public life. The Federalists at
least had a purpose in their seditiousness and were honest in preferring
the British Government to their own; the Republicans of all shades,
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however weak in will or poor in motive, were earnest in their love of
country; but Randolph was neither honest nor earnest, neither American
nor English, nor truly Virginian. Disappointed ambition had turned
him into a mere egoist; his habits had already become intemperate and
his health was broken; but he could still charge upon Jefferson all the
disasters of the country and could delight in the overwhelming ruin which
had fallen upon his former chief. Randolph’s speech of February 3 was
stale and tedious. Except on the single point of raising the embargo, he
was spiritless; and his only positive idea, borrowed from the Federalists,
consisted in a motion that, instead of issuing letters of marque, Govern-
ment should authorize merchant vessels to arm and defend themselves
from seizure. If the scheme had a meaning, it meant submission to the
British Orders and was suggested by the Federalists for no other object;
but in Randolph’s mind such a plan carried no definite consequence.

On Randolph’s motion the debate continued until February 7. The
Republicans, disconcerted and disheartened by the conduct of their
friends from New England and New York, made little show of energy
and left to David R. Williams the task of expressing the whole ignominy
of their defeat. Williams struggled manfully. With more than Federalist
bitterness he taunted the hesitation of the Democrats — ‘ contemptible
cowardice,’ he called it. ‘It is time we should assume, if it is not in our
natures, nerve cnough to decide whether we will go to war or submit.’
The House replied by striking out the recommendation of reprisals by a
vote of fifty-seven to thirty-nine.

These two votes rendered the Administration for the moment power-
less to make head against the sweeping Federalist victory. Josiah Quincy,
who watched every symptom of Democratic disaster, wrote as early as
February 2, before the first defeat of the Administration: ‘There is
dreadful distraction in the encmy’s camp on the subject of removing the
embargo. Jefferson and his friends are obstinate. Bacon and the
Northern Democrats are equally determined that it shall be raised in
March.’ The next day Quincy added:  Jefferson is a host; and if the
wand of that magician is not broken, he will yet defeat the attempt.’

The contest had become personal; to break the ‘wand of the magician’
was as much the object of Democrats as of Federalists, and neither
Madison nor Gallatin could restore discipline.

President Jefferson, though his name was still a terror to his enemies,
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accepted whatever decision his Cabinet advised. Till the day of his death
he never forgot the violence of these last weeks of his Administration or
the outcry of the New England towns. ‘How powerfully did we feel the
energy of this organization in the case of the embargo,” he wrote long
afterward. ‘I felt the foundations of the Government shaken under my
feet by the New England townships.” He showed the same lack of
interest in February which had marked his conduct in November; not
even the certainty of his own overthrow called out the familiar phrases
of vexation.

As the President became more subdued, Senator Pickering became more
vehement; his hatred for Jefferson resembled the hatred of Cotton Mather
for a witch.

After the repeal of the embargo and the refusal to make war, but one
remnant of American protest against British aggressions remained. The
Republican caucus, February 7, decided in favor of returning to Jefferson’s
pacific non-intercourse — the system which had been, by common con-
sent, thrown aside as insufficient even before the embargo. The Non-
Intercourse Bill was reported February 11 to the House from the Com-
mittee of Foreign Relations. The bill excluded all public and private
vessels of France and England from American waters; forbade under
severe penalties the importation of British or French goods; repealed
the embargo laws, ‘except so far as they relate to Great Britain or France
or their colonies or dependencies, or places in the actual possession of
either’; and gave the President authority to reopen by proclamation the
trade with France or England in case either of these countries should cease
to violate neutral rights. That the proposed non-intercourse was in
truth submission to the Orders in Council, no one denied.

‘I conceive that great advantages may be reaped from it by England,’
wrote Erskine, ‘as she has the command of the scas and can procure
through neutrals any of the produce of this country, besides the im-
mense quantity which will be brought direct to Great Britain under
various pretenses; whereas France will obtain but little, at a great expense
and risk.’

When this bill came before the House, another long debate arose.
Hardly a trace of national pride remained. No one approved the bill,
but no one struggled longer against submission.

Much the strongest speech against the bill was that of George W
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Campbell, who made no attempt to hide his mortification at seeing the
House desert him, its leader, and turn its back upon the pledge it had
solemnly given in accepting his report only two months before. Al-
though events had already proved that no appeal to self-respect called
out a response from this Congress, Campbell might reasonably suppose
that arguments of self-interest would be heard; and he pressed one ob-
jection to the bill which, in theory, should have been decisive: ‘The non-
intercourse would press most severely on the Southern and Western
States, who depend chiefly on the immediate exchange of their produc-
tions for foreign goods, and would throw almost the whole commerce of
the nation into the hands of the Eastern States, without competition,
and also add a premium on their manufactures at the expense of the
agricultural interest to the South and West. Foreign goods being ex- .
cluded, the manufacturing States would furnish the rest of the Union
with their manufactured goods at their own prices.’

A moment’s reflection must have satisfied the Republicans that this
argument against the bill was fatal. Non-intercourse must ruin the
South, in order to offer an immense bribe to the shipping and manu-
factures of New England as an inducement for New England to remain
in the Union. The manufacturing intcrests never ventured to ask such
extravagant protection as was thrust upon them in 1809 by the fears of
the agricultural States; the greed of corporate capital never suggested
the monopoly created for Eastern ships and factories by a measure which
shut from America all ships and manufactures but theirs. Even if but
partially enforced, such legislation was ruinous to agriculture.

Entreaty and argument were thrown away. The House lost discipline,
self-respect, and party character. No one felt responsible for any result,
no majority approved any suggestion. As the last days of the session
drew near, the machinery of legislation broke down and Congress became
helpless. So strange and humiliating a spectacle had not before been
seen. The nation seemed sinking into the weakness of dissolution.

Vote after vote was taken; again and again the ayes and noes were
called on dilatory motions of adjournment; but every motion looking
toward war was steadily voted down, and in the end, February 27, the
Non-Intercourse Bill in its most unresisting shape received the approval
of the House. Not a speaker defended it; at the last moment the charge
was freely made that the bill had not a single friend. The members who
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voted for it declared in doing so that the measure was a weak and wretched
expedient, that they detested it, and took it mercly as a choice of evils;
but eighty-one members voted in its favor, and only forty in the negative.
More extraordinary still, this non-intercourse, which bound the South
to the feet of New England, was supported by forty-one Southern mem-
bers, while but twelve New England Representatives recorded their
names in its favor.

The repeal of the embargo, which reccived the President’s signature
March 1, closed the long reign of President Jefferson; and with but one
exception the remark of John Randolph was destined to remain true,
that ‘never has there been any Administration which went out of office
and left the nation in a state so deplorable and calamitous.” That the
blame for this failure rested wholly upon Jefferson might be doubted;
but no one felt more keenly than he the disappointment under which his
old hopes and ambitions were crushed.

Loss of popularity was his bitterest trial. He who longed like a sensi-
tive child for sympathy and love left office as strongly and almost as
generally disliked as the least popular President who preceded or fol-
lowed him. He had undertaken to create a government which should
interfere in no way with private action, and he had created one which in-
terfered directly in the concerns of every private citizen in the land. He
had come into power as the champion of States-rights, and had driven
States to the verge of armed resistance. He had begun by claiming credit
for stern economy, and ended by exceeding the expenditure of his pre-
decessors. He had invented a policy of peace, and his invention resulted
in the necessity of fighting at once the two greatest Powers in the world.

Not even in 1798 had factiousness been so violent as in the last month
of President Jefferson’s power; in 1800 the country in comparison had
been contented. February 23, 1809, nearly three weeks after the dis-
astrous overthrow of the embargo in Congress, the Connecticut Legisla-
ture met in special session to ‘interpose’ between the people and the
National Government. In a report echoing the words of Governor
Trumbull’s speech, the House instantly approved his refusal to aid in
carrying out the ‘unconstitutional and despotic’ Inforcement Act, and
pledged itself to join the Legislature of Massachusetts in the measures
proposed ‘to give to the commercial States their fair and just considera-
tion in the Union.” The spirit in which Massachusetts meant to act was
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shown in a formal Address to the People issued by her Legislature March
1, bearing the official signatures of Harrison Gray Otis, President of the
Senate, and Timothy Bigelow, Speaker of the House.

‘Protesting in the sight of God the sincerity of their attachment to the
Union of the States, and their determination to cherish and preserve it
at every hazard until it shall fail to secure to them those blessings which
alone give value to any form of government,’ the Massachusetts Legisla-
ture laid before the people of the State certain reports and measures
adopted for the purpose of impeding the embargo laws, and apologized
for having done no more, on the ground that more could not have been
done ‘without authorizing a forcible resistance to Acts of Congress — an
ultimate resource so deeply to be deprecated that the cases which might
justify it should not be trusted even to the imagination until they actually
happen.” Less than forty years before, Massachusetts had used much the
same language in regard to Acts of Parliament, and the world knew what
then followed; but even in the bitterest controversies over Stamp Act or
Port Bill, the General Court of Massachusetts had never insulted King
George as they insulted President Jefferson. The Address at great
length asscrted that his Government was laboring under ‘an habitual
and impolitic predilection for France.’

On the other hand, war with England must lead to alliance with
France; and that a connection with France ‘must be forever fatal to the
liberty and independence of the nation is obvious to all who are not
blinded by partiality and passion.” The dogma that a British war must
dissolve the Union had become more than ever an article of Federalist
faith. Even Rufus King, writing to Pickering, January 31, said: ‘The
embargo, as we are now told, is to give way to war. If the project be to
unite with France against England, the Union cannot be preserved.’

Union of New England against the National Union — an idea hitherto
confined to the brain of Timothy Pickering — had become the avowed
object of the Massachusetts and Connecticut Legislatures. ‘Nothing
less than a perfect union and intelligence among the Eastern States’
could answer the objects of Pickering; but side by side with the perfect
union of the Eastern States went a perfect intelligence between those
States and the British Government. On one side, Pickering maintained
relations with Rose; on the other, Sir James Craig kept a secret agent at
Boston.
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Had Jefferson known that a British emissary was secretly waiting at
Boston to profit by the result of eight years’ Republican policy, he could
not but have felt deep personal mortification mingled with his sense of
wrong. Of all Jefferson’s hopes, perhaps the warmest had been that of
overthrowing the power of his New England enemics — those whom he
had once called the monarchical Federalists — the clergy and the Essex
Junto. Instead of overthrowing them he had given them, for the first
time in their lives, unlimited power for mischief; he had overthrown
only the modcrate Federalists, who, when forced to choose between
treason and embargo, submitted to the embargo and hated its author.

Jefferson submitted in silence, and even with an air of approval, to
the abrupt abandonment of his favorite measure. He admitted that the
embargo had failed; he even cxaggerated its evils and described it as more
costly than war. His language implied that the failure of peaccable
coercion was no longer a matter of doubt in his mind. He signed without
the betrayal of a protest the bill repealing the embargo and talked of war
as a necessary evil. Not until more than a year afterward did he admit
the bitterness of his disappointment and mortification.

In truth, the disaster was appalling; and Jefferson described it in
moderate terms by admitting that the policy of peaccable coercion
brought upon him mortification such as no other President ever suffered.
So complete was his overthrow that his popular influence declined even
in the South. Twenty years clapsed before his political authority re-
covered power over the Northern people; for not until the embargo and
its memories faded from men’s minds did the mighty shadow of Jeffer-
son’s Revolutionary name efface the ruin of his Presidency. Yet he clung
with more and more tenacity to the faith that his theory of peaceable
coercion was sound; and when within a few months of his death he al-
luded for the last time to the embargo, he spoke of it as ‘a measure which,
persevered in a little longer, we had subsequent and satisfactory assur-
ance would have effected its object completely.’

A discomfiture so conspicuous could not fail to bring in its train a
swarm of petty humiliations which for the moment were more painful
than the great misfortune. Jefferson had hoped to make his country
forever pure and free; to abolish war, with its train of debt, extravagance,
corruption, and tyranny; to build up a government devoted only to useful
and moral objects; to bring upon earth a new era of peace and good-will
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among men. Throughout the twistings and windings of his course as
President he clung to this main idea; or if he seemed for a moment to for-
get it, he never failed to return and to persist with almost heroic ob-
stinacy in enforcing its lessons. By repecaling the embargo, Congress
avowedly and even maliciously rejected and trampled upon the only part
of Jefferson’s statesmanship which claimed originality or which in his own
opinion entitled him to rank as a philosophic legislator. The mortifica-
tion he felt was natural and extreme, but such as every great statesman
might expect and such as most of them experienced.

The last days of his authority were embittered by a personal slight
which wounded him deeply. After the Pecace of Tilsit the Emperor
Alexander of Russia expressed a wish to exchange ministers with the
United States Government. In every point of view America must gain
by winning the friendship of Russia; and much as Jefferson disliked multi-
plying diplomatic offices, he could not but feel that at a time when his
ministers were likely at any moment to be driven from France and Eng-
land, nothing could be more useful than to secure a foothold at-St.
Petersburg. Without loss of time he created the mission and appointed
his old personal friend, William Short, to the new post. For political
reasons Jefferson waited till the close of the session, and then, February 24,
made this appointment the subject of his last Message to the Senate.

No sooner had the Senate, on recciving this Message, gone into ex-
ccutive session than Senator Bradley of Vermont offered a resolution
that any intercourse with Russia, such as the President suggested, might
‘be carried on with equal facility and effect by other public agents of the
United States without the expense of a permanent minister plenipo-
tentiary.” After much secret debate, the Senate abruptly and unani-
mously rejected Short’s nomination. A

The discourtesy was flagrant. Dislike of diplomacy was a relic of the
old colonial status when America had been dependent on Europe —a
prejudice rising chiefly from an uneasy sense of social disadvantage.
Whenever America should become strong and self-confident, these petty
jealousies were sure to disappear, and her relations with other Powers
would, be controlled solely by her wants; but meanwhile the Senate in
every emergency might be expected to embarrass the relations of the
Executive with foreign Governments and to give untenable reasons for
its conduct. That the Senate should object could have been no surprise
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to Jefferson; but that it should without even a private explanation reject
abruptly and unanimously the last personal favor asked by a President
for whom every Republican Senator professed friendship, and from whom
most had received innumerable favors, seemed an unpardonable insult.
So Jefferson felt it.

Public annoyances were for him nearly at an end and could never
recur; but unfortunately these public trials came upon him at a moment
when his private anxieties were extreme.

In his style of life as President, Jetferson had indulged in such easy and
liberal expenses as suited the place he held. Far from showing extrava-
gance, the White House and its surroundings had in his time the outward
look of a Virginia plantation. The President was required to pay the
expenses of the house and grounds. In consequence, the grounds were
uncared-for, the palings broken or wanting, the paths undefined, and
the place a waste, running imperceptibly into the barren fields about it.
Within, the house was as simple as without, after the usual style of
Virginia houses, where the scale was often extravagant, but the dctails
plain. Only in his table did Jefferson spend an unusual amount of money
with excellent results for his political influence, for no President ever
understood better than Jefferson the art of entertaining; yet his table
cost him no excessive sums. A mode of life so simple and so easily con-
trolled should in a village like Washington have left no opening for ar-
rears of debt; but when Jefferson, about to quit the White House forever,
attempted to settle his accounts, he discovered that he had excceded his
income. Not his expenses as President, but his expenses as planter
dragged him down.

He wrote to his commission merchant entreating him to borrow the
money: ‘Since I have become sensible of this deficit, I have been under
an agony of mortification, and therefore must solicit as much urgency in
the negotiation as the case will admit. My intervening nights will be
almost sleepless, as nothing could be more distressing to me than to leave
debts here unpaid, if indeed I should be permitted to depart with them
unpaid, of which I am by no means certain.’

The arrears amounted in truth to twenty thousand dollars. Nothing
but immediate and rigid economy could restore the loss, and even with
every advantage Jefferson could never hope to live again upon his old
scale without incurring bankruptcy; he must cease to be a grand seigneur
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or drag his family into the ruin which seemed to be the fate of every
Virginian.

Under the weight of these troubles, public and private, Jefferson’s
longing to escape became intense; and his letters repeated, in accents
more and more earnest, the single wish that filled his mind.

March S he wrote to Armstrong: ‘ Within two or three days I retire from
scenes of difficulty, anxiety, and of contending passions, to the elysium
of domestic affections and the irresponsible direction of my own affairs.””
A week afterward, Jefferson quitted Washington forever. On horseback,
over roads impassable to wheels, through snow and storm, he hurried back
to Monticello to recover in the quiet of home the peace of mind he had
lost in the disappointments of his statesmanship. He arrived at Monti-
cello March 15, and never again passed beyond the bounds of a few ad-
jacent counties. .

With a sigh of relief which seemed as sincere and deep as his own, the
Northern people saw him turn his back on the White House and dis-
appear from the arena in which he had for sixteen years challenged every
comer. In the Northern States few regrets were wasted upon his de-
parture, for every mind was intent on profiting by the overthrow of his
system; but Virginia was still loyal to him, and the citizens of his own
county of Albemarle welcomed with an affectionate address his final
return. His reply, dignified and full of grateful feeling, seemed intended
as an answer to the attacks of partisan grossness and a challenge to the
judgment of mankind:

The anxieties you express to administer to my happiness do of them-
selves confer that happiness; and the measure will be complete if my en-
deavors to fulfill my duties in the several public stations to which I have
been called have obtained for me the approbation of my country. The part
which I have acted on the theater of public life has been before them, and
to their sentence 1 submit it; but the testimony of my native county, of
the individuals who have known me in private life, to my conduct in its
various duties and relations is the more grateful as proceeding from eye-
witnesses and observers from triers of the vicinage. Of you, then, my
neighbors, I may ask in the face of the world, ‘Whose ox have I taken,
or whom have I defrauded? Whom have I oppressed, or of whose hand
have I reccived a bribe to blind mine eyes therewith?’ On your verdict I
rest with conscious security.
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CHAPTER SIXTY

Alienation from France

THE National Intelligencer, which called public attention only to such
points of interest as the Government wished to accent, noticed that
President Madison was ‘dressed in a full suit of cloth of American manu-
facture’ when he appeared at noon, March 4, 1809, under escort of the
‘troops of cavalry of the city and Georgetown,” amid a crowd of ten
thousand people, to take the oath of office at the Capitol. The suit of
American clothes told more of Madison’s tendencies than was to be
learned from the language of the Inaugural Address, which he delivered
in a tone of voice so low as not to be heard by the large audience gathered
in the new and imposing Representatives’ Hall. Indeed, the Address
suggested a doubt whether the new President wished to be understood.
The conventionality of his thought nowhere betrayed itself more plainly
than in this speech on the greatest occasion of Madison’s life, when he
was required to explain the means by which he should retrieve the failures
of Jefferson.

The nation expected from him some impulse toward the end he had in
mind; foreign nations were also waiting to learn whether they should have
to reckon with a new force in politics; but Madison seemed to show his
contentment with the policy hitherto pursued, rather than his wish to
change it.

Balancing every suggestion of energy by a corresponding limitation of
scope, Madison showed only a wish to remain within the limits defined by
his predecessor. ‘To cherish peace and friendly intercourse with all
nations having corresponding dispositions’ seemed to imply possible
recoursc to war with other nations; but ‘to prefer in all cases amicable
discussion and reasonable accommodation of differences to a decision of
them by an appeal to arms’ seemed to exclude the use of force. ‘To
promote by authorized means improvements friendly to agriculture, to
manufactures, and to external as well as internal commerce’ was a phrase
so cautiously framed that no one could attack it. ‘To support the Con-
stitution, which is the cement of the Union, as well in its limitations as in
its authorities,’ seemed a duty so guarded as to need no further antithesis;
yet Madison did not omit the usual obligation ‘to respect the rights and

551



552 The First Administration of James Madison [1809

authorities reserved to the States and to the people, as equally incor-
porated with, and essential to, the success of the general system.’

About March 1, Wilson Cary Nicholas had called on the President-
elect to warn him that he must look for serious opposition to the ex-
pected appointment of Gallatin as Secretary of State. Nicholas had the
best reason to know that Giles, Samuel Smith, and Leib were bent on
defeating Gallatin. :

Gallatin’s fitness was undisputed, and the last men who could question
it were Giles and Samuel Smith, who had been his friends for twenty
years, had trusted their greatest party interests in his hands, had helped
to put the Treasury under his control, and were at the moment keeping
him at its head when they might remove him to the less responsible post
of Minister for Foreign Affairs. Any question of Gallatin’s patriotism
suggested ideas even more delicate than those raised by doubts of his
fitness. A party which had once trusted Burr and which still trusted
Wilkinson, not to mention Giles himself, had little right to discuss Gal-
latin’s patriotism, or the honesty of foreign-born citizens. The appoint-
ment of Gallatin not only secmed to be, but actually was, necessary to
Madison’s Administration.

No argument affected the resistance of Giles and Samuel Smith, and
during the early days of March Madison could see no means of avoiding
a party schism. From that evil, at such a stage, he shrank. While the
subject still stood unsettled, some unknown person suggested a new idea.
If Robert Smith could be put in the Treasury, his brother Samuel would
vote to confirm Gallatin as Secretary of State. The character of such a
transaction needed no epithet; but Madison went to Robert Smith and
offered him the Treasury. He knew Smith to be incompetent, but
thought that with Gallatin’s aid even an incompetent person might
manage*the finances; and perhaps his astuteness went so far as to foresee
what was to happen — that he should deal with the Smiths on some bet-
ter occasion in a more summary manner. Madison’s resemblance to a
cardinal was not wholly imaginary.

While Robert Smith went to inquire into the details of Treasury busi-
ness before accepting the offered post, the President consulted with
Gallatin, who rejected the scheme at once. He could not, he said, under-
take the charge of both departments; the President would do better to
appoint Robert Smith Secretary of State, and leave the Treasury as it
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was. Madison seized this outlet of escape. He returned to Robert
Smith with the offer of the State Department, which Smith accepted.
In making this arrangement, Madison knew that he must himself supply
Smith’s deficiencies; but stronger wills than that of Madison had yielded
to party discontent, and he gained much if he gained only time.

The War and Navy Departments remained to be filled. Dearborn, who
had continued in the War Department chicfly to oblige President Jeffer-
son, retired in the month of February to become Collector of the Port of
Boston. As his successor, Madison selected William Eustis of Boston,
who had served in Congress during Jefferson’s first Administration.
Eustis was about fifty-six years old; in the Revolutionary War he had
filled the post of hospital surgeon, and since the peace he had practiced
his profession in Boston.

To succeed Robert Smith at the Navy Department, Madison selected
Paul Hamilton of South Carolina. Nothing was known of Hamilton,
except that he had been Governor of his State some ten years before.
No one seemed aware why he had attracted the President’s attention or
what qualities fitted him for the charge of naval affairs.

From the outset Madison’s Cabinet was the least satisfactory that any
President had known. More than once the Federalist Cabinets had been
convulsed by disagreements, but the Administration of Madison had
hardly strength to support two sides of a dispute.

The factiousness at Washington reflected only in a mild form the
worse factiousness elsewhere. The Legislature of Massachusetts, having
issued its Address to the People, adjourned; and a few days afterward the
people, by an election which called out more than ninety thousand votes,
dismissed their Republican Governor, and by a majority of two or three
thousand chose Christopher Gore in his place. The new Legislature was
more decidedly Federalist than the old one. New Hampshire effected
the same revolution. Rhode Island followed: In New York the Fed-
eralists carried the Legislature, as they did also in Maryland.

Even in Pennsylvania, although nothing shook the fixed political
character of the State, the epidemic of faction broke out. While the
Legislatures of Massachusetts and Connecticut declared Acts of Con-
gress unconstitutional and refused aid to execute them, the Legislature
of Pennsylvania authorized Governor Snyder to resist by armed force a
mandate of the Supreme Court; and when the United States Marshal
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attempted to serve process on the person of certain respondents at the
suit of Gideon Olmstead, he found himself stopped by State militia acting
under orders.

In a country where popular temper had easier means of concentrating
its violence, Government might have been paralyzed by these proofs of
low esteem; but America had not by far reached such a stage, and dark
as the prospect was, both within and without, Madison could safely dis-
regard dangers on which most rulers had habitually to count. His dif-
ficulties were only an inheritance from the old Administration and began
to disappear as quickly as they had risen.

On the people of New England other motives began to have effect.
The chief sources of their wealth were shipping and manufactures. The
embargo destroyed the value of the shipping after it had been diminished
by the belligerent edicts; the repeal of the embargo restored the value.
The Federalist newspapers tried to prove that this was not the case, and
that the Non-Intercourse Act, which prohibited commerce with England,
France, or their dependencies, was as ruinous as embargo itself; but the
shipping soon showed that Gottenburg, Riga, Lisbon, and the Spanish
ports in America were markets almost as convenient as London or Havre
for the sale of American produce.

Such rapid and general improvement in shipping proved that New
England had better employment than political factiousness to occupy the
thoughts of her citizens; but large as the profits on freights might be,
they hardly equaled the profits on manufactures. In truth, the manu-
factories of New England were created by the embargo, which obliged
the whole nation to consume their products or to go without. The Em-
bargo and Non-Importation Acts went into effect in the last days of
1807. Within less than two years the number of spindles in the cotton
mills was increased, or arrangements were made for increasing it, from
cight thousand to eighty thousand. Nearly four million dollars of capital
were invested in mills, and four thousand persons were in their employ
or expected soon to be employed in them.

The manufactures of wool lagged little behind. William Whittemore,
who owned the patent for a machine which manufactured wool and cotton
cards, reported from Cambridge in Massachusetts, November 24, 1809,
that only the want of card-wire prevented him from using all his ma-
chines to the full extent of their power. ‘Since the obstructions to our
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foreign trade, the manufactures of our country have increased astonish-
ingly,” he wrote.

All the Northern and Eastern States shared in the advantages of this
production, for which Virginia with the Western and Southern States
paid; but in the whole Union New England fared best. Already the de-
velopment of small industries had taken place, which, by making a varied
aggregate, became the foundation and the security of Yankee wealth.
Massachusetts taxed her neighbors on many small articles of daily use.
She employed in the single manufacture of hats four thousand persons —
more than were yet engaged in the cotton mills. More than a million
and a half of hats were annually made, and three-fourths of these were
sold beyond the State; between three and four million dollars a year
flowed into Massachusetts in exchange for hats alone. At Lynn, in
Massachusetts, were made one hundred thousand pairs of women’s shoes
every year. The town of Roxbury made eight hundred thousand pounds
of soap. Massachusetts supplied the country with cut-iron nails to the
value of twelve hundred thousand dollars a year. Connecticut supplied
the whole country with tinware.

At no time could such industrics have been established without the
stimulus of a handsome profit; but when Virginia compelled Massachu-
setts and the Northern States to accept a monopoly of the American
market, the Yankee manufacturer must have expected to get, and actually
got, great profits for his cottons and woolens, his hats, shoes, soap, and
nails. As though this were not more than enough, Virginia gave the
Northern shipowners the whole freight on Southern produce, two-thirds
of which in one form or another went into the hands of New England
shipbuilders, shippers, and merchants. Slowly the specie capital of the
Union drifted toward the banks of Boston and New Haven, until, as the
story will show, the steady drain of specie eastward bankrupted the other
States and the National Government. Never, before or since, was the
country so racked to create and support monopolies as in 1808, 1809,
and 1810, under Southern rule, and under the system of the President who
began his career by declaring that if he could prevent the Government
from wasting the labors of the people under the pretense of protecting
them, they must become happy. The navy and army of the United States
were employcd, and were paid millions of dollars, during these years in
order to shut out foreign competition and compel New England at the
cannon’s mouth to accept these enormous bribes.
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When Napoleon, August 3, 1808, heard at Bordeaux that the Spaniards
had captured Dupont’s army at Baylen and Rosily’s ships at Cadiz and
had thrown eighty thousand French troops back upon the Pyrenees, his
anger was great; but his perplexity was much greater. In a character so
interesting as that of Napoleon, the moments of perplexity were best
worth study; and in his career no single moment occurred when he had
more reason to call upon his genius for a resource than when he faced at
Bordeaux the failure of his greatest scheme. From St. Petersburg to
Gibraltar every shopkeeper knew that England had escaped, and all be-
lieved that no combination either of force or fraud could again be made
with reasonable hope of driving her commerce from its channels. On this
belief every merchant, as well as every Government in the world, was
actually shaping calculations. Napoleon also must shape his calculations
on theirs, since he had failed to force theirs into the path of his own. The
escape of England made useless the machinery he had created for her
ruin. Spain, Russia, and Austria had little value for his immediate ob-
ject, except as their control was necessary for the subjection of England;
and the military occupation of Spain beyond the Ibro became worse
than a blunder from the moment when Cadiz and Lisbon, Cuba and
Mexico, Brazil and Peru, threw themselves into Iingland’s arms.

Thenceforward a want of distinct purpose showed itself in Napoleon’s
acts. Unable either to enforce or to abandon his Continental system, he
began to use it for momentary objects — sometimes to weaken England,
sometimes to obtain money, or as the pretext for conquests. Unable to
hold the Peninsula or to withdraw from it, he seemed at one time resolved
on conquest, at another disposed toward retreat. In the autumn of 1808,
both paths ran together, for his credit required him to conquer before
he could honorably establish any dynasty on the throne; and during the
months of September and October, he marched new French armies across
the Pyrenees and massed an irresistible force behind the Ebro. A year
before, he had thought one hundred thousand men enough to occupy all
Spain and Portugal; but in October, 1808, he held not less than two
hundred and fifty thousand men beyond the Pyrenees, ready to move at
the moment of his arrival.

He left Paris October 29, and twelve days later, November 9, began
the campaign which still attracts the admiration of military critics. After
dispasing in rapid succession of all the Spanish armies, he occupied Madrid
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December 4 and found himself at the end of his campaign. At that mo-
ment he learned that an English army under Sir John Moore had ventured
to march from Portugal into the north of Spain and had already advanced
so far toward Burgos as to make their’capture possible. The destruction
of an English army, however small, offered Napoleon the triumph he
wanted. Rapidly collecting his forces, he hurried across the Guadarrama
Mountains to cut off Moore’s rctreat; but for once he was outgeneraled.
Sir John Moore not only saved his own army, but also led the French a
long and exhausting chase to the extreme northwestern shore of Spain,
where the British fleet carried Moore’s army out of their reach.

Napoleon would not have been the genius he was had he wasted his
energies in following Moore to Corunna. The moment he saw that Moore
had escaped, which became clear when the Emperor reached Astorga,
January 2, 1809, throwing upon Soult the task of marching one hundred
and fifty miles to Corunna after Moore and the British army, Napoleon
stopped short, turned about, and with rapidity unusual even for him,
quitted Spain forever.

Giving out that the conduct of Austria required his presence at Paris,
he succeeded in imposing this fiction upon Europe by the empire of his
will. Europe accepted the fable, which became history; but although the
Emperor soon disposed of Austria, and although Spain was a more diffi-
cult problem than Austria ever was, Napoleon never again ventured
within sight of the mistakes he could no longer correct.

Mecanwhile, Armstrong, disgusted with the disappointments and an-
noyances of his residence at Paris, had become anxious to escape without
furthe; loss of credit. He could sec no hope of further usefulness. As
carly as October 25, 1808, when the Emperor was addressing his legisla-
tive chambers before setting out for Spain, Armstrong wrote to Madison
that no good could come from keeping an American minister at Paris.
Yet in the enforced idleness of the month when Napoleon was in Spain,
Armstrong found one -ally whose aid was well worth seeking.

Lord Howick’s and Spencer Perceval’s Orders in Council served to
sharpen Russian as well as American antipathies and brought the two
distant nations into a sympathy which was certainly not deep. but which
England had reason to fear. In the autumn of 1808, Count Roumanzoff
came to:-Paris to arrange with Champagny the details of their joint di-
plomacy; and at the same time, in the month of November, William Short
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arrived in Paris secretly accredited as minister plenipotentiary at St.
Petersburg, but waiting confirmation by the Senate before going to his
post. When Armstrong told Roumanzoff that an American minister
would soon be on his way to St. Petersburg, the Count was highly pleased,
and promised at once to send a full minister to replace André Daschkoff,
the chargé at Washington. ‘Ever since I came into office,” he said to
Armstrong, ‘I have been desirous of producing this effect; for in dissolv-
ing our commercial connections with Great Britain, it became necessary
to seek some other Power in whom we might find a substitute; and on
looking round I could see none but the United States who were at all
competent to this object.” So far as concerned England, the alliance
promised great advantages; but Armstrong’s chief anxiety affected
France, and when he attempted to enlist Roumanzoff in resistance to
Napoleon’s robberies, he found no encouragement.

Had Napoleon acted according to rules of ordinary civilization, he
would at least have softened the harshness of his commercial policy to-
ward America by opening to the American President some vista of com-
pensation elsewhere. Florida seemed peculiarly suited for this object,
and no one so well as Napoleon knew the anxicty of the late Administra-
tion to obtain that territory, which, for any legitimate purpose, was use-
less and worthless to France. In December, 1808, Napoleon could have
retained little or no hope of controlling the Spanish colonies by force;
yet he ordered the American Government to leave them alone.

From Turreau’s attitude as well as from Armstrong’s letters, the Gov-
ernment at Washington was advised that neither favor nor justice need
be expected from Napoleon. This impression, strengthened by all the
private advices which arrived from France during the winter of 1808-
1809, even though partly balanced by the bulletins of the Emperor’s
splendid Spanish campaign, had much to do with the refusal of Congress
to declare a double war, which, however general in terms, must in effect
be waged against England alone. Anger with France affected Republi-
cans almost as strongly as fear of Napoleon excited Federalists. When
the final struggle took place in Congress over the embargo, no small share
of the weakness shown by the Administration and its followers was due
to their consciousness that the repeal of the embargo would relicve them
from appearing to obey an imperial mandate.

A rupture with France seemed certain. Turreau expected it and hoped
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only to delay it. In his eyes the Emperor had suffered an indignity that
could not be overlooked, although he asked that retaliation should be
delayed till autumn. ‘However dissatisfied the French Government may
‘be by the last measures adopted by Congress, I believe it would be well
to await the result of the next session two months hence before taking a
severer course against the Americans.” Turreau believed that when the
Emperor learned what the late Congress had done, he would strike the
United States with the thunderbolt of his power. Doubtless the same
impression was general.

As though to remove the last doubt of rupture with Napoleon, the
President startled the country by suddenly announcing a settlement of
his disputes with England. April 7 Erskine received new instructions
from London, and during the next two weeks he was closeted with the
President and the Cabinet. April 21 the National Intelligencer announced
the result of their labors,



CHAPTER SIXTY-ONE

Canning’s Concessions

I N CANNING’S NOTE to Pinkney of September 23, 1808 — the same paper
which expressed His Majesty’s regret for the embargo ‘as a measure of
inconvenient restriction upon the American people’ — a paragraph easily
overlooked had been inserted to provide for future chances of fortune:

It is not improbable, indeed, that some alterations may be made in the
Orders of Council as they are at present framed — alterations calculated,
not to abate their spirit or impair their principle, but to adapt them more
exactly to the different state of things which has fortunately grown up
in Europe and to combine all practicable relief to neutrals with a more
severe pressure upon the enemy.

This intended change in the Orders depended on the political change
which converted Spain from an enemy into an ally. Spencer Perceval did
not care to press the cause of British commerce so far as to tax American
wheat and salt-fish on their way to Spain and Portugal, where he must
himself provide money to pay for them after they were bought by the
army commissaries. Accordingly, in December, 1808, a new Order in
Council appeared, doing away with the export duties lately imposed by
Parliament on foreign articles passing through England. Thenceforward
American wheat might be shipped at Liverpool for the Spanish Peninsula
without paying ten shillings a quarter to the British Treasury, if only
the embargo did not prevent American wheat from entering Liverpool
at all.

The year 1809 began with this new spirit of accommodation in British
Councils. The causes which produced it were notorious. From the mo-
ment Europe closed her ports, in the autumn of 1807, articles commonly
supplied from the Continent rose to speculative prices, and after the
American embargo the same effect followed with American produce.
Flax, linseed, tallow, timber, Spanish wool, silk, hemp, American cotton,
doubled or trebled in price in the English markets during the years
1807 and 1808. Colonial produce declined in the same proportion.
Quantities of sugar and coffee overfilled the warehouses of London, while
the same articles could not be bought at Amsterdam and Antwerp at
prices three, four, and five times those asked on the Royal Exchange.

560
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Under the Orders in Council, the whole produce of the West Indies, shut
from Europe by Napoleon and from the United States by the embargo,
was brought to England, until mere plethora stopped accumulation.

The British armies sent to Spain required large sums in coin for their
supplies, and the Spaniards required every kind of assistance. The
process of paying money on every hand and receiving nothing but worth-
less produce could not long continue without turning the exchanges
against London; yet a sudden call for specie threatened to shake the
foundations of society. Never was credit so rotten. Speculation was
rampant and inflation accompanied it. None of the familiar signs of
financial disaster were absent. Visionary joint-stock enterprises flour-
ished. Discounts at long date, or without regard to proper security,
could be obtained with ease from the private banks and bankers who
were competing for business; and althoygh the Bank of England followed
its usual course, neither contracting nor expanding its loans and issues,
suddenly, at the close of 1808, gold coin rose at a leap from a nominal
rate of 103 to the alarming premium of 113. The exchanges had turned,
and the inevitable crash was near.

The political outlook took the same somber tone as the finances. Al-
though no one fully understood all that had been done by the Portland
Ministry, enough was known to render their fall certain; and Canning
saw himself sinking with the rest. He made active efforts to secure his
own safety and to rise above the misfortunes which threatened to over-
whelm his colleagues.

Canning turned to Pinkney to ascertain how much concession would be
safe. The intervicw took place January 22; but Pinkney’s powers had
been withdrawn, and he neither could nor would furnish Canning with
any assurance on which a concession could be offered with the certainty
cither that it would be accepted or that it would be refused.

After experimenting upon Pinkney, much as he had sounded Parlia-
ment, Canning lost not an hour in composing the new instructions to
Erskine. Four in number, all bearing the same date of January 23, they
dealt successively with each of the disputed points; but in order to under-
stand the embroilment they caused, readers must carry in mind precisely
what Canning ordered Erskine to do and precisely what Erskine did.

The first instruction dealt with the Chesapeake affair and the proclama-
tion occasioned by it. Canning instructed Erskine that if French ships-
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of-war should be excluded from American ports and if the proclamation
should be tacitly withdrawn, he need no longer insist upon the formal
recall. Further, Gallatin had suggested that Congress was about to ex-
clude foreign seamen by law from national ships; and Canning admitted
also this evasion of his demand that the United States should engage not
to countenance desertions. Finally, he withdrew the demand for disavow-
als which had wrecked Rose’s mission.

Evidently the British Government wished to settle the Chesapeake
affair. Had Canning in like manner swept away his old conditions prece-
dent to withdrawal of the Orders in Council, his good faith would have
been above suspicion; but he approached that subject in a different spirit,
and imposed one condition after another while he adopted the unusual
course of putting each new condition into the mouth of some American
official. He drew from Erskine’s dispatches the inference that Madison,
Smith, and Gallatin were willing to recognize in express terms the validity
of the British Rule of 1756. For this misunderstanding Erskine was to
blame, but Canning was alone responsible for the next remark, that
‘Mr. Pinkney has recently, but for the first time, expressed to me his
opinion that there will be no indisposition on the part of his Government
to the enforcement, by the naval power of Great Britain,” of the Act of
Congress declaring non-intercourse with France. On the strength of
these supposed expressions of William Pinkney, Madison, Smith, and
Gallatin, none of which was official or in writing, Canning concluded: ‘I
flatter myself that there will be no difficulty in obtaining a distinct and
official recognition of these conditions from the American Government.
For this purpose you are at liberty to communicate this dispatch in
exienso to the American Government.’

Meanwhile the Government of England was falling to pieces. Day by
day the situation became more alarming. For months after these dis-
patches were sent, the Commons passed their time in taking testimony
and listening to speeches intended to prove or disprove that the Duke of
York, Commander-in-Chief of the Army, was in the habit of selling of-
ficers’ commissions through the agency of his mistress, a certain Mrs.
Clarke; and although the Duke protested his innocence, the scandal
drove him from his office. The Ministry was rent by faction; Perceval,
Castlereagh, and Canning were at cross-purposes, while the Whigs were
so weak that they rather feared than hoped their rivals’ fall.
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At length, April 26, the reality of the weakness of Perceval and Can-
ning became clear. On that day a new Order in Council appeared, which
roused great interest because it seemed to abandon the whole ground
taken in the Orders of November, 1807, and to return within the admitted
principles of international law. The Order of April 26, 1809, declared
that the old orders were revoked and annulled except so far as their ob-
jects were to be attained by a general blockade of all ports and places
under the Government of France. The blockade thus declared was to
extend northward as far as Ems, and was to include on the south the
ports of northern Italy. Of course the new blockade was not even claimed
to be effective. No squadrons were to enforce its provisions by their
actual presence before the blockaded ports. In that respect the Order of
April 26, 1809, was as illegal as that of November 11, 1807; but the new
arrangement opened to neutral commerce all ports not actually ports of
France, even though the British flag should be excluded from them —
retaliating upon France only the injury which the French decrees at-
tempted to inflict on England.

Pinkney was greatly pleased, and wrote to Madison in excellent spirits
that the change gave all the immediate benefits which could have arisen
from the arrangement proposed by him in the previous August. ‘Our
triumph is already considered as a signal one by everybody. The pre-
texts with which Ministers would conceal their motives for a relinquish-
ment of all which they prized in their system are seen through, and it is
universally viewed as a concession to America. Our honor is now safe;
and by management we may probably gain everything we have in
view.’

Early in February, when Congress refused to support Madison’s war
policy — the mere shadow of which brought Perceval and Canning almost
to their senses — Canning’s instructions were dispatched from the
Foreign Office. April 7, more than a month after the Tenth Congress
had expired, amidst political conditions altogether different from those
imagined by Canning, the instructions reached Washington; and Erskine
found himself required to carry them into effect.

A cautious diplomatist would have declined to act upon them. Under
pretext of the change which had altered the situation he would have asked
for new instructions, while pointing out the mischievous nature of the
old. The instructions were evidently impossible to execute; the situation
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was less critical than ever before and Great Britain was master of the
field.

On the other hand, the instructions offered some appearance of an
advance toward friendship. They proved Canning’s ignorance, but not
his bad faith; and if Canning in good faith wanted a settlement, Erskine
saw every reason for gratifying him. The arrogance of Canning’s de.
mands did not necessarily cxclude further concession. The great Govern-
ments of Europe from time immemorial had used a tone of authority
insufferable to weaker Powers and not agrecable to one another; yet their
tone did not always imply the wish to quarrel, and England herself seldom
resented manners as unpleasant as her own. Used to the rough exchange
of blows and hardened by centuries of toil and fighting, England was not
sensitive when her interests were at stake.

Finally, Erskine was the son of Lord Erskine, and owed his appoint-
ment to Charles James Fox. He was half republican by education, half
American by marriage; and probably, like all British liberals, he felt in
secret an entire want of confidence in Canning and a positive antipathy to
the Tory commercial system.

Going at once to Secretary Robert Smith, Erskine began on the
Chesapeake affair and quickly disposed of it. The President abandoned
the American demand for a court-martial on Admiral Berkeley, finding
that it would not be entertained. Erskine then wrote a letter offering the
stipulated redress for the Chesapeake outrage, and Madison wrote a letter
accepting it, which Robert Smith signed, and dated April 17.

Two points in Madison’s Chesapeake letter attracted notice. Erskine
began his official note by alluding to the Non-Intercourse Act of March 1
as having placed Great Britain on an equal footing with the other bel- .
ligerents and warranting acknowledgment on that account. The idea was
far-fetched, and Madison’s reply was ambiguous:

As it appears at the same time, that in making this offer His Britannic
Majesty derives a motive from the equality now existing in the relations
of the United States with the two belligerent Powers, the President owes
it to the occasion and to himself to let it be understood that this equality
is a result.incident to a state of things growing out of distinct considera-
tions.

If Madison knew precisely what ‘distinct considerations’ had led
Congress and the country to that state of things to which the Non-
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Intercourse Act was incident, he knew more than was known to Congress.
The second point challenged sharper criticism.

With this explanation, as requisite as it is frank [Smith’s note con-
tinued], I am authorized to inform you that the President accepts the note
delivered by you in the name and by the order of His Britannic Majesty,
and will consider the same with the engagement therein, when fulfilled,
as a satisfaction for the insult and injury of which he has complained.
But I have it in express charge from the President to state that, while he
forbears to insist on the further punishment of the offending officer, he
is not the less sensible of the justice and utility of such an example, nor
the less persuaded that it would best comport with what is due from His
Britannic Majesty to his own honor.

According to Robert Smith’s subsequent account, the last sentence
was added by Madison in opposition to his Secretary’s wishes. One of
Madison’s peculiarities showed itself in these words, which endangered
the success of all his cfforts. If he wished a reconciliation, they were
worse than uscless; but if he wished a quarrel, he chose the right means.
The President of the United States was charged with the duty of assert-
ing in its full extent what was due to his own honor as representative of
the Union; but he was not required, cither by the laws of his country or
by the custom of nations, to define the conduct which in his opinion best
comported with what was due from His Britannic Majesty to the honor
of England.

Having thus disposed of the Chesapeake grievance, Erskine took up
the Orders in Council. His instructions were emphatic, and he was in
cffect ordered to communicate these instructions in extenso to the Presi-
dent, for in such cases permission was equivalent to order. He disobeyed;
in official sense he did not communicate his instructions at all. ‘I con-
sidered that it would be in vain,” he afterward said. This was his first
exercise of discretion; and his second was more scrious. After reading
Canning’s repeated and positive orders to require from the American
Government ‘a distinct and official recognition’ of three conditions, he
decided to treat these orders as irrelevant.

Canning offered to withdraw the Orders in Council on three conditions
precedent:

(1) That all interdicts on commerce should be revoked by the United
States so far as they aficcted Ingland, while they were still to be en-
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.forced against France. When Erskine submitted this condition to
Robert Smith, he was assured that the President would comply with it,
and that Congress would certainly assert the national rights against
France, but that the President had no power to pledge the Government by
a formal act. Erskine decided to consider Canning’s condition fulfilled
if the President, under the eleventh section of the Non-Intercourse Act,
should issue a proclamation renewing trade with Great Britain, while
retaining the prohibition against France. This settlement had the dis-
advantage of giving no guaranty to England, while it left open the trade
with Holland, which was certainly a dependency of France.

(2) Canning further required that the United States should formally
renounce the pretension to a colonial trade in war which was not per-
mitted in time of peace. To this condition, which krskine seems to have
stated as applying only to the direct carrying trade to Europe, Robert
Smith replied that it could not be recognized except in a formal treaty;
but that it was practically unimportant, because this commerce, as well
as every other with France or her dependencies, was prohibited by Act
of Congress. Erskine accepted this reasoning, and left the abstract right
untouched.

(3) Canning lastly demanded that the United States should recognize
the right of Great Britain to capture such American vessels as should be
found attempting to trade with any of the Powers acting under the
French Decrees. To this suggestion Secrctary Smith replied that the
President could not so far degrade the national authority as to authorize
Great Britain to execute American laws; but that the point seemed to
him immaterial, since no citizen could present to the United States
Government a claim founded on a violation of its own laws. Erskine
once more acquiesced, although the trade with Holland was not a viola-
tion of law and would probably give rise to the very claims which Canning
meant to preclude.

Having thus disposed of the three conditions which were to be dis-

. tinctly and officially recognized, Erskine exchanged notes with Robert
Smith, bearing date April 18 and 19, 1809, chiefly admirable for their
brevity, since they touched no principle. In his note of April 18, Erskine
said that the favorable change produced by anticipation of the Non-
Intercourse Act had encouraged his Government to send out a new envoy
with full powers; and that meanwhile His Majesty would recall his



1809) * Canning’s Concessions 567

Orders in Council if the President would issue a proclamation renewing in-
tercourse with Great Britain. Secretary Smith replied on the same day
that the President would not fail in doing so. April 19, Erskine in a few
lines announced himself ‘ authorized to declare that His Majesty’s Orders
in Council of January and November, 1807, will have been withdrawn
as respects the United States on the tenth of June next.” Secretary Smith
answered that the President would immediately issue his proclamation.
Two days afterward the four notes and the proclamation itself were pub-
lished in the National Intelligencer.

The United States heard with delight that friendship with England had
been restored. Amid an outburst of joy commerce resumed its old paths,
and without waiting for June 10 hurried ships and merchandise to British
ports. No complaints were heard; not a voice was raised about impress-
ments; no regret was expressed that war with France must follow recon-
ciliation with England; no one found fault with Madison for following
in 1809 the policy which had raised almost a revolution against President
Washington only fourteen years before. Yet Madison strained the law,
besides showing headlong haste, in acting upon Erskine’s promises with-
out waiting for their ratification and without even asking to see the
British negotiator’s special powers or instructions. Accepting quietly a
turn of fortune that would have bewildered the most astute diplomatist,
Madison made ready to meet the special session of Congress.

The Federalist minority — strong in numbers, flushed by victory over
Jefferson, and full of contempt for the abilities of their opponents —
found themselves suddenly deprived by Erskine and Madison of every
grievance to stand upon. For once, no one charged that Madison’s act
was dictated from the Tuileries. The Federalist newspapers advanced the
idea that their success was the naturdl result of their own statesmanship.
Their efforts against the embargo had opened the path for Canning’s
good-will to show itself, and the removal of Jefferson’s sinister influence
accounted for the brilliancy of Madison’s success.

The rule that in public life one could never safely speak well of an op-
ponent was illustrated by the mistake of the Federalists in praising
Madison merely to gratify their antipathy to Jefferson. Had they been
silent, or had they shown suspicion, they would have been safe; but all
admitted that French influence and hostility to England had vanished
with Jefferson; all were positive that England had gained what she had
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sought and that Canning had every reason to be satisfied. For the mo-
ment Madison was the most popular President that ever had met Con-
gress. At no session since 1789 had such harmony prevailed as during
the five weeks of this political paradise, although not one element had
changed its character or position, and the harmony, like the discord, was
a play of imagination. Congress passed its bills with unanimity alto-
gether new.

Nothing could be happier for Madison than this situation. So com-
pletely was discipline restored that June 27 he ventured to send the name
of J. Q. Adams a second time to the Senate as minister to Russia; and
nineteen Republicans confirmed the nomination, while but one adhered to
the opinion that the mission was unnecessary. The power of Ingland
over America was never more strikingly shown than by the sudden calm
which fell on the country, in full prospect of war with France, at a word
from a British minister. As Canning frowned or smiled, faction rose to
frenzy or lay down to slumber throughout the United States.

June 28 Congress adjourned, leaving the Executive, for the first time
in many years, almost without care until the fourth Monday in November.



CHAPTER SIXTY-TWO.
Disavowal of Erskine

ERSKINE’S DISPATCHES were received by Canning May 22, and the
Morning Post of the next day printed the news with approval: ‘Upon
this pleasing event we sincerely congratulate the public.” The Times of
May 24 accepted the arrangement: ‘We shall not urge anything against
the concessions.” May 25, with ‘considerable pain, though but little
surprise,” the same newspaper announced that Erskine was disavowed by
the Government.

Canning’s abrupt rcjection of Erskine’s arrangement without ex-
planation must have scemed even to himself a high-handed course, at
variance with some of his late professions, certain to injure or even to
destroy British influence in America, and likely to end in war. To the
settlement as a practical measure no objection could be alleged. No
charge of bad faith could be supported. No shadow of law or reason
could be devised for enforcing against America rights derived from re-
taliation upon France, when America enforced stronger measures of
retaliation upon France than those imposed by the Orders in Council.
Neither the Non-Importation Act of 1806, nor the Chesapeake proclama-
tion of 1807, nor the cmbargo, nor the Non-Intercourse Act of March,
1809, could be used to justify the rejection of an arrangement which
evaded or removed every British grievance. Even the subject of im-
pressments had been suppressed by the American Government. Madison
flung himself into Canning’s arms, and to fling him back was an effort of
sheer violence.

Perhaps the effort gave to Canning’s conduct an air that he would not
naturally have cared to betray; for his manner was that of a man irritated
by finding himself obliged to be brutal. In the want of a reason for re-
jecting the American arrangement, he was reduced to rejecting it without
giving a reason. The process of disciplining Erskine was simple, for
Erskine had disregarded instructions to an extent that no Government
could afford to overlook; but President Madison was not in the employ
of the British King, and had a right to such consideration at least as one
gentleman commonly owes to another.

Canning addressed himself first to the simpler task. May 22, a few
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hours after receiving the dispatches from Washington he wrote a dis-
patch to Erskine in regard to the Chesapeake arrangement. He reminded
Erskine that his instructions had required the formal exclusion of French
war-vessels and the formal withdrawal of the Chesapeake proclamation
before any arrangement should be concluded. Not only had these con-
ditions been neglected, but two other less serious errors had been made.

Variations from the rigor of instructions might be ground for reproving
Erskine, but could hardly excuse a disavowal of the compact; yet the
compact was disavowed. An impression was gencral that the Ministry
were disposed to ratify it, but were withheld by the paragraph in Robert
Smith’s letter defining what was due from His Britannic Majesty to his
own honor. Milder Foreign Secretaries than George Canning would have
found themselves obliged to take notice of such a reflection, and Canning
appeared at his best when his adversaries gave him an excuse for the lofty
tone he liked to assume.

It remains for me [he continued] to notice the expressions, so full of dis-
respect to His Majesty, with which that note concludes; and I am to
signify to you the displeasure which His Majesty feels that any minister
of His Majesty should have shown himself so far insensible of what is
due to the dignity of his sovereign as to have consented to receive and
transmit a note in which such expressions were contained.

The next day Canning repudiated the rest of the arrangement. Noth-
ing could be easier than to show that Erskine had violated his instructions
more plainly in regard to the Orders in Council than in regard to the
Chesapeake affair. Of the three conditions imposed by Canning, not one
had been fulfilled.

To Canning’s dispatch repudiating the commercial arrangement,
Erskine made a reply showing more keenness and skill than was to be
found in Canning’s criticism.

It appears from the general tenor of your dispatches [wrote Erskine on
receiving these letters of May 22 and 23] that His Majesty’s Government
were not willing to trust to assurances from the American Government,
but that official pledges were to have been required which could not be
given for want of power, some of them also being of a nature which would
prevent a formal recognition. Had I believed that His Majesty’s Govern-
ment were determined to insist upon these conditions being complied with

¢ in one particular manner only, I should have adhered implicitly to my
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instructions; but as I collected from them that His Majesty was desirous
of accomplishing his retaliatory system by such means as were most
compatible with a good understanding with friendly and neutral Powers,
I felt confident that His Majesty would approve of the arrangement I
had concluded as one likely to lead to a cordial and complete understand-
ing and co-operation on the part of the United States, which co-operation
never could be obtained by previous stipulations either from the Govern-
ment of the United States, who have no power to accede to them, or from
Congress, which would never acknowledge them as recognitions to guide
their conduct.

This reply, respectful in form, placed Secretary Canning in the dilemma
between the guilt of ignorance or that of bad faith; but the rejoinder of a
dismissed diplomatist weighed little except in history, and long before it
was made public, Erskine and his arrangement had ceased to interest the
world. Canning disposed of both forever by a third dispatch, dated May
30, enclosing to Erskine an Order in Council disavowing his arrangement
and ordering him back to England.

When the official disavowal appeared in the newspapers of May 25,
Canning had an interview with Pinkney. At great length and with much
detail he read the instructions he had given to Erskine and commented
on the points in which Erskine had violated them. He complained of
unfriendly expressions in the American notes; but he did not say why the
arrangement failed to satisfy all the legitimate objects of England, nor
did he suggest any improvement or change which would make the ar-
rangement, as it existed, agreeable to him. On the other hand, he an-
nounced that, though Erskine would have to be recalled, his successor
was already appointed and would sail for America within a few days.

His selection of an agent for that purpose was so singular as to suggest
that he relied on terror rather than on conciliation. In case Erskine had
obeyed his instructions, which ordered him merely to prepare the way
for negotiation, Canning had fixed upon George Henry Rose as the nego-
tiator. Considering the impression left in America by Rose on his previous
mission, his appointment seemed almost the worst that could have been
made; but bad as the effect of such a selection would have been, one
man, and perhaps only one, in England was certain to make a worse;
and him Canning chose. The new minister was Francis James Jackson.
Whatever good qualities Jackson possessed were overshadowed by the
reputation he had made for himself at Copenhagen. His name was a
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threat of violence; his temper and manners were notorious; and nothing
but his rank in the service marked him as suitable for the post.

Canning made no haste. Nearly two months elapsed before Jackson
sailed. After correcting Erskine’s mistake and replacing the United
States in their position under the Orders in Council of April 26, Canning,
June 13, made a statement to the House of Commons. Declining to
touch questions of general policy for the reason that negotiations were
pending, he contented himself with satisfying the House that Erskine
had acted contrary to instructions and deserved recall. The Whigs knew
little or nothing of the true facts; Erskine’s conduct could not be defended;
no one cared to point out that Canning left to America no dignified course
but war, and public interest was once more concentrated with painful
anxiety on the Continent of Europe. America dropped from sight, and
Canning’s last and worst acts toward the United States escaped notice
or knowledge.

The session of Parliament ended June 21, a week before the special
session of Congress came to an end; and while Iingland waited impatiently
for news from Vienna, where Napoleon was making ready for the battle
of Wagram, Canning drew up the instructions to Jackson — the last of
the series of papers by which, through the peculiar qualities of his style
even more than by the violence of his acts, he embittered to a point that
seemed altogether contrary to their nature a whole nation of Americans
against the nation that gave them birth. If the famous phrase of Can-
ning was ever in any sense true — that he called a new world into existence
to redress the balance of the old — it was most nearly true in the sense
that his instructions and letters forced the United States into a national-
ity of character which the war of the Revolution itself had failed to give
them.

Another man would have temporized and would have offered some
suggestion toward breaking the force of such a blow at a friendly people.
Not only did Canning make no new suggestion, but he even withdrew
that which he had made in February. He told Jackson to propose noth-
ing whatever: ‘ You are, however, at liberty to receive for reference home
any proposal which the American Government may tender to you; but
it is only in the case of that proposal comprehending all the three con-
ditions which Mr. Erskine was instructed to require.’

With this concluding touch Canning’s official irony toward America
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ended, and he laid down his pen. About the middle of June, Jackson,
with three well-defined casus belli in his portfolio, and another — that
of impressments — awaiting his arrival, set sail for America on the
errand which he strangely hoped might not be desperate. With his
departure Canning’s control of American relations ceased. At the
moment when he challenged for the last time an instant declaration of
war from a people who had no warmer wish than to be permitted to
remain his friends, the career of the Administration to which he belonged
came to an end in scandalous disaster.

April 9, Austria had begun another war with Napoleon. At Essling,
May 21, she nearly won a great victory; at Wagram, July 6, she lost a
battle, and soon afterward entered on negotiations which ended, October
20, in the Treaty of Vienna. While this great campaign went on, Sir
Arthur Wellesley drove Soult out of Portugal much as Napoleon had
driven Sir John Moore out of Spain; and then marching up the valley
of the Tagus scared Joseph a second time from Madrid, and fought, July
28, the desperate battle of Talavera. In any case the result of the Aus-
trian war would have obliged him to retreat; but the concentration of the
French forces in his front quickly drove the British army back toward
Lisbon and ended all hope of immediate success in the Peninsula. A
third great effort against Napoleon was directed from London toward the
Scheldt and Meuse. The Cabinet, June 14, decided that Castlereagh
should attempt this experiment; for raids of the kind had charms for a
naval power, and although success could affect the war but little, it
might assist smuggling and destroy a naval depot of Napoleon. Castle-
reagh sent to the Scheldt forty thousand soldiers who were grievously
wanted on the Tagus. July 28, while Wellington fought the battle of
Talavera, Lord Chatham’s expedition started from the Downs, and
reaching the mouth of the Scheldt occupied itself until August 15 with
the capture of Flushing. In gaining this success the army was worn out;
nearly half its number were suffering from typhoid, and September 2 the
Cabinet unanimously voted to recall the expedition.

Talavera and Flushing closed Castlereagh’s career in the War Office,
as Jackson's mission closed that of Canning in American diplomacy.
Defeat abroad, ruin at home, disgrace and disaster everywhere, were the
results of two years of Tory administration. August 11 the Duke of Port-
land was struck by paralysis; and deprived of its chief, the Cabinet went
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to pieces. September 7 Castlercagh was gently forced to resign. Can-
ning, refusing to serve under Perceval or under anyone whom Perceval
suggested, tendered his own resignation. In the course of the complicated
negotiations that followed, Perceval showed to Castlereagh letters in
which for a year past Canning had pressed Castlereagh’s removal from
office. Then at last Castlereagh discovered, as he conceived, that Can-
ning was not a gentleman or a man of honor, and having called him out,
September 21, in a duel on Putney Heath shot him through the thigh.

Such an outcome was a natural result of such an administration; but
as concerned the United States Canning had already done all the harm
possible and more than three generations could wholly repair.



CHAPTER SIXTY-THREE

Francis James [ackson

Tmc NEWS of Erskine’s disavowal reached America so slowly that
merchants enjoyed three months of unrestricted trade, and shipped to
England or elsewhere the accumulations of nearly two years’ produce.
From April 21 till July 21, this process of depletion continued without
an anxiety; and when July 21 news arrived that the arrangement had
been repudiated, merchants still had time to hurry their last cargoes to
sea before the Government could again interpose.

The first effect of Canning’s disavowal seemed bewilderment. No
one in the United States, whether enemy or friend of England, could for
a time understand why Canning had taken so perplexing a course. Very
few of England’s friends could believe that her conduct rested on the
motives she avowed; they sought for some noble, or at least some re-
spectable, object behind her acts. For several months the Federalist
newspapers were at a loss for words and groped in the dark for an English
hand to help them; while the Republican press broke into anger, which
expressed the common popular feeling. ‘The late conduct of the British
Ministry,” said the National Intelligencer of July 26, ‘has capped the
climax of atrocity toward this country.” Every hope of reconciliation or
even of peace with England seemed almost extinguished; yet the country
was still far from a rupture. Not until popular feeling could express it-
self in a new election would the national will be felt; and the next election
was still more than a year away, while the Congress to be then chosen
would meet only in December, 1811, Until then war was improbable,
perhaps impossible, except by the act of England.

When the news arrived, President Madison was at his Virginia planta-
tion. During his absence Gallatin was in charge of matters at Washing-
ton, and on the instant wrote that he thought the President should
return. The President heard the news with as much perplexity as anger,
and even tried to persuade himself that Canning would be less severe
than he threatened.

The outrage on decency committed by the British Government in
May, 1809, was on the whole not so great as that of Sir William Scott’s
decision in the case of the Essex in July, 1805; or that of the blockade of
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New York and the killing of Pierce in April, 1806; or that of Lord Howick’s
Order in Council of January, 1807, when the signatures to Monroe’s
treaty were hardly dry; or that of Spencer Perceval’s Orders in November,
1807, and the speeches made in their defense; or the mission of George
Henry Rose in the winter of 1807-1808; or Erskine’s lctter of February
23, or Canning’s letters of September 23, 1808 — for all these left the
United States in a worse position than that created by the disavowal of
Erskine. Indeed, except for the disgrace of submitting to acts of illegal
force, the United States stood in a comparatively easy attitude after the
Orders of April 26, 1809, so long as Napoleon himself enforced within his
empire a more rigid exclusion of neutral commerce than any that could
be effected by a British blockade.

Hope vanished when Erskine’s instructions became known, and was
succeeded by consternation when the public rcad the reports made by
Erskine and Canning of the language used by Madison, Gallatin, and
Pinkney. For the first time in this contest, Englishmen and Americans
could no longer understand each other’s meaning. Erskine had so con-
fused every detail with his own ideas, and Canning’s course on one side
the Atlantic seemed so little to accord with his tactics on the other, that
neither party could longer believe in the other’s good faith. Americans
were convinced that Canning had offered terms which he intended them
to refuse. Englishmen were sure that Madison had precipitated a settle-
ment which he knew could not be carried out. Madison credited Canning
with fraud as freely as Canning charged Madison with connivance.

The President remained three days in Washington in order to sign,
August 9, a proclamation reviving the Non-Intercourse Act against Great
Britain. On the same day the Secretary of the Treasury enclosed this
proclamation to the collectors of customs in a circular, with instructions
not to enforce the penalties of the law against vessels entering American
ports on the faith of Erskine’s arrangement. This done, Madison re-
turned to Montpelier, August 10, leaving Erskine to exchange apologetic
but very unsatisfactory explanations with Robert Smith and Gallatin.

A month passed without further change, until September § Jackson
landed at Annapolis, whence he reached Washington September 8. He
came with his wife — a fashionable Prussian baroness with a toilette —
and young children, for whose health a Washington September was ill-
suited; he came, too, with a carriage and liveries, coachmen and servants,
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and the outfit of a long residence, as though neither he nor Canning
doubted his welcome.

Francis James Jackson had many good qualities and was on the whole
the only English minister of his time so severely treated by the American
Government as to warrant almost a feeling of sympathy. He was prob-
ably suffering from some organic disease which made his temper irritable,
while his instructions were such as to leave him no room to show his best
capacities in his profession. In ordinary times a man of his experience,
intelligence, and marked character might have succeeded in winning at
Washington a name for ability and straightforwardness; but he was ill-
fitted for the special task he had undertaken and had no clear idea of the
dangers to which he was exposed. Gallatin expressed the feeling of the
Administration when he advised coming at once to the point with Jack-
son, and bringing his negotiation to an immediate close.

Gallatin wrote to the President, September 11:

I do not think that there is any necessity to hurry yourself beyond
your convenience in returning here. It will be as well the tenth as the
first of October, for I am sure, although I have not seen Mr. Jackson and

can judge only from what has passed between him and Mr. Smith, that
he has nothing to say of importance, or pleasant.

Madison replied, proposing to set out for Washington about the
twenty-ninth, but agreeing with Gallatin that in view of ‘Jackson’s ap-
parent patience and reserve,” his disclosures ‘ would not be either operative
or agrecable.’ .

October 1, punctual to his word, the President arrived. The next day
Erskine had his farewell audicnce, and October 3 Jackson was officially
received. Merry’s experience had not been without advantage to both
sides; and Jackson, who seemed to feel more contempt for his own pred-
ccessors — Merry. and Erskine — than for his American antagonists,
accepted everything in good part.

Madison’s civility quite misled him.

‘I do not know,” he wrote October 24, ‘that I had ever more civility
and attention shown me than at a dinner at the President’s yesterday,
where I was trcated with a distinction not lately accorded to a British
minister in this country.’

Evidently this deference pleased the British minister, who saw nothing
behind it but a social triumph for himself and his wife; yet he had already



578 The First Administration of James Madison (2809

been forced to protest against the ceremonial forms with which Madison
studiously surrounded him, and had he read Shakespeare rather than
Erskine’s writings, he might have learned from Julius Caesar the general
diplomatic law that ‘when love begins to sicken and decay, it useth ever
an enforced ceremony.” A man of tact would have seen that from the
moment Madison became formal he was dangerous.

Jackson’s interviews with Robert Smith began immediately after the
President’s arrival in Washington. The first conversation was reported
by the British minister to his Government in language so lifelike, but
showing such astonishment on both sides at the attitude of each, as to give
it place among the most natural sketches in American diplomatic history.
After some fencing on the subject of Erskine’s responsibility, Jackson
passed to the subject of his own instructions, and remarked that he was
ordered to wait for propositions from the President.

Here the American minister [reported Jackson] exhibited signs of the
utmost surprise and disappointment. He seemed to be so little prepared
for this close of my conversation that he was some time before he could
recollect himself sufficiently to give me any answer at all. . . . Accordingly
a considerable pause in our conversation took place, which at length he
broke in upon by saying: ‘Then, sir, you have no proposal to make to us
— no explanation to give? How shall we be able to get rid of the Non-
Intercourse Act?’

Robert Smith was a wearisome burden to Madison and his incom-
petence made no agreeable object of study; but his apparent bewilderment
at Jackson’s audacity was almost as instructive as the sincere astonish-
ment of the Englishman at the effect of his own words. The game of
cross-purposes could not be more naturally played. Robert Smith had
been requested by Madison to ascertain precisely what Jackson’s in-
structions were; and both at the first and at a sccond interview he pressed
this point, always trying to discover what Jackson had to offer, while
the Englishman always declined to offer anything whatever. Two con-
versations satisfied the President that Jackson’s hands were fast tied and
that he could open no door of escape. Then Madison gently set the
Secretary of State aside, and, as openly as the office of Chief Magistrate
permitted, undertook to deal with the British minister.

October 9 the Secretary of State sent to the British Legation a formal
letter, written, like all Robert Smith’s important papers, by the President.
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After recapitulating the negative results reached in the two interviews,
Jackson was asked whether he had been rightly understood; and the
letter ended by saying that, ‘to avoid the misconceptions incident to oral
proceeding, I have also the honor to intimate that it is thought expedient
that our further discussions on the present occasion be in the written
form.’

Jackson wrote a long letter, dated October 11, for the purpose, as he
reported to Canning, of checking ‘that spirit which can never lead to
conciliation, by which America thinks herself entitled to make her will
and her view of things the criterion by which they are to be generally
approved or condemned.” Beginning with the assertion that ‘there does
not exist in the annals of diplomacy a precedent’ for stopping verbal
communication within so few days after the delivery of credentials, he
rehearsed the story of Erskine’s arrangement and justified his refusal of
apology or explanation. In doing so, he allowed himself to insinuate,
what Canning expressly asserted in his instructions, that Robert Smith
had connived at Erskine’s misconduct.

Two days after this letter was dispatched, Robert Smith sent a civil
message that there had been no intention to stop personal intercourse;
‘he should be most happy to see me whenever I would call upon him; we
might converse upon indifferent subjects; but that his memory was so
incorrect that it was on his account necessary that in making his reports
to the President he should have some written document to assist him.’
With this excuse for the Secretary’s sudden withdrawal from the field,
the British Minister contented himself until October 19, when he re-
ceived an official letter, signed as usual by Robert Smith, but written
with ability such as that good-natured but illiterate Secretary of State
never imagined himself to possess.

The American note of October 19, far too long to quote or even to
abridge, was perhaps the best and keenest paper Madison ever wrote.
His faults of style and vagueness of thought almost wholly disappeared
in the heat of controversy; his defense was cool, his attack keen, as though
his sixty years weighed lightly the day when he first got his young an-
tagonist at his mercy. He dealt Jackson a fatal blow at the outset, by
reminding him that in July, 1808, only the previous year, Canning had
put an end to oral communication after two interviews with Pinkney on
the subjects under negotiation. He then made three points, well stated
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and easily remembered: (1) That when a Government refuses to fulfill
a pledge, it owes a formal and frank disclosure of its recasons. (2) That,
in the actual situation, Mr. Erskine’s successor was the proper channel
for that disclosure. (3) That since Mr. Jackson disclaimed authority
to make either explanations or proposals, the President could do no more
than express his willingness to favor any honorable mode of settling the
matters in dispute.

The letter of October 19 forced Jackson one step backward and drove
him nearly to the wall. In a note dated October 23 he answered the
American note. If Madison had doubted his own advantage, his doubts
must have vanished in reading Jackson’s second note, which shufiled and
evaded the issues in a manner peculiar to disconcerted men; but the
most convincing proof of Jackson’s weakness appeared in the want of
judgment he showed in exposing himself to attack at the moment when
he was seeking safety. He committed the blunder of repeating the charge
that Madison was responsible for Erskine’s violation of instructions.

A few days after writing this evidence of his own uneasiness, the
British minister received from the Department of State a third note,
dated November 1, which left no doubt that the President meant to push
his antagonist to extremes. The letter was short, and ended with a stern
warning:

T abstain, sir, from making any particular animadversions on several
irrelevant and improper allusions in your letter, not at all comporting with
the professed disposition to adjust, in an amicable manner, the differences
unhappily subsisting between the two countries; but it would be improper
to conclude the few observations to which I purposely limit myself, with-
out adverting to your repetition of a language implying a knowledge on
the part of this Government that the instructions of your predecessor did
not authorize the arrangement formed by him. After the explicit and
peremptory asseveration that this Government had no such knowledge,
and that with such a knowledge no such arrangement would have been
entered into, the view which you have again presented of the subject
makes it my duty to apprise you that such insinuations are inadmissible
in the intercourse of a foreign minister with a Government that under-
stands what it owes to itself.

This letter placed Jackson in a position which he could not defend, and
from which he thought, perhaps with reason, that he could not without
disgrace retreat. November 4 he replied, with more ability than he had
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hitherto shown, to the letter of November 1; but he gave himself, for a
mere point of temper, into Madison’s hands.

You will find that in my correspondence with you I have carefully
avoided drawing conclusions that did not necessarily follow from the prem-
ises advanced by me, and least of all should I think of uttering an in-
sinuation where I was unable to substantiate a fact. To facts, such as I
have become acquainted with them, I have scrupulously adhered; and in so
doing I must continue, whenever the good faith of His Majesty’s Govern-
ment is called in question, to vindicate its honor and dignity in the manner
that appears to me best calculated for that purpose.

When Jackson was sent to Copenhagen with a message whose general
tenor resembled that which he brought to the United States, he was
fortunate enough to be accompanied by twenty ships-of-the-line, forty
frigates, and thirty thousand regular troops. Even with this support, if
Court gossip could be believed, King George expressed to him surprise
that he had escaped being kicked downstairs. At Washington he had
no other force on his side than such as his footman or his groom could
render and the destiny that King George predicted for him could not,
by any diplomatic weapons, be longer escaped. November 8, Secretary
Smith sent to the Legation one more note, which closed Jackson’s
diplomatic career:

Sir,— ... Finding that in your reply of the fourth instant you have
used a language which cannot be understood but as reiterating and even
aggravating the same gross insinuation, it only remains, in order to pre-
clude opportunities which are thus abused, to inform you that no further
communications will be received from you. ...



CHAPTER SIXTY-FOUR

Executive Weakness

TKE EFFECT of American conciliation upon Canning was immediate
and simple; but the effect of American defiance upon Napoleon will be
understood only by those who forget the fatigue of details in their interest
for Napoleon’s character. The Emperor’s steps in 1809 are not easily
followed. He was overburdened with labor; his motives and policy
shifted as circumstances changed; and among second-rate interests he
lost more habitually than ever the thread of his own labyrinth.

Traveling day and night from Spain in January, 1809, with the same
haste and with something of the same motive as when four years after-
ward he posted back to Paris from his Russian disaster, Napoleon ap-
peared unexpectedly at his capital January 24. The moment was one of
crisis, but a crisis of his own making. He had suffered a political check in
Spain, which he had but partially disguised by a useless campaign. The
same spirit of universal dominion which grasped at Spain and required
the conquest of England, roused resistance elsewhere almost as desperate
as that of the Spaniards and English. Even the American Congress
repealed its embargo and poured its commerce through so-called neutral
ports into the lap of England, while at the same moment Austria, driven
to desperation, prepared to fight for a fourth time. Napoleon had strong
reasons for choosing that moment to force Austria wholly into his system.
Germany stood at his control. Russia alone could have made the result
doubtful; but the Czar was wholly French.

Toward Austria the Emperor directed all his attention, and rapidly
drove her Government into an attitude of resistance the most spirited
and the most desperate taken by any people of Europe except Spain.
Although Austria never wearied of fighting Napoleon and rarely fought
without credit, her effort to face, in 1809, a Power controlling the military
resources of France, Italy, and Germany, with the moral support of
Russia behind them, had an heroic quality higher than was shown at any
time by any other government in Europe. April 9, the Austrian army
crossed the Inn and began the war. April 13, Napoleon left Paris for the
Danube, and during the next three months his hands were full. Austria
fought with an energy which put Germany and Russia to shame.

582
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Such & moment was ill-suited for inviting negotiation on American
affairs; but Armstrong received instructions a few days after Napoleon
left Paris, and with these instructions came a copy of the Non-Intercourse
Act of March 1, which, while apparently forbidding intercourse with
England and France, notified Napoleon that the United States would no
longer obey his wishes or keep their industries from seeking a British
market through indirect channels. Armstrong communicated this Act
to the French Government in the terms of his instructions.

Armstrong informed Secretary Robert Smith that nothing.need be
expected from this step, unless it were perhaps his own summary ex-
pulsion from France as a result of offense given either by the Non-
Intercourse Act or by the language of Armstrong’s dispatches surrepti-
tiously published. Bitterly as Armstrong detested Napoleon, he under-
stood but little the mind and methods of that unusual character. Never
in his career had the Emperor been busier than when Armstrong wrote
this note to Champagny, but it caught his attention at once. He had
fought one battle after another, and in five days had captured forty
thousand men and a hundred picces of cannon; he had entered Vienna
May 10, and had taken his quarters at Schonbrunn, the favorite palace
of the Austrian Emperor. There he was in a position of no little difficulty,
in spite of his military successes, when his courier brought him dispatches
from Paris containing news that the United States, March 1, had repealed
the embargo, and that the British Government, April 26, had withdrawn
the Orders in Council of November, 1807, and had substituted a mere
blockade of Holland, France, and Italy. The effect of these two events
was greatly increased by their coming together.

May 22, Napoleon fought the battle of Essling, in which he lost fifteen
or twenty thousand men and suffered a serious repulse. Even this ab-
sorbing labor and the critical situation that followed did not long inter-
rupt his attention to American business. May 26, Champagny made to
the Emperor a report on American affairs.

Champagny urged the Emperor not to persist in punishing America,
but to charge M. d’'Hauterive, the acting Minister of Foreign Relations
at Paris, with the duty of discussing with General Armstrong the details
of an arrangement. Napolcon, impressed by Champagny’s reasoning,
fortified by the news that Erskine had settled the commercial disputes
between England and America, sent to Champagny the draft of a new
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decree, which declared that, inasmuch as the United States by their firm
resistance to the arbitrary measures of England, had obtained the rev-
ocation of the British Orders of November, 1807, and were no longer
obliged to pay imposts to the British Government, therefore the Milan
Decree of December 17, 1807, should be withdrawn and neutral com-
merce should be replaced where it stood under the Berlin Decree of
November 21, 1806.

This was the situation of the American dispute June 13, 1809, at Vienna,
at the moment Canning’s disavowal of Erskine became certain. The
news of Canning’s refusal to carry out the arrangement stopped Napoleon
short in his career of concession; he left the American affair untouched
until after the battle of Wagram, July 6, which was followed by the sub-
mission of Austria, July 12. The battle of Wagram placed him in a posi-
tion to defy resistance. Immediately afterward he sent orders to Paris
to stop Hauterive’s negotiation. About the middle of July, Hauterive
told the American minister ‘that a change had taken place in the views
of the Emperor; and in particular that a decree prepared by his orders as
a substitute for those of November, 1806, and December, 1807, and
which would have been a very material step toward accommodation, had
been laid aside.’

In the heat and fury of the battle of Wagram this order must have
been given, for it was known at Paris only one weck afterward, and
Armstrong reported the message, July 24, as a notice that unless America
resisted the British doctrines of search and blockade she need expect no
relaxation on the part of Napoleon; while this notice was supported by
a menace that until the Emperor knew the President’s decision he would
take no step to make matters worse than they already were.

At the moment when he received what he supposed to be the promise
that Napoleon would not make matters worse until he heard what the
President had to say, Armstrong warned his Government that this as-
surance was intended as a menace rather than as a pledge:

What will satisfy him on even these points, particularly the former, is
not distinctly explained. Our creed on this subject is one thing; that of the
British Government, another; and the French doctrine of visit, a third.
When we speak of illegal search, we mean that which claims the right
of impressment also; but according to the imperial decrees and their com-
mentators, the offense is equally great whatever may be the object of the
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visit — whether it be to demand half your crew, or to ascertain only the
port from which you sailed, the nature of your cargo, or the character of
your flag. This is pushing things to a point whither we cannot follow
them, and which, if I do not mistake, is selected because it is a point of that
description.

Before the month of August, Napoleon reverted more energetically
than ever to his old practice and policy. Armstrong imagined that he
might obtain some advantage by visiting Holland. He amused himself
during the idle August by a journey to Amsterdam, where he obtained,
August 19, a private interview with King Louis.

King Louis told Armstrong that he was quarreling seriously with the
Emperor on account of the American trade, but was bent on protecting
it at all hazards. This declaration to a foreign minister accredited, not to
himself but to his brother, showed Louis attempting with the aid of for-
eign nations a systematic opposition to Napoleon’s will. He denounced
his brother’s system as ‘the triumph of immorality over justice. . .. The
system is bad — so bad that it cannot last; but in the meantime we are
the sufferers.’

With such comfort as Armstrong could draw from the knowledge that
Napoleon’s brothers were as hostile as President Madison to the imperial
system, he returned to Paris, September 6, to wait the further develop-
ment of the Emperor’s plans. He found on his arrival two notes from
Champagny at Vienna. One of these dispatches expressed a civil hope,
hardly felt by the Emperor, that Armstrong would not for the present
carry out his project of returning to America. The other, dated August
22, was final; but to preclude a doubt, it closed by saying that the ports
of Holland, of the Elbe and the Weser, of Italy and of Spain, would not
he allowed to enjoy privileges of which French ports were deprived, and
that whenever England should revoke her blockades and Orders in Coun-
cil, France would revoke her retaliatory decrees.

Although this and the Bayonne Decree seemed to cover all ordinary
objects of confiscation, the Emperor adopted the supplementary rule
that American merchandise was English property in disguise. In the
month of November, a cotton-spinner near Paris, the head of a very
large establishment, petitioned for leave to import about six hundred
bales of American cotton. His petition was returned to him with the
indorsement: ‘Rejected, as the cotton belongs to American commerce.’
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The severity of the refusal surprised everyone the more because the
alternative was to use Portuguese — that is to say, English — cotton, or
to encourage the consumption of fabrics made wholly in England, of
English materials. Having decided to seize all American merchandise
that should arrive in France on private account, and having taken into
his own hands the business of selling this property as well as of admitting
other merchandise by license, Napoleon protected what became hence-
forward his personal interests by shutting the door to competition.
Armstrong caught glimpses of this stratagem even before it had taken its
finished shape.

I am privately informed [wrote Armstrong December 10] that General
Loison has left Paris charged to take hold of all British property, or prop-
erty suspected of being such in the ports of Bilbao, San Sebastian, Pasages,
etc. The latter part of the rule is no doubt expressly intended to reach
American property. With the General goes a mercantile man who will be
known in the market as his friend and protégé, and who of course will be
the exclusive purchaser of the merchandise which shall be seized and sold
as British. This is a specimen at once of the violence and corruption which
enter into the present system; and of a piece with this is the whole busi-
ness of licenses, to which, I am sorry to add, our countrymen lend them-
selves with great facility.

Under such conditions commerce between the United States and
France seemed impossible. One prohibition crowded upon another.
First came the Berlin Decree of November 21, 1806, which turned away
or confiscated every American vessel voluntarily entering a British port
after that date. Second, followed the Milan Decree of November 11,
1807, which denationalized and converted into English property every
American ship visited by a British cruiser or sent into a British port, or
which had paid any tax to the British Government. Third, the Bayonne
Decree of April 5, 1808, sequestered all American vessels arriving in
France subsequent to the embargo, as being presumably British property.
Fourth, the American Non-Intercourse Act of March 1, 1809, prohibited
all commerce with France or her dependencies. Fifth, the British Orders
in Council of April 26, 1809, established a blockade of the whole coast of
France. Yet, with all this, and greatly to General Armstrong’s displeas-
ure, American ships in considerable numbers entered the ports of France
and, what was still more incomprehensible, were even allowed to leave
them.
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Under these circumstances President Madison was to meet Congress;
but bad as his situation was in foreign affairs, his real troubles lay not
abroad but at home. France never counted with him as more than an
instrument to act on England. Erskine and Canning, by their united
efforts, had so mismanaged English affairs that Madison derived from
their mismanagement all the strength he possessed.

Jackson lost no occasion to give the President popularity. Compre-
hending at last that his high tone had only helped his opponent to carry
out a predetermined course, Jackson lost self-confidence without gaining
tact. November 13, Jackson caused his secretary, Qakeley, to send in his
name an official note to the Secretary of State, complaining of the rupture
and rehearsing the charges, with the conclusion that ‘in stating these
facts, and in adhering to them, as his duty imperiously enjoined him to
do, Mr. Jackson could not imagine that offense would be taken at it by the
American Government, as most certainly none could be intended on his
part” He then addressed the same counter-statecment as a circular to
the various British consuls in the United States and caused it to be
printed in the newspapers — thus making an appeal to the people against
their own Government, not unlike the more famous appeal which the
French Minister Genet made in 1793 against President Washington.

In extremely bad temper Jackson quitted the capital. His wife wrote
to her friends in joy at the prospect of shortening her stay in a country
which could offer her only the tribute of ignorant admiration; but even
she showed a degree of bitterness in her pleasure, and her comments on
American society had more value than many official documents in ex-
plaining the attitude of England toward the United States: ‘Francis,
being accustomed to treat with the civilized Courts and Governments of
Europe, and not with savage Democrats, half of them sold to France, has
not succeeded in his negotiation.’

Immediately after the rupture, Mrs. Jackson went to Baltimore, where
she was received with enthusiasm by society; but Baltimore satisfied
her little better than Washington: ‘Between ourselves their cuisine is
detestable; coarse table-linen, no claret, champagne and madeira indif-
ferent.” Only as the relative refinement of New York -and Boston was
reached, with the flattery lavished upon the British minister by the
Federalist society of the commercial cities, did Mrs. Jackson and her
husband in some degree recover their composure and their sense of ad-
mitted superiority.
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Incredible as the folly of a political party was apt to be, the folly of the
Federalists in taking up Jackson’s quarrel passed the limits of understand-
ing. After waiting to receive their tone from England, the Federalist
newspapers turned on their own path and raised the cry that Madison
had deceived Erskine and had knowingly entered into an arrangement
which England could not carry out. The same newspapers, which in
April agreed with John Randolph that Canning had obtained through
Erskine all he had ever asked or had a right to expect, averred in October
that Erskine surrendered everything and got nothing in return. No
political majority, still less a minority, could survive a somersault so
violent as this; and the Federalists found that all their late recruits, and
many friends hitherto stanch, deserted them in the autumn elections.
In the general return of deserters to the ranks, the party would not be
too strict in its punishments; and the President sct the example by
clemency to the worst offender, except John Randolph, of all the trusted
lieutenants in the party service. He held out a hand to Monroe.

Madison’s reasons for winning Monroe were strong. The more he had
to do with Robert Smith, the more intolerable became the incubus of
Smith’s incompetence. He had been obliged to take the negotiations
with Erskine and Jackson wholly on his own shoulders. The papers
drafted by Smith were, as Madison declared, brought from the Depart-
ment of State in a condition ‘almost always so crude and inadequate that
I was, in the more important cases, gencrally obliged to write them anew
myself, under the disadvantage sometimes of retaining through delicacy
some mixture of his draft.’

Complicated with this incessant annoyance was Gallatin’s feud. The
combination of the Smiths with Giles, Leib, and Duane’s Aurora against
Gallatin had its counterpart in the Clintonian faction, which made
Madison its target; and whenever these two forces acted together, they
made, with the Federalists, a majority of the Senate.

Madison’s difficulties could be understood and his course foreseen.
Very slow to move, he was certain at last to quarrel with the senatorial
faction that annoyed him. He could not but protect Gallatin and dismiss
Smith. At the end of the vista, however far the distance, stood the in-
evitable figure of Monroe. Scarcely another man in public life could fill
precisely the gap. Madison decided to take the first step. He had reason
to think that Monroe repented his course, at least to the extent of wishing
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